# Regulation of the endocytic adaptor proteins ßarrestin and AP-2 during clathrin-mediated internalization of Angiotensin II type 1 receptor.

~...

**Delphine Fessart** 

Department of Medicine, Division of Experimental Medicine McGill University, Montreal, Quebec, Canada. April 2006

A thesis submitted to the faculty of Graduate and Post-doctoral Studies in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

•

© Delphine Fessart, 2006



Library and Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque et Archives Canada

Direction du Patrimoine de l'édition

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

> Your file Votre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-27779-9 Our file Notre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-27779-9

# NOTICE:

The author has granted a nonexclusive license allowing Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, publish, archive, preserve, conserve, communicate to the public by telecommunication or on the Internet, loan, distribute and sell theses worldwide, for commercial or noncommercial purposes, in microform, paper, electronic and/or any other formats.

The author retains copyright ownership and moral rights in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

## AVIS:

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, publier, archiver, sauvegarder, conserver, transmettre au public par télécommunication ou par l'Internet, prêter, distribuer et vendre des thèses partout dans le monde, à des fins commerciales ou autres, sur support microforme, papier, électronique et/ou autres formats.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur et des droits moraux qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis.



Conformément à la loi canadienne sur la protection de la vie privée, quelques formulaires secondaires ont été enlevés de cette thèse.

Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manquant.

To my family and friends

-.

#### ABSTRACT

G protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs) are the largest family of cell-surface receptors. They transduce the signals mediated by a diverse range of signalling molecules, including ions, amines, and peptides, as well as photons, to mediate intracellular functions. These receptors play a fundamental role in many physiological responses such as cardiovascular functions. To remain responsive to their environment, cells must find a way to rapidly desensitize and resensitize their activated GPCRs. Desensitization of receptors, for instance, involves the phosphorylation of receptors by G protein-coupled receptor kinase (GRKs) followed by the recruitment of βarrestin. This interferes with the binding of the G protein (the signalling effector). βarrestin then targets the receptors to the clathrin endocytosis pathway, and serves as an adaptor linking receptors to other signalling pathways. Internalization of receptors serves not only to remove desensitized receptors from the plasma membrane, but also to engage receptors in the resensitization pathway.

The internalization of Angiotensin II (Ang II) type 1 receptor (AT1R) is controversial and poorly described. Therefore, our laboratory studies the mechanisms behind AT1R internalization. The agonist-induced internalization of AT1R begins with the formation of a complex including  $\beta$  arrestin, the clathrin adaptor AP-2, and the tyrosine protein kinase, c-Src. In turn, this c-Src recruitment regulates the clathrinmediated internalization of AT1R by controlling the formation of endocytic complexes during endocytosis. Indeed, the recruitment of c-Src is involved in the dissociation of AP-2 during receptor internalization. Based on our evidence that AP-2 and c-Src can be found in the same complex, we suggested that AP-2 could be phosphorylated by c-Src. Indeed, we found that Ang II induced the c-Src-mediated tyrosine phosphorylation of the beta-subunit of AP-2 ( $\beta$ 2-adaptin). We were able to map one of the tyrosines in  $\beta$ 2-adaptin and assess its role in regulating the binding of its principal partner:  $\beta$  arrestin. The phosphorylation state of  $\beta$ 2-adaptin dictates its association profile with Barrestin: when phosphorylated it reduces its binding to Barrestin. Finally, we proposed a model for AT1R internalization. Overall, these studies are significant because they allow a better understanding of the underlying mechanism that regulates the initial steps of clathrin-coated vesicle endocytosis of AT1R.

#### RÉSUMÉ

Les récepteurs couplés aux protéines G (RCPG) représentent la plus grande famille de récepteurs. Ces récepteurs exercent un rôle fondamental dans toutes les grandes fonctions de l'organisme comme la régulation du système cardiovasculaire. La désensibilisation se traduit par une perte progressive du signal cellulaire induit par un récepteur lors d'une stimulation répétée. Ce phénomène de régulation est essentiel pour contrôler la durée de l'activation cellulaire induite par un récepteur et empêcher les effects toxiques dû à une stimulation excessive. L'événement le plus précoce au cours de la désensibilisation est la phosphorylation des RCPG par les kinases GRK. Ces phosphorylations favorisent la translocation des βarrestins vers les récepteurs permettant ainsi de bloquer la liaison des protéines G. Les beta-arrestins servent alors de pont moléculaire entre les récepteurs et les molécules de la machinerie de l'endocytose. L'internalisation des récepteurs, non seulement sert pour oter de la membrane plasmique le récepteur, mais également pour engager le récepteur dans la voie de resensibilisation.

Les mécanismes d'internalisation du récepteur de l'Angiotensine II de type 1 (AT1R) étant peu décrite et très controversée, nous avons décidé d'étudier son mode d'internalisation. Nous avons tout d'abord démontré que ßarrestin sert de molécule adaptatrice pour le récepteur AT1R; puis que la stimulation de ce récepteur induit le recrutement de la kinase c-Src et de la protéine adaptatrice de la clathrine AP-2, formant ainsi un complexe. C-Src régulerait la formation de ces complexes par l'intermédiaire de son activité kinase en induisant la dissociation de AP-2 pendant l'internalisation. Étant donné que Src et AP-2 sont retrouvés dans le même complexe, Src pourrait alors phosphoryler AP-2. En effet, nous avons observé que l'activation de AT1R induit aussi la phosphorylation sur tyrosine de la sous-unité  $\beta$  de AP-2 ( $\beta$ 2adaptine). Nos études nous ont permis d'identifier le site de phosphorylation qui a pour rôle de diminuer son association avec les ßarrestines. Finalement, nous proposons un modèle pour l'internalisation du récepteur AT1. L'ensemble de ces études nous a permis d'accroître nos connaissances dans la compréhension des mécanismes régulant les étapes précoces de l'endocytose du récepteur AT1R par les vésicules tapisées de clathrine.

#### **CONTRIBUTION OF AUTHORS**

This thesis is assembled in accordance with the regulations of the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research, McGill University. It is written in manuscript format, and comprises two original manuscripts in Sections III and IV.

The two manuscripts that are included in this work are co-authored. This section details to what extent the co-authors contributed to these studies. Section III consists of a first article, "c-Src regulates AP-2 interaction with beta-arrestin and the Angiotensin II type 1 receptor during clathrin-mediated internalization", published in 2005, in *Molecular Endocrinology* **19**: 491-503. M. Simaan helped me with the preparation of the manuscript. S.A. Laporte helped analyze and interpret the data, as well as the preparation of the manuscript.

In Section IV "c-Src-mediated phosphorylation of AP-2 regulates its dissociation from ßarrestin during Angiotensin Type 1 Receptor Internalization." F. Hamdan assisted with the Bioluminescence Resonance Energy Transfer experiments. M. Bouvier helped interpret the BRET data and with the discussion. S.A. Laporte supervised all the experiments.

I am also co-author of several other manuscripts/publications to which I contributed:

Simaan M, Bédard-Goulet S, <u>Fessart D</u>, Gratton JP, Laporte.SA, Dissociation of β-arrestin from internalized Bradykinin B2 receptor is necessary for receptor recycling and resensitization. *Cellular Signalling* 2005 17, 1074-1083.

Hamdan FF\*, Rochdi MD\*, Breton B, <u>Fessart D</u>, Charest P, Laporte SA, and Bouvier M., Real-time monitoring of agonist-promoted interaction between β-arrestins and AP-2 by BRET reveals clathrin-mediated endocytosis and G protein-coupled receptor activation. *Manuscript in Preparation*.

<u>Poupart ME\*, Fessart D\*</u>, Houndolo T, Cotton M, Laporte SA and Claing A, ARF6 regulates Angiotensin II type 1 receptor endocytosis by controlling the recruitment of AP-2 and clathrin. \* Contributed equally to this work. *To be submitted*.

- iv -

Finally, a list of abstracts (posters and orals) that were submitted to local, national and international scientific meetings throughout my graduate studies include: <u>Oral presentations</u>

Regulation par tyrosine phosphorylation du complexe endocytique AP-2/ ßarrestin lors de l'internalisation du récepteur AT1. Club de Recherches Cliniques du Québec. Sept 2005. Bromont (Québec)

Beta-arrestin/c-Src scaffold: role of phosphorylation of proteins of the clathrin coat in the Internalization of the Angiotensin II Type I Receptor. Endocrine Retreat. May 2005. Montréal (Québec)

Recruitment of c-Src to the Angiotensin II type 1 receptor: Role in the formation of a Barrestin/AP-2 complex. GPCR Meeting Oct. 2003 Toronto (Ontario)

#### Poster presentations

**Fessart D, Laporte SA,** Role de la phosphorylation en tyrosine du complexe AP-2 lors de l'internalisation du récepteur de l'Angiotensine II de type 1 dans les vesicules de clathrine. 74<sup>ème</sup> Congrès de l'Acfas. May 2006 Montréal (Québec).

<u>Fessart D</u>, and Laporte SA, Tyrosine phosphorylation of the beta-subunit of AP-2: role in the dissociation of endocytic complex During Angiotensin II Type 1 Receptor Internalization. GPCR Meeting Oct. 2005 Montebello (Québec).

**Fessart D, Simaan M, and Laporte SA**, c-Src regulates the binding of AP-2 to the receptor/ Barrestin complex during angiotensin II type 1 receptor internalization. 5<sup>th</sup> Annual McGill Biomedical Graduate Conference. Feb. 2005 Montréal (Québec).

<u>Fessart D</u>, and Laporte SA, Tyrosine phosphorylation of the beta-subunit of AP-2 regulates AT1R internalization. GPCR Meeting Oct. 2004 Bromont (Québec).

**Fessart D, Simaan M, and Laporte SA,** c-Src Regulates the Binding of AP-2 to the AT1R/ ßarrestin Complex During Endocytosis. 12<sup>th</sup> International meeting for 2<sup>nd</sup> messenger and Phosphoproteins. Aug. 2004 Montréal (Québec).

**Fessart D, and Laporte SA,** Recruitment of c-Src to the Angiotensin II type 1 receptor: Role in the formation of a ßarrestin/AP-2 complex. 4<sup>th</sup> Annual McGill Biomedical Graduate Conference. Feb. 2004 Montréal (Québec).

## ABBREVIATIONS

5-НТ <sub>2А</sub>	5-hydroxytryptamine 2A		
7TM	Seven-transmembrane receptors		
AAK1	$\alpha$ -adaptin-associated kinase-1		
AC	Adenylyl cyclase		
ACE	Angiotensin-converting Enzyme		
ADH	Antidiuretic Hormone		
Ang II	Angiotensin II		
AP-(1-4)	Clathrin adaptor protein (1-4)		
ARF6	ADP-ribosylation factor 6		
ARH	Autosomal recessive hypercholesterolemia protein		
ARNO	ARF nucleotide binding site opener		
Arg	Arginine		
ASK1	Apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1		
Asp	Aspartic acid		
AT1R	Angiotensin II type 1 receptor		
AT1R-i2m	Angiotensin II type 1 receptor intracellular second loop mutant		
AT2R	Angiotensin II type 2 receptor		
$\beta_2 AR$	$\beta_2$ -adrenergic receptor		
βARK	β-adrenergic receptor kinase		
B2R	Bradykinin type 2 receptor		
BRET	Bioluminescence resonance energy transfer		
BSA	Bovine serum albumin		
Btk	Bruton's tyrosine kinase		
cAMP	Cyclic adenosine monophosphate		
CCK	Cholecystokinin		
CCPs	Clathrin-coated pits		
CCVs	Clathrin-coated vesicles		
CHC	Clathrin heavy chain		
CKD	Chronic kidney disease		
CLC	Clathrin light chain		

CRF	Chronic renal failure		
CTX	Cholera toxin		
CXCR1	CXC-Chemokine receptor R1		
DAG	1,2-diacylglycerol		
DOR	Delta-opioid receptor		
EGFR	Epidermal growth factor receptor		
ERK	Extracellular-signal regulated kinase		
ETA	Endothelin type A		
ETB	Endothelin type B		
FRET	Fluorescence resonance energy transfer		
G protein	Guanine nucleotide binding protein		
GABA	γ-aminobutyrate		
GAP	GTPase-activating protein		
GAPDH	Glyseraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase		
GDP	Guanosine 5'-diphosphate		
GDS	GDP dissociation stimulator		
GEF	Guanine nucleotide exchange factor		
GFP	Green fluorescent protein		
GIRK	G protein-coupled inwardly rectifying potassium channels		
GPCR	G protein-coupled receptor		
GRK	G protein-coupled receptor kinase		
GST	Glutathione S-transferase		
GTP	Guanosine 5'-triphosphate		
Hg	Hedgehog		
His	Histidine		
IGF1R	Insulin-like growth factor 1 receptor		
Ile	Isoleucine		
IP <sub>3</sub>	Inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate		
JAK	Janus kinase		
JNK3	c-jun N-terminal kinase type 3		
КО	Knockout		

LPA	Lysophosphatidic acid		
LH-Hcg	Luteinizing hormone-Human chorionic gonadotropin		
MAPK	APK Mitogen-activated protein kinase		
MEF	Mouse embryonic fibroblast		
MKP7	Mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) phosphatase		
mGluR	Metabotropic glutamate receptor		
NHERF	Na+/H+ exchanger regulatory factor		
NK1	Neurokinin-1		
NSF	N-ethylmaleimide-sensitive fusion protein		
PACAP	Pituitary adenylate cyclase-activating peptide		
PAR	Protease-activated receptor		
PDE	Phosphodiesterase		
PDZ	<u>P</u> SD95/ <u>D</u> LG/ <u>Z</u> O-1		
РН	Pleckstrin homology domain		
Phe	Phenylalanine		
PI3K	Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase		
PI 4,5-P <sub>2</sub>	Phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate		
РКА	cAMP-dependent protein kinase A		
РКС	Protein kinase C		
PLC	Phospholipase C		
PP2A	Protein phosphatase 2A		
Pro	Proline		
РТН	Parathyroid hormone		
PTHrP	Parathyroid hormone related peptide		
PTX	Pertussis toxin		
RFP	Red fluorescent protein		
RGS	Regulator of G protein signalling		
SH1	Src Homology domain 1		
SH2	Src Homology domain 2		
SH3	Src Homology domain 3		
siRNA	Short interfering RNA		

Src	Sarcoma Rous
STAT	Signal transducers and activators of transcription
TfR	Transferin receptor
TGN	Trans Golgi Network
ТМ	Transmembrane domain
Tyr	Tyrosine
Val	Valine
V2R	Vasopressin receptor type 2
VIP	Vasoactive intestinal peptide
VSMC	Vascular smooth muscle cell
YFP	Yellow fluorescent protein

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

DEDICATION	i
ABSTRACT	ii
RÉSUMÉ	iii
CONTRIBUTION OF AUTHORS	iv
ABBREVIATIONS	vii
TABLE OF CONTENTS	xi
LIST OF FIGURES AND TABLES	Xv
SECTION I : LITERATURE REVIEW	1
1.G Protein-coupled Receptors : an overview	2
1.1. Classes of G Protein-coupled Receptors	2
1.2. GPCRs ligands	5
1.3. GPCR signalling	6
1.3.1.G <sub>s</sub> pathway	8
1.3.2.G <sub>i</sub> pathway	8
1.3.3.G <sub>q</sub> pathway	9
1.3.4. $G_{12}$ and $G_{13}$ pathway	9
1.3.5.G $\beta$ - and $\gamma$ pathways	9
2. Inactivation mechanisms of GPCRs	11
2.1. GPCR desensitization	11
2.1.1. Receptor phosphorylation by second messengers :heterologous desensitization	12
2.1.2. Receptor phosphorylation by G protein kinases : homologous desensitization	12

2.1.2.1. GRK Family	13
2.1.2.2. Arrestin Family	16
A- Beta-arrestins and their interacting proteins	17
B- Differential affinities of the arrestins for GPCRs	20
C- Arrestins: their relevance in internalization	21
3. Receptor internalization	23
3.1. Molecular mechanisms involved in GPCR Endocytosis	23
3.1.1. Arrestin- and dynamin-dependent endocytosis	23
3.1.1.1. Adaptor clathrin protein family	24
3.1.1.2. Src	30
3.1.1.3. Dynamin	32
3.1.2. Arrestin independent but dynamin-dependent internalization	34
3.1.3. Arrestin and dynamin independent endocytosis	36
3.2. The fate of internalized receptors	36
3.3. Internalization for desensitization, resensitization or signalling	
3.3.1. GPCR internalization for desensitization	
3.3.2. GPCR internalization for resensitization	
3.3.3. GPCR internalization for signalling	41
4. One particular GPCR : the Angiotensin II type 1 receptor	44
4.1.The discovery of Angiotensin II and AT1R	44
4.2. Angiotensin II	44
4.3. AT1R signalling	49
4.4. AT1R endocytosis	50
4.5. Molecular basis of AT1R internalization	50

~

4.6. The fate of the receptor	52
4.7. Role of AT1R internalization in transgenic mice	53
SECTION II : Rationale and objectives	54
CONNECTING TEXT	59
SECTION III : c-Src regulates AP-2 interaction with beta-arrest angiotensin II type 1 receptor during clathrin-mediated internalization	stin and the on60
ABSTRACT	61
INTRODUCTION	62
RESULTS	64
DISCUSSION	72
EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURES	75
AKNOWLEDGMENTS	82
REFERENCES	83
CONNECTING TEXT	
SECTION IV : c-Src mediated phosphorylation of AP-2 regulates its from Barrestin during Angiotensin Type 1 Receptor Internalization	dissociation 104
ABSTRACT	105
INTRODUCTION	
RESULTS	
DISCUSSION	114
EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURES	117
AKNOWLEDGMENTS	124
REFERENCES	125
CONNECTING TEXT	144

**L**.,

SECTION V : DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS14	5
Future Perspectives16	3
SECTION VI : CONTRIBUTION TO ORIGINAL RESEARCH16	7
BIBLIOGRAPHY FOR SECTIONS I AND IV170	0
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS19	13
INDEX19	5
APPENDICES19	6
I. Reprint of journal article, "c-Src regulates AP-2 interaction with beta-arrestin and the angiotensin II type 1 receptor during clathrin-mediated internalization."	n

II. MUHC Biohazards Permit

III.MUHC Radioisotope Holder Permit

IV. Copyright waivers

### LIST OF FIGURES AND TABLES

·~~.

SECTION I : LITERATURE REVIEW1
<b>Figure 1.</b> Schematic representation of the seven transmembrane spanning domains of a characteristic G protein-coupled receptor
Figure 2. Three main GPCR families and their principal members
Figure 3. Classification of GPCR ligands
<b>Figure 4.</b> The regulatory cycle of a G protein
<b>Figure 5</b> . The different G protein coupling and their signalling pathways10
Figure 6. Schematic representation of the domains for GRK1-GRK7
<b>Figure 7.</b> Schematic representation of the principal binding sites on <i>βarrestin</i> 19
Figure 8. The architecture of clathrin
<b>Figure 9.</b> Representation of the heterotetrameric AP-2 complex
Figure 10. Representation of the non receptor tyrosine kinase c-Src and its different domains
Figure 11. Representation of Dynamin and its dominant negative (K44A) construct33
Figure 12. GPCR internalization for Desensitization
Figure 13. GPCR internalization for Resensitization
Figure 14. GPCR internalization for Signalling
Figure 15. The sequence of the human Angiotensin II
Figure 16. The biological functions of Angiotensin II
Figure 17. The Angiotensin II synthesis
Figure 18. The amino sequence of AT1R C-terminal tail
Table 1. The different Barrestin-interacting proteins
<b>Table 2.</b> Classification of receptors according to their affinities for βarrestin 1 and         2

Table 3. The different AP-2-interacting proteins
<b>Table 4</b> . Genetic analysis of the function of AP-2 complex
<b>Table 5.</b> Src and its principal substrates involved in endocytosis of receptors
SECTION II : Rationale and Objectives54
<b>Figure 1.</b> Model for <i>βarrestin-mediated internalization of GPCR via clathrin-coated pits</i>
SECTION III : c-Src regulates AP-2 interaction with beta-arrestin and the angiotensin II type 1 receptor during clathrin-mediated internalization60
<b>Figure 1.</b> Ang II promotes the formation of an endogenous complex containing c-Src <i>βarrestin and AP-2</i> 87
<b>Figure 2.</b> <i>c-Src overexpression increases the association between βarrestin and AP-2 independently of the c-Src kinase activity</i> 89
Figure 3. c-Src increases the interaction between ßarrestin and ß2-adaptin in yeast.91
<b>Figure 4.</b> Effect of c-Src expression on AP-2 association with $\beta$ arrestin mutants lacking $\beta$ 2-adaptin and/or clathrin binding sites
<b>Figure 5.</b> <i>c-Src promotes the dissociation of AP-2 from the agonist-occupied AT1R and βarrestin</i>
<b>Figure 6.</b> Depleting c-Src in cells affects the agonist-mediated internalization of AT1R and its association with AP-297
<b>Figure 7.</b> Depleting c-Src in VSMCs increases the AngII-mediated AP-2 association with βarrestin
<b>Figure 8.</b> Proposed model for the role of c-Src in the regulation of the interaction between AP-2, AT1R and βarrestin during receptor internalization101
SECTION IV : c-Src mediated phosphorylation of AP-2 regulates its dissociation from Barrestin during Angiotensin Type 1 Receptor Internalization104
<b>Figure 1.</b> Ang II induces tyrosine phosphorylation of $\beta$ 2-adaptin
<b>Figure 2.</b> <i>Tyrosine phosphorylation of the ear domain of</i> $\beta$ <i>2-adaptin</i> 130

# - xvi -

<b>Figure 3.</b> $\beta$ 2-adaptin tyrosines 737, 874 and 926 are sufficient for phosphorylation $\beta$ 2-adaptin by c-Src	n of 132
<b>Figure 4.</b> <i>c-Src phosphorylation of</i> $\beta$ <i>2-adaptin reduces its association with</i> $\beta$ <i>arres 1</i> ,2	<i>tin</i> 134
<b>Figure 5.</b> <i>β2-adaptin Y737F mutant abrogates the c-Src-induced dissociation of βarrestin 1</i>	136
<b>Figure 6.</b> Agonist-promoted interaction between $\beta$ 2-adaptin and $\beta$ arrestin2 as measured by BRET.	138
<b>Figure 7.</b> Effect of the Y737F on the $\beta$ arrestin/ $\beta$ 2-adaptin trafficking upon Ang II stimulation in cells	140
<b>Table 1.</b> GST fusion protein sequences of the 10 amino-acids region in $\beta$ 2-adapting	<i>i</i> .142
<b>Table 2.</b> The Ear region of $\beta$ 2-adaptin (664-937) is highly conserved among the species	143
SECTION V : DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS	145
<b>SECTION V : DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS</b> <b>Figure 1</b> . Model for βarrestin-mediated internalization of GPCR via clathrin-coat pits	<b>145</b> ted 147
SECTION V : DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS Figure 1. Model for βarrestin-mediated internalization of GPCR via clathrin-coat pits Figure 2. Calcium responses of Fluo-3 AM on transfected HEK 293 cells	<b>145</b> ted 147 152
SECTION V : DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS Figure 1. Model for βarrestin-mediated internalization of GPCR via clathrin-coat pits Figure 2. Calcium responses of Fluo-3 AM on transfected HEK 293 cells Figure 3. Agonist-mediated βarrestin2-tanslocation assay in HEK 293 cells	<b>145</b> ted 147 152 154
SECTION V : DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS Figure 1. Model for βarrestin-mediated internalization of GPCR via clathrin-coat pits Figure 2. Calcium responses of Fluo-3 AM on transfected HEK 293 cells Figure 3. Agonist-mediated βarrestin2-tanslocation assay in HEK 293 cells Figure 4. Agonist-mediated β2-adaptin phosphorylation independently of G protessignalling.	<b>145</b> 147 152 154 <i>in</i> 156
<ul> <li>SECTION V : DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS.</li> <li>Figure 1. Model for βarrestin-mediated internalization of GPCR via clathrin-coat pits.</li> <li>Figure 2. Calcium responses of Fluo-3 AM on transfected HEK 293 cells.</li> <li>Figure 3. Agonist-mediated βarrestin2-tanslocation assay in HEK 293 cells.</li> <li>Figure 4. Agonist-mediated β2-adaptin phosphorylation independently of G protessignalling.</li> <li>Figure 5. βarrestin/c-Src-mediated β2-adaptin phosphorylation following AT1R stimulation.</li> </ul>	<b>145</b> 147 152 154 156 158
<ul> <li>SECTION V : DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS.</li> <li>Figure 1. Model for βarrestin-mediated internalization of GPCR via clathrin-coal pits.</li> <li>Figure 2. Calcium responses of Fluo-3 AM on transfected HEK 293 cells.</li> <li>Figure 3. Agonist-mediated βarrestin2-tanslocation assay in HEK 293 cells.</li> <li>Figure 4. Agonist-mediated β2-adaptin phosphorylation independently of G protessignalling.</li> <li>Figure 5. βarrestin/c-Src-mediated β2-adaptin phosphorylation following AT1R stimulation.</li> <li>Figure 6. Model for βarrestin-mediated internalization of AT1R via clathrin-coate pits.</li> </ul>	145 147 152 154 156 158 ed 160

Section I : *Literature review* 

# **SECTION I**

# LITERATURE REVIEW

#### 1. G Protein-coupled Receptors : an overview

The evolution of multicellular organisms has been highly dependent on the capacity of cells to perceive their environment. A major discovery of the last 15 years was the membrane-bound receptors which are dedicated to recognizing extracellular messenger molecules (such as hormones, neurotransmitters, growth and developmental factors), and several other sensory messages (such as light, odours and gustative molecules). These receptors belong to the most common family of surface receptor: the G protein-coupled receptor (GPCR) family. G protein-coupled receptors form a large superfamily of over 800 genes (1) encoding seven-transmembrane (7TM) receptors [also referred to as seven-membrane-spanning receptors]. They mediate a wide variety of biological processes ranging from neurotransmission and hormonal control of virtually all physiological responses, to perception of taste, smell, light and pain. 7TM receptors are commonly referred to as GPCRs, based on the notion that most of them interact with one or more members of the intracellular guanine nucleotide binding signal transducing proteins (i.e. G proteins). Upon stimulation, heptahelical receptors undergo conformational changes that allow binding of heterotrimeric G proteins, usually within the intracellular domains of the GPCRs, leading to the activation of different effectors and signalling pathways (2, 3). Effectors generate second messengers, which in turn regulate a wide variety of cellular processes including cell growth and differentiation.

#### 1.1. Classes of G Protein-coupled Receptors

The general structure of a GPCR consists of a central core domain comprising seven transmembrane helices (TM-I through -VII) connected by three intracellular (i1, i2 and i3) and three extracellular (e1, e2 and e3) loops (4) (Figure 1). According to their genetic and structural characteristics, GPCRs can be grouped into three distinct families: A, B and C (Figure 2). Each family shares over 25% sequence identity in the transmembrane core region and also a set of highly conserved residues and motifs.



**Figure 1**. Schematic representation of the seven transmembrane spanning domains (*I-VII*) of a characteristic G protein-coupled receptor, forming transmembrane helices and alternating extracellular (e1-e3) and intracellular (i1-i3) sequences.

Family A is the largest group so far. It contains receptors that are activated by a broad variety of stimuli including photons for the light receptor (rhodopsin), odorants, as well as hormones and neurotransmitter agonists (such as dopamine and serotonin). These include the adrenergic receptor and most other 7TM receptor types which encompass the olfactory subgroup. The olfactory subgroup contains nearly 350 non-olfactory 7TM, recognizing more than 80 ligands (5). This class of receptor is characterized by several highly conserved amino acids and a disulphide bridge connecting the first and second intracellular loop (i1 and i2). Most of theses receptors also have a palmitoylated cysteine in the C-terminal tail, which serves as an anchor to the plasma membrane (represented with zigzag on Family A, Figure 2).

Family B contains only about 25 members, including the gastrointestinal peptide hormone receptor family (secretin, glucagon, vasoactive intestinal peptide (VIP) and growth-hormone-releasing hormone), corticotropin-releasing hormone, calcitonin and parathyroid hormone. For this receptor family, which is activated by large peptides, the relatively long N-terminal domain contains at least six highly conserved cysteine residues which play a role in binding of the ligand (6). The palmitoylation site is missing and the conserved residues and motifs are different from the conserved residues in family A.

Family C contains the metabotropic glutamate receptor family (mGluRs), the GABA<sub>B</sub> receptor, and a receptor activated by extracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  (calcium-sensing

receptor), as well as some taste receptors. This family is very particular in that the different members share a large extracellular N-terminus and C-terminal tail that seems to be crucial for ligand binding and activation. The ligand binding domain (represented as a circle on Family C, Figure 2) is located in the N-terminus, which was demonstrated by the resolution of the mGluR crystal structure (7). A unique characteristic of these receptors is that the third intracellular loop (i3) is short and highly conserved.



Family A	Family B	Family C
Rhodopsin-like	Glucagon-like	Metabotropic-like
Rhodopsin	α-latrotoxin	mGluR4
LH-hCG	PTH and PTHRP	mGluR2
Angiotensin	Secretin	mGluR1
Thrombin	VIP	Ca <sup>2+</sup> sensing
Adenosine (A2)	PACAP	Pheromone VR1
Adrenergic (β2)	Glucagon	Pheromone GoVN2
Serotonin (5-HT)	CRF	Pheromone GoVN1
Muscarinic		Taste
Bradykinin		GABA <sub>B</sub>
Dopamine		

Figure 2. Three main GPCR families and their principal members

#### 1.2. GPCRs ligands

The idea that drugs bind to specific sites or receptors on cell surfaces stemmed originally from the work of Paul Ehrlich, who postulated that the cells of a mammalian organism carry a great number of side chains (receptors) on their surface (reviewed in (8)). The term 'receptive substance' was then used by John Langley and further developed by Sir Henry Dale as molecules in cells that bound a pharmacological substance (9). The further development of quantitative methods by which the properties of different ligands can be evaluated from the measurement of functional responses in isolated tissues led to the classification of GPCR ligands into three classes (see Figure 3) : 1) agonists, which increase the number of active receptor states to induce a biological response; 2) inverse agonists, which decrease the proportion of active receptor states and thereby, reduce basal receptor activity; and 3) antagonists, which inhibit the action of other ligands (reviewed in (10)). The majority of the drugs classified today as antagonists are actually inverse agonists (11). Only a ligand inhibiting drug action without an effect on the receptor coupling to G protein should be referred to as a neutral antagonist, instead of an antagonist.



Figure 3. Classification of GPCR ligands

Although the chemical diversity of GPCRs ligands is exceptional, some receptors are still orphan receptors. These are GPCRs identified within the human genome that encodes proteins that possess the caracteristics of classic seven transmembrane spanning domains, but for which no natural nor synthetic ligands have been identified. Although current estimates vary, there are probably still more than 150 human orphan receptors.

#### 1.3. GPCR signalling

In the late1950s, studies by Sutherland and others demonstrated that a range of hormones was able to stimulate the production of cyclic AMP (cAMP) through the adenyl (now adenylyl) cyclase enzyme (12). It was not evident at that time, however, that this was a GTP-dependent process that required the intermediate G protein. This led to a minimalist model from a multi-subunit enzyme formed by a regulatory subunit for hormone binding, and a catalytic subunit for the production of cAMP. This model was inferred by Rodbell et al (13-15). Their studies with isolated fat cells showed that five different hormones acted at independent binding sites to stimulate a common adenylyl cyclase molecule. The role of GTP in hormonal stimulation of adenylyl cyclase was then discovered by Rodbell's group. In 1971, Rodbell et al. first proposed the existence of a guanine nucleotide regulatory protein that served as a transducer between hormone receptors and effectors (16). The basic findings were that without GTP in the medium, glucagon exerted little effect on adenylyl cyclase activity, and that GTP dramatically decreased the binding kinetics of the hormone to its receptor at the same concentrations required for hormonal stimulation of the enzyme. In 1974, Rodbell's group proposed that the actions of hormone and GTP in stimulating adenylyl cyclase were interdependent (17), and thus suggested that hormones act by regulating the effect of GTP on adenylyl cyclase. Later, independent studies from the laboratories of Lefkowitz (18) and Gilman (19) revealed that the effects of GTP on the  $\beta$ adrenergic receptor were restricted to the binding of agonists. The G protein was later purified, named G<sub>s</sub>, and shown to be a heterotrimeric complex comprising  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$  and  $\gamma$ subunits (reviewed in (20)). Today, many studies on different types or classes of receptors have shown that receptor binding affinities for agonists are regulated by guanine nucleotides (21).

In the classical model of GPCR action in their activated (agonist-bound receptor) conformation, they catalyze exchange of guanosine 5'-diphosphate (GDP) tightly bound to the G $\alpha$  for guanosine 5'-triphosphate (GTP). This in turn leads to the

activation of the  $\alpha$  subunit and its dissociation from the G protein  $\beta\gamma$  complex (Figure 4) (20). However, much controversy has been raised concerning the issue of whether physical dissociation of  $\alpha$  from  $\beta\gamma$  actually occurs during G protein activation. The issue remains unclear. The nature of the second messenger pathways activated in response to agonist binding to a G-protein-linked receptor is essentially determined by the type of G protein or other proteins coupled to each particular receptor. To date, 20  $\alpha$ , 6  $\beta$ , and 11  $\gamma$  subunits have been cloned. On the basis of sequence similarity, the G $\alpha$ -subunit has been divided into four families (G<sub>s</sub>, G<sub>i</sub>, G<sub>11/q</sub> and G<sub>12-13</sub>) and this classification has served to define both receptor and effector coupling.



**Figure 4.** The regulatory cycle of a G protein involving both GTP-induced activation and subunit dissociation and GTPase-dependent inactivation and subunit reassociation. The unoccupied receptor (1) interacts with a specific agonist leading to the activation of the receptor. The receptor can then interact with the trimeric  $G\alpha\beta\gamma$  complex (2) promoting  $Mg^{2+}$ -dependent GDP->GTP exchange and subunit dissociation (4), allowing interaction with effectors (3,5).

The G<sub>s</sub> proteins are coupled to the stimulation of adenylyl cyclase (AC); G<sub>i</sub> proteins are coupled to the inhibition of AC as well as to activation of G protein–coupled inwardly rectifying potassium (GIRK) channels; G<sub>11/q</sub> proteins are coupled to the activation of phospholipase C $\beta$ ; and G<sub>12-13</sub> proteins are coupled to the activation of Rho guanine nucleotide exchange factors (GEFs).

#### 1.3.1. Gs pathway

Gs activates adenylyl cyclase (AC) (22) to enhance the synthesis of the second messenger cyclic AMP (cAMP) (Figure 5). This increase in cAMP in turn activates protein kinase A (PKA), which is a serine/threonine kinase that phosphorylates many different substrates, including GPCRs, other protein kinases like mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK), and transcription factors. This  $G\alpha_s$  protein subclass is ADP-ribosylated by bacterial toxins from *Vibrio cholerae* (cholera toxin or CTX) (23). Cholera toxin catalyses adenosine diphosphate (ADP)-ribosylation of an arginine residue present within the GTP-binding domain of  $G\alpha_s$  in a ligand-independent fashion. The CTX-induced modification of the G $\alpha$ -subunit considerably decreases its intrinsic GTPase activity, causing constitutive activation of the protein. Mutation of the same arginine residue also inhibits GTPase activity, leading to a comparable constitutive activation (24).

#### 1.3.2. Gi pathway

This pathway was originally identified by the ability of  $G\alpha_i$  to inhibit AC and thus reduce cAMP (Figure 5). Signalling through this pathway is inhibited by pertussis toxin, which (ADP)-ribosylates the G $\alpha$ -subunit at its C-terminal region and thus prevents it from interacting with the receptor. This  $G\alpha_i$  protein subclass is ADP-ribosylated by bacterial toxins from *Bordetella pertussis* (pertussis toxin or PTX) (25) on the fourth cysteine residue from the C-terminus. This modification leads to uncoupling of the G protein from the receptor without modifying other functions such as the guanine nucleotide exchange or GTPase activity.

#### 1.3.3. Gq pathway

The G<sub>q</sub> pathway is the classical pathway that is activated by calciummobilizing hormones and stimulates phospholipase C $\beta$  (PLC- $\beta$ ) (reviewed in (26)) which catalyzes the hydrolysis of the lipid phosphatidylinositol 4,5-biphosphate (PI 4,5-P<sub>2</sub>) to form two second messengers, inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate (IP<sub>3</sub>) and diacylglycerol (DAG) (Figure 5). The effect of IP<sub>3</sub> is to increase intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> through release from internal stores, and DAG recruits protein kinase C (PKC) to the membrane and activates it.

#### 1.3.4. $G_{12}$ and $G_{13}$ pathway

The G<sub>12</sub> and G<sub>13</sub> proteins were discovered through sequence similarity to known G $\alpha$  proteins. In many cases, direct interactions with effectors are not yet fully established. So far, G $\alpha_{12}$  has been reported to directly interact with a GTPaseactivating protein for Ras (Figure 5), RasGAP, and Bruton's tyrosine kinase (Btk) (27). G $\alpha_{13}$  directly interacts with and activates a guanine nucleotide exchange factor for the GTPase Rho (Figure 5), p115RhoGEF, and thus activates Rho leading to a variety of effects such as Na<sup>+</sup>H<sup>+</sup> exchange (reviewed in (28)).

#### 1.3.5. G $\beta$ - and $\gamma$ pathways

Gβγ-subunits are tightly bound to each other through noncovalent hydrophobic interactions; the complex is resistant to tryptic cleavage and can be dissociated only by treatment with denaturating agents (29). Although the diversity in Gβ and γ-subunits may theoretically yield up to 30 or more different βγ complexes, not all the possible pairs can combine, and some β-subunits are more able to interact and form stable combinations with particular γ-subunits than others (29). In some systems, the activation of particular effectors by the Gβγ complex is conditioned by Gα, whereas in others it seems to be independent. The Gβγ heterodimer also has the capacity to directly couple to at least four effectors including PLC-β, K<sup>+</sup> channels, AC, and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K) (30) and also proteins containing a PH domain. Numerous proteins involved in cellular



1

**Figure 5.** *The different G-protein coupling and their signaling pathways* 

signal transduction have been shown to contain sequences homologous with a "domain" originally identified in the protein "pleckstrin" (pleckstrin homology domain; PH domain) and subsequently found in the G beta gamma interaction region of the beta ARK sequence (31). Recently, it has also been shown that G $\beta$  can migrate between subcellular compartments (32), such as between the cytoplasm and the nucleus, or plasma membrane, depending on the type of stimuli (33). The G $\beta\gamma$  complex as a negative scaffold can bind, for example, the glucocorticoid receptor, and suppress its transcriptional activity (33).

#### 2. Inactivation mechanisms of GPCRs

GPCRs are subject to three principal modes of regulation : 1) desensitization, in which receptors become refractory to continued stimuli; 2) endocytosis or internalization, whereby receptors are removed from the cell surface, and 3) down regulation, in which total receptor levels are decreased (reviewed in (34)).

#### 2.1. GPCR desensitization

Following receptor activation by an agonist, the receptor undertakes the process of desensitization, defined as the "off switch" of all receptor functions triggered by the agonist at the plasma membrane. Therefore, GPCRs control their own responsiveness to dampen the physiological response to the continued presence of the stimulus (35). This process is the consequence of a combination of different mechanisms. One of the first steps involves the functional "uncoupling" of the G proteins from the receptors. The cloning of the  $\beta$ 2-adrenergic receptor ( $\beta$ 2-AR) in 1986 and its shared homology with the rhodopsin receptor (36), allowed the discovery that both receptors become phosphorylated in a stimulus-dependent way, and that this phosphorylation seemed to be related to the process of receptor desensitization. Desensitization is fairly rapid (seconds to minutes) and thought to be mediated through phosphorylation of serine and threonine residues by G protein-coupled receptor kinases (GRKs), second messengerdependent protein kinases such as cAMP-dependent kinase (PKA), and/or protein kinase C (PKC) (37-41).

# 2.1.1.Receptor phosphorylation by second messengers : heterologous desensitization

PKA and PKC are phosphotransferases that catalyze the transfer of the  $\gamma$ phosphate group of ATP to serine and threonine residues contained within specific amino acid consensus sequences of proteins. They can phosphorylate a receptor even in the absence of agonist occupancy of the receptor, resulting in "heterologous" desensitization (reviewed in (42)). These protein kinases are activated in response to GPCR-stimulated increases in intracellular second messengers such as cAMP, Ca<sup>2+</sup>, and diacylglycerol (DAG), and participate in GPCR signalling by mediating the phosphorylation of the receptor itself or other downstream target proteins. In the latter case, receptors that have not been activated by a ligand may become desensitized by activation of these protein kinases. PKA-mediated receptor phosphorylation has also been shown, in the case of the  $\beta$ 2-AR, to switch the coupling of the receptor away from G<sub>s</sub> in favour of enhanced coupling to G<sub>i</sub> (43). Several other receptors, including the prostacyclin receptor, also seem to undergo such PKA-mediated switching in their G protein-coupling specificity (44).

# 2.1.2.Receptor phosphorylation by G protein-coupled receptor kinases: Homologous desensitization

By the mid-1980s, it had become clear that both rhodopsin (45) and the  $\beta$ 2-AR (46) were phosphorylated in a stimulus-dependent manner, and that this phosphorylation seemed to be related to receptor inactivation or desensitization. In the case of rhodopsin, the enzyme responsible for the phosphorylation was referred to as rhodopsin kinase (47). In the case of the  $\beta$ 2-AR, a novel cAMP-independent kinase [called the  $\beta$ -adrenergic receptor kinase ( $\beta$ ARK)] appeared to contribute to agonist-dependent phosphorylation of the receptor (48). Now 7TM receptors are traditionally

thought to signal by means of activation of heterotrimeric G proteins and then, to be desensitized by G protein-coupled receptor kinases (GRKs) which are recruited to and specifically phosphorylate only agonist-occupied receptors leading to "homologous desensitization" (48, 49).

#### 2.1.2.1.GRK Family

GRKs phosphorylate GPCRs at both serine and threonine residues localized within the third intracellular loop (i3) or C-terminal tail domain (50). Although no putative GRK phosphorylation consensus motifs have been identified, localization of amino acidic residues flanking repeated serines/threonines to the site of phosphorylation seems to favour GRK2-mediated phosphorylation (51). So far, only GRKs selectively phosphorylate agonist-activated receptors, whereas second messenger-dependent kinases can phosphorylate receptors in the presence or absence of an agonist. Seven mammalian GRK genes have been identified, some of which undergo alternative splicing to generate different isoforms (50, 52). The GRKs consist of three distinct domains: the kinase domain, the N-terminal RGS (regulator of G protein signalling) domain and the C-terminal domain which contributes to the plasma membrane targeting of the kinase (Figure 6). The function of RGS proteins is to inhibit the activity of the  $G\alpha$ -subunit by acting as GTPase-activating proteins (GAPs) (53). The specificity of GRKs in vitro has not yet been defined, but tissue distribution as well as levels of expression probably contribute to their specificity in vivo (54-56). However, recent studies show that different GRKs induce distinct signalling upon Angiotensin II type 1 receptor (AT1R) or V2 vasopressin receptor (V2R) activation, and suggest that GRK2 and -3 will antagonize the effects of GRK5 and -6 (57, 58). Several factors control the activity of the kinases towards the receptors. Principally the activated conformations of the receptors themselves, and allosterically activate the enzymes (55).



**Figure 6.** Schematic representation of the domains for GRK1-GRK7. The Regulatory G protein signalling domain (RGS) and the catalytic domain are common to all GRKs. The C-terminal domain contains either a PH domain and a farnesylated or palmytoylated sequence, depending of the GRK subtype (modified from Fergusson SS (34)).

GRKs also associate with the plasma membrane by various mechanisms, in order to be in close proximity with the activated-receptor. For example, GRK2 and GRK3 interact with the prenylated  $G\beta\gamma$  subunits, whereas GRK1 is farnesylated, and GRK4 and GRK6 are palmyotylated for their insertion into the plasma membrane. A regulatory complexity is added by the fact that both PKA and PKC can phosphorylate and activate GRK2 by promoting its G $\beta\gamma$ -mediated membrane association (59, 60).

Based on sequence homology, the seven GRKs have been divided into three subfamilies : i) GRK1 (Rhodopsin kinase) and -7 are localized to retina, ii) GRK2 ( $\beta$ -adrenergic receptor kinase,  $\beta$ ARK1) and -3 ( $\beta$ ARK2), which interact with  $\beta\gamma$ ; iii) and the membrane-associated GRK4, -5 and -6 (55).

(i) GRK1 and GRK7 subfamily

In unstimulated cells, GRK1 is localized to the cytosol and translocates to bind its substrate in response to agonist activation of the rhodopsin receptor. This translocation at the plasma membrane is facilitated by the post-translational farnesylation of its carboxyl-terminal CAAX motif (61), whereas its activity can be regulated by the calcium sensor protein recoverin (62). Protein farnesylation is catalyzed by protein farnesyltransferase, and plays important roles in the membrane association and protein-protein interaction of a number of eukaryotic proteins (reviewed in (63)).

#### (ii) GRK2 and GRK3 subfamily

For these protein kinases, the translocation to the plasma membrane is regulated in part by their association with the  $\beta\gamma$ -subunit of G proteins (64) which is mediated by a 125 amino acid region stretch in the C-terminus of the kinases. Plasma membrane targeting is also influenced by phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate binding to the pleckstrin homology (PH) domain of the kinases (65). The PH domain acts as a membrane adaptor, linking proteins to the membrane surface via its binding to different phospholipids (66). GRK2 activity can also be influenced by phosphorylation. MAPK decreases its efficacy towards GPCR substrates (67). In contrast, PKC phosphorylation potentiates GRK2 activity (59, 68). Moreover, c-Src, via its recruitment to the agonist-dependent binding of  $\beta$ arrestin to GPCRs, phosphorylates GRK2 on tyrosine residues and targets GRK2 for degradation (69, 70).

#### (iii) GRK4, GRK5 and GRK6 subfamily

In the absence of GPCR activation by an agonist, these GRKs are localized to the plasma membrane. Both GRK4 and GRK6 are palmitoylated on Cterminal cysteine residues (54) facilitating their functional activity to phosphorylate GPCRs (71). GRK5 association with the plasma membrane is thought to be mediated by electrostatic interaction between 46 highly basic amino acid residues contained in the C-terminus of the kinase and membrane phospholipids (54). GRK5 activity can be influenced by phosphorylation of different protein kinases such as PKC, which reduces its activity (72).

GRK-phosphorylation of receptors is not sufficient for desensitization, but rather serves to create high affinity sites to promote the recruitment of the cytoplasmic accessory proteins, arrestins, and target the receptors for internalization via clathrin-coated pits. The arrestin protein was first identified by Herman Kuhn in 1986 as, "a 48K protein", bound to the phosphorylated rhodopsin, thereby interfering with its coupling to transducin (73). The protein was later renamed arrestin (74). Therefore it was postulated that the GRK-mediated phosphorylation of clusters of serine and threonine residues in the C-terminal tails of some receptors may regulate the stability of receptor/arrestin complexes (75). For most receptors, the determining factor for Barrestin interaction is the phosphorylation status of the activated GPCR. Thus impairment of receptor phosphorylation by mutagenesis of key serine/threonine residues generally leads to diminished Barrestin binding after stimulation of the M2 muscarinic cholinergic receptor, rhodopsin, the AT1R or the V2R (75-78). The arrestin recruitment in turn induces desensitization by preventing further coupling to G proteins (79, 80).

#### 2.1.2.2. Arrestin Family

 $\beta$  arrestins are divided into two major classes, visual and nonvisual, on the basis of their localization. Four distinct mammalian arrestin proteins are known, two of which (visual and cone arrestins) are restricted to the phototransduction pathway (42). Two somatic forms,  $\beta$  arrestin 1 (arrestin 2) and  $\beta$  arrestin 2 (arrestin 3) are ubiquitously expressed and are thought to regulate signalling as well as internalization of many different GPCRs (52).  $\beta$  arrestin 1 and 2 have highly homologous structures, sharing 78% amino acid identity (81, 82). Several alternative splice variants have been described including variants of visual arrestin (83),  $\beta$  arrestin 1 and  $\beta$  arrestin 2 (84). Numerous reports have addressed whether these two isoforms serve different roles in receptor internalization or whether they are functionally redundant (85-88).

#### A-Beta-arrestins and their interacting proteins

Beta-arrestins preferentially bind to agonist-activated and GRK-phosphorylated GPCRs, as opposed to second messenger protein kinases that recognize phosphorylated or non-phosphorylated receptors (79). Barrestins contain a specific region that links GPCRs to components of the clathrin-dependent endocytic machinery. The general model is that  $\beta$  arrestins function as adaptor proteins that support the assembly of a multi-protein complex on the receptor and initiate both the internalization of receptor and signalling via the recruitment of other signalling molecules independent of second messengers. The first indication that Barrestins specifically target GPCRs for endocytosis via the clathrin-coated vesicles was confirmed by studies which showed that  $\beta$  arrestin interacts directly with clathrin (89) and AP-2 (90, 91), both components of the endocytic machinery. Since the discovery of Barrestins as proteins that desensitize receptor dependent-second-messenger signalling, several new roles and βarrestin interacting proteins have been identified (Table 1). They also bind to other cellular components involved in the modulation of vesicular trafficking, including the ATPase protein NSF (N-ethylmaleimide-sensitive fusion protein) (92), small GTPases such as ARF6 (93) and the E3 ubiquitin ligase Mdm2 (94). Recently, βarrestins were also described to homo- and hetero-oligomerize in living cells; however the biological relevance of this interaction in vivo remains unclear (95).
βarrestin isoform	Binding Partner	Residues	References
βarrestin1,2	Src-SH1, Src-SH3	1-185, Pro <sup>91</sup> Pro <sup>121</sup>	(96, 97)
βarrestin 2	ASK1	1-185	(98)
βarrestin2	JNK3	Arg <sup>196</sup> Ser <sup>197</sup> Ser <sup>198</sup>	(98, 99)
βarrestin2	Mdm2	1-185	(100)
βarrestin2	Mdm2 (E3 Ub lig)	1-260	(101)
βarrestin2	Smo		(102, 103)
βarrestin2,1	βadaptin2	Arg <sup>394</sup> Arg <sup>396</sup>	(90, 104)
βarrestin1,2	Clathrin	Leu <sup>374</sup> Ile Glu Phe <sup>377</sup>	(105)
βarrestin2	Phosphoinositides	Lys <sup>233</sup> Arg <sup>237</sup> Lys <sup>251</sup>	(106)
βarrestin1	NSF		(92)
βarrestin1,2	ARF6	(1) 319-418	(93)
βarrestin2	PP2A/Akt		(107)
βarrestin1,2	PDE4D		(108)
βarrestin1,2	IkBα		(109, 110)
βarrestin 1	Fgr		(111)
βarrestin1	Hck		(111)
βarrestin 1	Yes		(112)
βarrestin1,2	ERK2		(113, 114)
βarrestin1,2	cRafl		(113)
βarrestin1	RhoA		(115)
βarrestin1,2	Ral GDS		(116)
βarrestin2	ARNO		(93)
βarrestin2	MKP7	165-239	(99)
βarrestin1,2	βarrestin1,2		(95)
βarrestin2	Filamin A	1-80	(117)
visual arrestin	Microtubules		(118)

----

**Table 1**: The different  $\beta$ arrestin-interacting proteins

As shown in figure 7, the  $\beta$ arrestin domain involved in clathrin binding is localized to amino acids 373-377 in  $\beta$ arrestin 2 (105). The  $\beta$ arrestin domain involved in binding the  $\beta$ 2- subunit of AP-2 ( $\beta$ 2-adaptin) is in the C-termini of  $\beta$ arrestin 1 and 2 (91). In particular, two arginine residues (R394 and R396) in  $\beta$ arrestin 2 mediate the binding of  $\beta$ 2-adaptin *in vitro* (90, 104). A phosphate sensor region localizes to the linker between the N and C domains and forms part of the polar core of the protein. Interactions between the C-terminal tail and the phosphate sensor region that maintain arrestin in an inactive state are disrupted upon receptor binding, allowing arrestin to bind with high affinity to the phosphorylated receptor (reviewed in (119)).



Figure 7. Schematic representation of the principal binding sites on Barrestin.

Based on their capacitiy to bind phosphorylated-GPCR, clathrin or AP-2, three dominant-negative arrestin mutants have been described in sequestration studies. The carboxyl-terminal clathrin-binding domain of either  $\beta$ arrestin 1 (residues 319-418) or  $\beta$ arrestin 2 (residues 284-409) binds to clathrin but interacts only weakly with phosphorylated receptors which are completely devoid of ligand binding. The  $\beta$ arrestin 1 V53D mutant, which contains a Val to Asp mutation in its N-terminus, binds well to clathrin, but is defective in interacting with phosphorylated agonist-activated GPCR.

However, how the specific  $\beta$ arrestin 1 V53D mutation functions as a dominant negative remains to be elucidated.

# B-Differential affinities of the arrestins for GPCRs

Following agonist-dependent GRK-phosphorylation of  $\beta$ 2-AR as well as other receptors, the βarrestin proteins are recruited from the cytosol to the plasma membrane (75, 120, 121). Using fluorescence microscopy to visualize the distribution of GFPtagged Barrestin 1 or 2 (i.e. translocation assay), it was shown that these proteins possess distinct preferences for different receptors, allowing them to distinguish two classes of G protein-coupled receptors based on their differential binding avidities for  $\beta$ arrestin 1 and 2 (121). The first class receptors (*i.e.* Class A) including  $\beta$ 2-AR,  $\mu$ opioid, endothelin type A (ETA), dopamine type 1, and alb-adrenergic receptors (Table 2), were demonstrated to interact with  $\beta$  arrestin 2 at a higher affinity than with Barrestin 1. However, because the interaction is of relatively low affinity for the receptor, both  $\beta$  arresting dissociate from the receptor as the coated pit pinches off as a coat vesicle, and the receptor internalizes without the Barrestins. A second class of receptors (i.e. Class B) including AT1R, V2R, neurotensin, thyrotropin-releasing hormone, and neurokinin type 1 receptors, did not discriminate between Barrestin 1 and 2, and showed high affinity for both proteins (121) (Table 2). Barrestin does not dissociate from receptors at the plasma membrane, and internalizes with them into endosomes where they remain stably associated for prolonged periods (Table 2). Apparently, the density of GPCR phosphorylation sites within the C-terminus may be involved in regulating the stability of the  $\beta$  arrestin interaction with receptors (122). The ability of beta-arrestin to remain associated with receptors was shown to be mediated by specific clusters of serine and threonine residues located in the receptor carboxyl-terminal tail. These clusters are remarkably conserved in their position within the carboxyl-terminal domain and serve as primary sites of agonist-dependent receptor phosphorylation (122). The C-terminal domain of  $\beta$  arrestin also determines the stability of the interaction. Indeed, a βarrestin mutant truncated at residue 383, thus

lacking the AP-2 binding site, binds the  $\beta$ 2-AR (class A) with high affinity and trafficks into endosomes (122). Removal of the  $\beta$ arrestin carboxyl terminus may constitutively expose the high affinity receptor binding site and allow the mutant  $\beta$ arrestin to bind with higher avidity to GPCRs.

Class A	Class B	
ß2-adrenergic (121)	angiotensin II type 1 (121)	
µ-opioid (121)	vasopressin type 2 (121)	
endothelin type A (121)	neurotensin 1 (121)	
dopamine type 1 (121)	thyrotropin-releasing hormone (121)	
α1b-adrenergic (121)	neurokinin type 1 (121, 123)	
lysophosphatidic acid (124)	proteinase-activated receptor 2 (114)	
leukotriene B4 receptor 1 (125)	orexin-1 (126)	
apelin (126)		

**Table 2.** Classification of receptors according to their affinities for  $\beta$ arrestin 1 and 2.

Another level of complexity maybe added by the fact that some receptors form an intermediate (*i.e.* Class C) between class A and class B. These receptors are internalized with  $\beta$ arrestin into endosomes, suggesting a higher avidity for  $\beta$ arrestin. However,  $\beta$ arrestin dissociates rapidly from the receptors in endosomes, and receptors are recycled back to the plasma membrane (127).

# C-Arrestins: their relevance in the internalization

 $\beta$ arrestin plays a key role in coordinating processes during receptor internalization across different species such as *Mus musculus* (87, 128, 129), *Drosophila melanogaster* (130) and the zebrafish *Brachydanio rerio* (103). The functional specificity of the various arrestins in the overall desensitization is supported by *in vivo* experiments derived from knockout animals in which arrestin genes have been inactivated by homologous recombination.  $\beta$ arrestin 1 knockout (-/-) mice display altered cardiac responsiveness to  $\beta$ 2-AR stimulation (128).  $\beta$ arrestin 2 knockout (-/-) mice exhibit a potentiation and prolongation of the analgesic effect of morphine, suggesting a role in  $\mu$ -opioid receptor desensitization in the central nervous system (129). However, a double knockout of both  $\beta$ arrestins is embryonic lethal (113). Similarly, knockout (-/-) of Kurtz, a  $\beta$ arrestin analogue in *Drosophila melanogaster*, is lethal during embryogenesis (130). Recently, Wilbanks *et al.* (103) were able to show that knocking-down  $\beta$ arrestin2 in zebrafish embryo affects the Hedgehog (Hg) signalling pathway during embryogenesis. The Hg signalling pathway uses the GPCR, Smoothened, and is fundamental in development in which any deregulation in its signalling is associated with malignancies.

In addition, the recent discovery of short interfering RNAs (siRNA) to induce sequence-specific gene silencing in cells without initiating the non-specific gene silencing pathways (131) has become a remarkable tool to study the real impact of depleting one protein in cells without generating knockout animals. Using a different approach with antisense to reduce Barrestin levels in cells it was found that reduction Barrestin impairs B2-AR desensitization and internalization, but has no effect on the internalization of either M2 or M3 muscarinic receptors (132). However, because βarrestin expression was not completely eliminated by this method, Kohout et al. (87) generated mouse embryonic fibroblast (MEF) cell lines from knockout (KO) animals, which lack one of the Barrestins (Barrestin 1-KO and Barrestin 2-KO) or both (Barrestin 1/2-KO). Internalization of the B2-AR was compared to the AT1R for the different cell lines described above. They demonstrate that the sequestration of various receptors is regulated differently by the two ßarrestin proteins. The internalization of β2-AR is dramatically affected in βarrestin 2-KO while in βarrestin 1-KO the levels of receptor internalization are normal. For AT1R, in contrast internalization is slightly reduced in the Barrestin 1-KO cells and unaffected in the Barrestin 2-KO cells. However, in the  $\beta$  arrestin 1/2-KO cells both receptors show a dramatically reduced internalization, which can be restored by reintroducing  $\beta$  arrestin 1 and 2, suggesting that both isoforms are able to support receptor internalization. Similarly, siRNA

depletion of  $\beta$ arrestin 1 and 2 shows patterns in desensitization and internalization identical to those observed in MEF cells (133), confirming the important role for  $\beta$ arrestin in GPCR internalization. Today, it is well-appreciated that most GPCRs are regulated by GRKs and arrestins. Details of which kinases phosphorylate which receptors in any given tissue, however, remain largely unknown.

#### 3. Receptor internalization

# 3.1. Molecular mechanisms involved in G protein-Coupled Receptor

#### Endocytosis

Several mechanisms modulate GPCR responsiveness following agonist occupancy, including agonist-induced receptor desensitization, endocytosis (or sequestration), and resensitization (or degradation). The intrinsic properties of receptors to interact with other regulatory proteins such as arrestin control the rate of agonist-induced turnover, as well as the fate of receptors (recycling versus degradation) after endocytosis. Although arrestins play a pivotal role in agonist-stimulated signalling and regulation of most GPCRs, several alternative pathways have been described (134). These include internalization in arrestin- and clathrin-independent manners.

# 3.1.1. Arrestin- and dynamin-dependent endocytosis

Clathrin-mediated endocytosis is the well-described mechanism for the entry of molecules into cells. This pathway is characterized by the recruitment of soluble clathrin from the cytoplasm to the plasma membrane. Clathrin-binding adaptors, such as the adaptor-protein 2 (AP-2), are the key components of this pathway. They bind directly to clathrin (135), as well as other endocytic regulatory proteins and cargo to stimulate the formation of the clathrin coat (136). In this pathway, receptor phosphorylation by GRKs enhances binding of  $\beta$ arrestins, which serves to quench agonist-mediated G protein signalling, and acts as a scaffold intermediate with two components of the clathrin-coated-pit machinery: AP2 and

clathrin, to stabilize the association with clathrin-coated pits (CCPs). In this model, the clathrin adaptor complex AP-2 plays a central role in CCP formation and function, being responsible for the assembly of clathrin triskelia at the plasma membrane and selection of cargo receptors that will be internalized by forming clathrin-coated vesicles (CCVs). CCVs are so-called because the main component of the coat is clathrin, which forms a polymeric scaffold on the vesicle inner surface.

# 3.1.1.1.Adaptor clathrin protein family

Clathrin coats were identified by their distinctive appearance in electron microscopy. The presence of clathrin lattices that form characteristic open hexagonal and pentagonal facets of the coat are depicted in Figure 8A. A clathrin coat is a three-dimensional (3D) array of triskelia. Each triskelion is made of three 1,675residue clathrin heavy chains (CHCs, approximately 190-kDa) and three 25–29-kDa clathrin light chains (CLCs) (Figure 8B).

Α



**Figure 8:** The architecture of clathrin. A, Clathrin barrel with a single triskelion highlighted. B, Schematic representation of a clathrin triskelion. The triskelion is composed of 3 heavy chains and 3 light chains (not shown). Each heavy chain comprises ankle, distal, knee and proximal segments to form a clathrin leg (137).

In vitro, purified clathrin can spontaneously assemble into cages or, in the presence of adaptor proteins, into coats. The clathrin coat is assembled on the cytoplasmic face of the plasma membrane by the recruitment of the adaptor complex AP. The characteristic of an adaptor is to bind endocytic cargo and serve as a link between the substrate for internalization and coat components (138). At least 20 endocytic accessory factors contribute to clathrin-mediated endocytosis, and many of these factors are clathrin adaptors themselves (reviewed in (139)). The AP-2 complex was the first protein characterized as an 'adaptor' (136), and it is a member of the highly conserved adaptor family. Within this family, AP-2 is specifically found at the plasma membrane whereas, AP-1, -3 and -4 have been shown to localize both to the endosomes and the Trans Golgi Network (140). APs are heterotetrameric proteins, and to date, four APs are identified (AP1-4). All APs have two large subunits of 100-130 kDa ( $\gamma$  and  $\beta$ 1 in AP-1,  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ 2 in AP-2,  $\delta$  and  $\beta$ 3 in AP-3, and  $\varepsilon$  and  $\beta$ 4 in AP-4). They also contain a medium subunit of approximately 50 kDa ( $\mu$ 1 for AP-1,  $\mu$ 2 for AP-2,  $\mu$ 3 for AP-3 and  $\mu$ 4 for AP-4) and a small subunit of about 20 kDa ( $\sigma$ 1 for AP-1,  $\sigma^2$  for AP-2,  $\sigma^3$  for AP-3, and  $\sigma^4$  for AP-4). The large subunits can each be divided into a trunk domain separated from an appendage domain (referred to as an 'ear' domain) by a protease-sensitive linker (referred as a 'hinge' domain) (Figure 9).



**Figure 9.** Representation of the heterotetrameric AP-2 complex with its  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta 2$ ,  $\mu 2$  et  $\sigma 2$  subunits. AP-2 links the clathrin to the membrane through interactions of its  $\mu 2$  and  $\alpha$  subunits with lipids.

AP-2 adaptors play a central role in CCV formation by linking the endocytic cargo to the clathrin coat, and also by interacting with a number of proteins involved in the regulation of CCV formation (See Table 3) (138). The assembly of the CCP is facilitated by cytosolic proteins that form a dynamic network of protein-protein interactions by associating with multiple partner proteins during the different steps of endocytosis. For example, a  $\beta$ arrestin R396A mutant, which cannot interact with AP-2, does not support the sequestration of agonist-activated  $\beta$ 2AR into plasma membrane puncta (90) and suggests that the interaction of  $\beta$ arrestin with AP-2 is important for endocytosis.

Each AP-2 subunit has a distinct function (See Table 3). Via its  $\mu$ 2 subunit, AP-2 binds to the tyrosine-base internalization motifs on cargo molecules, NPXY (where N, P and Y are asparagine, proline and tyrosine residues, respectively, and x represents any amino acid) (141, 142). These motifs determine which vesicular traffic pathway is used to transport a particular molecule, and hence determine its final destination.

AP-2 subunit	Bind to	References
α	Auxilin	(143)
α	AAK1	(143)
α	Stonin	(143)
α	Synaptojanin 1	(143)
α	NECAP1	(143)
α	Eps15	(144, 145).
α	AP180	(146)
α	PIP <sub>2</sub>	(147)
α	Dynamin	(148)
α	Amphiphysin	(146)
α	Clathrin	(149)
α	Sorting nexin 9	(150)
α	Dab2	(151)
$\beta 2 \ (E^{849} \text{ and } E^{902})$	βarrestin1,2	(152)
β2	Epsin	(153)
β2	AP180	(153)
β2 (LΦxΦD/E)	Clathrin	(135)
$\beta 2 \ (D^{253} F^{259} L^{262} and R^{266})$	ARH	(154)
_β2	Sorting nexin 9	(150)
μ	PIP <sub>2</sub>	(147)
μ (YxxΦ)	TſR	(155)
μ (YxxΦ)	EGFR	(156)
μ	AAK1	(157, 158)
_μ (YxxΦ)	$\alpha$ 1a AR + PAR	(159, 160)

-

-

**Table 3**: The different AP-2-interacting proteins and their identified interacting regions ( $\Phi$  is an amino acid with a hydrophobic side group).

The interaction of clathrin with AP-2 is via the clathrin box motif L $\Phi x \Phi D/E$ (where L, D and E are leucine, aspartic acid and glutamic acid respectively; x represents any amino acid and  $\Phi$  any hydrophobic amino acid), in the hinge region of  $\beta$ 2-adaptin (135). The  $\alpha$ -subunit binds to clathrin, dynamin (148) and Eps15 (144, 145). Some studies also indicate that the phosphorylation of AP-2, induced by  $\alpha$ adaptin-associated kinase-1 (AAK1), could regulate its binding to endocytic cargo (157, 158, 161). The  $\beta$ 2-adaptin subunit is essential for clathrin coat formation and interacts with clathrin through dileucine motifs (reviewed in (162)). Furthermore, the use of siRNA against the  $\alpha$  and  $\mu$ 2 subunits has shown that the AP-2 complex is required for the formation of most plasma membrane-associated CCPs (163, 164). The depletion of the different subunits of the AP-2 complex has been reported to be embryonically lethal (See Table 4) and thus supports different role of AP-2 such as embryogenesis.

Complex	Organism	Methodology	Phenotype
α	D. melanogaster	P-element enhancer trap insertion	Several alleles - most severe are embryonic lethal, synapses devoid of vesicles
α	C. elegans	dsRNAi	Embryonic lethal, inhibition of yolk endocytosis
μ2	C. elegans	dsRNAi	50% embryonic lethal, dumpy phenotype
σ2	C. elegans	dsRNAi	50% embryonic lethal, dumpy phenotype
α2	S. cerevisiae	Targeted disruption	None observed
α	S. cerevisiae	Targeted disruption	None observed
β2	S. cerevisiae	Targeted disruption	None observed
μ2	S. cerevisiae	Targeted disruption	None observed
u 2	M. musculus	Targeted disruption	Embryonic lethal

 Table 4. Genetic analysis of the function of AP-2 complex.

7

1

# 3.1.1.2.Src

The list of GPCR-activated signalling pathways in which βarrestins have been implicated includes not only components of the clathrin-endocytic machinery, but also signalling molecules such as the non-receptor tyrosine protein kinase Src family (165-171). The Src family of non-receptor protein-kinases consists of 9 members: Blk, Fgr, Fyn, Hck, Lck, Lyn, Src, Yes and Yrk. Src family protein kinases exhibit a highly conserved structural organization that includes a myristoylated N-terminal domain to facilitate its attachment at the plasma membrane, followed by the SH3 domain recognizing a proline rich region in target proteins, the SH2 domain recognizing tyrosine phosphorylated residues, the tyrosine kinase domain (SH1) and a C-terminal tail (Figure 10) (172). Thus, targeting of Src family protein kinase is accomplished through protein–protein interactions involving the phosphotyrosinebinding Src homology domain 2 (SH2) and proline-rich domain-binding SH3 domains common to all members of the family.



Figure 10. Representation of the non receptor tyrosine kinase c-Src and its different domains. The SH3 domain is located between amino acids 91 and 151, the SH2 domain is located between 151 and 250 and the catalytic domain is located between 250 and 536. SH1 corresponds to the isolated catalytic subunit containing the kinase activity. An additional mutant, c-Src K298R, contains a point mutation in the ATP binding site and in its small catalytic region SH1-KD (KD: Kinase Dead) (96).

Apart from targeting c-Src, the SH2/SH3 domain mediated-interaction also induce c-Src activation by destabilizing the domain that maintains it inactive. The Src tyrosine kinase activity is regulated by tyrosine phosphorylation at two sites, Tyr<sup>418</sup> and Tyr<sup>530</sup>, with opposing effects. First, under basal conditions Tyr<sup>530</sup> is phosphorylated and induces a conformational change in the C-terminal tail of the molecule to interact with the SH2 domain of Src. This interaction results in the suppression of its protein kinase activity (173). The dephosphorylation of Tyr<sup>530</sup> opens the conformation of c-Src, thereby allowing the protein kinase activity (174). Second, the phosphorylation of Tyr<sup>418</sup> in the activation loop of the protein kinase domain upregulates the enzyme activity. When this site becomes phosphorylated, it is displaced from the substrate binding pocket, allowing the kinase access to substrates. Thus, when Tyr<sup>418</sup> is phosphorylated, it is a positive regulator of Src activity, and when dephosphorylated, it is a negative regulator of c-Src activity. Introduction of a kinase dead mutation (K298R, where K represents a lysine and R an arginine residue) into the ATP binding site of c-Src protein also completely eliminates kinase activity by blocking the hydrolysis of ATP (96, 171). Once activated, protein kinases catalyze the following reaction:

MgATP + protein-OH
$$\rightarrow$$
 Protein-OPO<sub>3</sub><sup>2-</sup> + MgADP + H<sup>+</sup>

Recent evidence suggests that c-Src recruitment to the endocytic complexes may play a role in the activation of the endocytic machinery (170, 171, 175). Upon stimulation of the  $\beta$ 2AR, c-Src rapidly associates with the receptor in a  $\beta$ arrestindependent manner (97). c-Src mutants devoid of catalytic activity that can interact with  $\beta$ arrestin (SH1-KD) function as dominant-negative inhibitors of clathrin-mediated internalization of receptors (96, 170). Also, several new substrates for the c-Src phosphorylation of proteins involved in the endocytic machinery have been identified (Table 5).

Src fam	ily Phosphorylation Substrates	References
Src	Dynamin Y <sup>231</sup> Y <sup>597</sup>	(170)
Src	Caveolin Y <sup>14</sup>	(176)
Src	GRK2	(69, 177)
Src	Angiotensin II type 1 receptor	(178)
Src	ASAP1	(179)

Table 5. Src and its principal substrates involved in endocytosis of receptors

Today, c-Src is described as a protein kinase playing pleiotropic roles such as the regulation of the early steps of GPCRs internalization, but also as a signalling protein regulating MAPK activation following GPCR activation. Indeed, c-Src activity is required not only for GPCR-mediated stimulation of the Ras pathway leading to the activation of MAPK (165-169), but also for  $\beta$ 2AR endocytosis, where in MEF cells deficient of Src-family tyrosine kinases (SYF cells) the internalization was abolished (180).

### 3.1.1.3. Dynamin

During receptor internalization, it was initially thought that  $\beta$  arrestin participated in the *de novo* formation of CCPs (89, 181). However, recent evidence shows that  $\beta$  arrestin targets receptors to existing pits at the cell surface and engages them in the internalization process (182, 183). Although this issue remains controversial, the general model for receptor internalization from the plasma membrane is that the formed pits progressively invaginate and are finally released into the cytosol as a free CCV, a step which requires the activity of dynamin. Dynamin is a GTPase involved in the pinching off of clathrin-coated vesicles from the plasma membrane (184). Dynamin was discovered in a mutant of *Drosophila melanogaster*, known as *Shibire*, which became paralysed at high temperatures (185). By performing an electron microscopy study of *Shibire* flies, Kosaka *et al.*, discovered that high

temperatures blocked the endocytosis of clathrin-coated pits and thus paralyzed flies. This makes cells unable to recycle synaptic vesicles leading to the depletion of these vesicles, blockage of synaptic transmission, and then paralysis. Using microscopy, the clathrin-coated pits appeared as deep coated pits with long necks formed on presynaptic membranes (186). Apparently, *Shibire* cells had a defect in the fission of coated vesicles from synaptic membranes. When the mutated gene in *Shibire* was finally identified and cloned (187), it was found to encode dynamin, a large GTPase that was originally identified as a microtubule-binding protein (188).

Dynamin is now considered to activate effectors of the fission machinery that yield CCV. Three mammalian dynamin isoforms have been identified : neuronal dynamin-1, ubiquitously expressed dynamin-2, and dynamin-3, which is expressed in testes, neurons, and lungs (189). Comparison of the primary sequences shows that all dynamin isoforms contain three highly conserved GTP-binding motifs necessary for guanine-nucleotide binding and hydrolysis. The GTPase activity of dynamin is stimulated by self-oligomerization once 'a critical mass is reached' (reviewed in (190)). A lysine-to -alanine substitution (K44) in the first GTP-binding motif yields a dominant negative dynamin mutant, which is strongly impaired in GTPase activity and reduced in GTP affinity (187). A second important regulator of dynamin function is PIP<sub>2</sub> (191, 192). All three dynamins contain a PH domain that is able to bind PIP<sub>2</sub> (Figure 11).



Figure 11. Representation of Dynamin and its dominant negative (K44A) construct.

The binding of PIP<sub>2</sub> to dynamin strongly increases GTPase activity and serves to target dynamin to the plasma membrane for its assembly at the neck of the clathrin-coated vesicles (191, 192). A single point mutation (K535A) in the PH domain of dynamin-1 has a dominant negative effect on endocytosis in cells (193). There is also a proline-rich domain that binds to a SRC-homology 3 (SH3) domain, which is found in proteins of the endocytic machinery such as amphiphysin, and endophilin (194). Dynamin is also regulated by tyrosine phosphorylation during  $\beta$ 2-AR internalization. The proposed model is that  $\beta$ arrestin will act as an adaptor/scaffold to bind c-Src, allowing the phosphorylation of dynamin (170). Ahn and collaborators identified two tyrosines (Y231F/Y597F) in dynamin and, when mutated, cannot be tyrosine phosphorylated by c-Src and thus inhibited the agonist-induced internalization of the  $\beta$ 2-AR. These data suggest that tyrosine phosphorylation of dynamin plays an important role in endocytosis.

# 3.1.2. Arrestin independent, dynamin-dependent internalization

Although the general model for GPCR internalization involves both  $\beta$ arrestin and dynamin, some receptors are internalized via the clathrin-coated vesicle pathway independently of  $\beta$ arrestin (195-199) using an alternative endocytic pathway. This pathway is characterized by blockage of GPCR internalization with dominant-negative dynamin, but not with dominant negative  $\beta$ arrestin. For example, overexpression of the dominant negative mutants  $\beta$ arrestin ( $\beta$ arr1 V53D, truncated  $\beta$ arr1 (319-418) and  $\beta$ arr2 (284-409)) do not affect the internalization of the 5-Hydroxytryptamine 2A (5-HT<sub>2A</sub>) receptors, while overexpression of dominant negative dynamin (K44A) significantly impairs receptor endocytosis (200). Similar results were obtained for M1 and M3 muscarinic receptors (195) and suggest that these receptors might use a dynamin-dependent internalization pathway independent of  $\beta$ arrestin. Interestingly, recent evidence suggests that the 5-HT<sub>2A</sub> (201), the muscarinic (202) and the Endothelin type B (ETB) receptors are internalized via specific

structures called caveolae (203). Caveolae are morphologically distinct from CCVs, but their formation is reported to be dynamin-dependent (204). Caveolae are specialized domains of the plasma membrane containing as a principal component the integral membrane protein caveolin-1. One biochemical piece of evidence that caveolae mediates the uptake of molecules in cells comes from the observation that some GPCRs were found in caveolae structure : M2 muscarinic receptor (205),  $\beta$ 2-AR (206), bradykinin receptor (B2R) (207), ETA receptor (208) and ETB receptor (203). There is also evidence that caveolin-1 directly interacts with a number of signalling proteins, including G $\alpha$ -subunits, non-receptor tyrosine kinases-like Src, PKA, and PKC (209, 210). For the cholecystokinin (CCK) receptor, which is internalized via both caveolae and clathrin-coated pit pathways, treatment with inhibitors of the clathrin-coated pit pathway induced GPCR internalization for almost all CCK receptors (211). These results suggest that the caveolae pathway is able to fully support internalization, and also that the CCK receptor can utilize both endocytic pathways.

It has long been known that GPCRs can internalize by different pathways in distinct cells (212), but the physiological significance of these differences has only recently begun to emerge. For example, it has been shown that, in the case of CCK receptor type A, the clathrin-coated pit-dependent pathway leads to lysosomal compartments, whereas caveolae-mediated endocytosis does not (211). However, switching the internalization pathway of the ETA receptor from caveolae to CCP does not alter its lysosomal destination (213). Finally, the molecular basis of this internalization switch has been elucidated for B1-AR, which enters via both the caveolae and the CCPs. In this case, PKA phosphorylation directs the receptor to a CCP, whereas GRK phosphorylation of the receptor directs it to caveolae-mediated endocytosis (214). These findings may explain how the levels of Barrestins or GRKs in distinct cells lines determine the different endocytosis pathways of specific GPCRs, as has been shown for the GnRH receptor (215). The receptor GnRH, when expressed in both COS-7 and HEK 293 cells, preferentially undergoes a rapid agonist-induced internalization in a caveolae-like, dynamin-dependent manner, but upon Barrestin overexpression GnRH-Rs appeared to mobilize to the Barrestin-mediated endocytic

pathway (215). However, the exact molecular mechanisms of the caveolae-mediated endocytosis remain to be defined.

#### 3.1.3. Arrestin and dynamin independent endocytosis

Other receptors appear to be internalized via a third endocytic pathway, which does not require  $\beta$ arrestin or dynamin. Upon agonist activation, the secretin receptor is phosphorylated by GRKs and stimulates translocation of  $\beta$ arrestin to the cell surface. Expression of dominant negative  $\beta$ arrestin and dynamin, however, does not affect internalization (216). Similarly, the M2 muscarinic (77, 217, 218), the B2R (219), and the *N*-formyl peptide receptors (220) are other examples of G proteincoupled receptors, which are internalized in a  $\beta$ arrestin- and dynamin-independent fashion (219-222). The exact mechanism and nature of vesicles responsible for the internalization of these receptors remain to be defined.

#### 3.2. The fate of internalized receptors

Once internalized, receptors are targeted to specialized intracellular compartments where they are dephosphorylated and recycled back to the plasma membrane, or processed by the degradation pathway. Clearly, the sequences of the exposed intracellular domains of a GPCR, and the pattern of phosphorylation sites, and thus the binding properties of  $\beta$ arrestins, coordinate the intracellular trafficking of the internalized receptor. Recently,  $\beta$ arrestin ubiquitination and de-ubiquitination were shown to correlate with different receptor trafficking patterns (101, 223). Conjugation of ubiquitin, a 76-amino acid polypeptide, to lysine residues, was found to function as a sorting signal for receptor degradation in lysosomes (reviewed in (224)). Transient  $\beta$ arrestin ubiquitination correlates with class A and more permanent  $\beta$ arrestin ubiquitination with class B receptor endocytosis (101). It has also been shown that Mdm2-mediated ubiquitination of  $\beta$ arrestin 2 is necessary for  $\beta$ 2AR internalization but

ubiquitination of the receptor by a second ubiquitin ligase mediates receptor downregulation (94). Similarly, other GPCRs were found to be ubiquitinated, such as CXCR4 (225),  $\mu$ - and  $\delta$ -opioid (226), and V2 receptors (227).

Two different types of GPCRs internalized via the same endocytic pathway may be targeted to different intracellular compartments and recycled to the cell surface with different kinetics. For example, in HEK 293 cells,  $\beta$ 2-adrenergic and  $\delta$ -opioid receptors are internalized via the clathrin-coated vesicle pathway (228). While almost all of the  $\beta$ 2-ARs are recycled to the cell surface within minutes,  $\delta$ -opioid receptors are targeted to lysosomes for degradation (228). Interestingly, studies of chimeric receptors have shown that interchanging the C-terminal tail can change the fate of receptors. Indeed, a mutant  $\beta$ 2-AR containing the V2R C-terminal tail is recycled to the cell surface with kinetics similar to the vasopressin receptor (75). Moreover, the same phenomenon has been observed with other receptor chimeras such as the  $\beta$ 2-AR and the AT1R (229), the ETA and ETB receptors (230), the gonadotropin-releasing hormone and the thyrotropin-releasing hormone receptor (160, 232). Therefore, molecular determinants present within the C-terminal tail of GPCRs appear to contain domains responsible for determining the fate of receptor.

Studies of the V2R as well as other GPCRs have implicated a cluster of serine residues in the receptor tail as an important motif involved in intracellular receptor trafficking (75, 233-235). Receptors possessing this domain interact with high affinity to  $\beta$ arrestin. Upon agonist binding, phosphorylation of the V2R within the serine cluster is believed to promote the formation of a stable complex between the receptor and  $\beta$ arrestin. Together, the receptor/ $\beta$ arrestin complex is internalized and targeted to endosomes where they are retained for long periods of time before being recycled to the cell surface. Removal or addition of such serine/threonine clusters in certain receptors such as the  $\beta$ 2-AR, the neurotensin, the oxytocin, the AT1R, and the neurokinin type 1 receptors is sufficient to alter the kinetics of receptor recycling (122)

Other proteins have been shown to bind to the tail of a variety of GPCRs thereby regulating receptor trafficking (236-238). One such example is the binding of the Na+/H+ exchanger regulatory factor (NHERF), which binds to the  $\beta$ 2-AR tail via

protein-protein interaction domains (*i.e* PDZ domain) (236-238). PDZ domains contain ~80-90 residues and bind to the C-terminal 4-5 residues of their target proteins, frequently transmembrane receptors or ion channels. The consensus binding sequence contains a hydrophobic residue, commonly Val or Ile, at the very C-terminus. This interaction is important for post-endocytic sorting of the receptor (237). More recently, determinants including the last three amino acids of the C-terminal tail of the  $\beta$ 2-AR also bind to *N*-ethylmaleimide-sensitive fusion protein (NSF), another protein involved in vesicular trafficking (239). Mutations in the  $\beta$ 2-AR tail that affect NSF binding, but not the interaction with NHERF, reduce receptor internalization and totally prevent receptor recycling from the endocytic compartments. Thus, the post-endocytic fate of the  $\beta$ 2-AR appears to be dependent on the ability of the receptor to interact directly with different intracellular proteins. These interactions between receptors and sorting molecules remain to be characterized.

#### 3.3. Internalization for desensitization, resensitization or signalling

It is well-recognized that the clathrin-mediated endocytosis serves a number of purposes, including regulation of cell surface protein expression levels in order to modulate cellular responsiveness to ligands (82), localization of intracellular signalling complexes to receptor-bearing endosomes (119), degradation (also known as down regulation) of GPCRs to effect long term desensitization (212), and processing of receptors for recycling to the cell surface to initiate continued signalling (34).

#### 3.3.1. GPCR internalization for desensitization

For a long time, GPCR internalization has been considered a mechanism for receptor desensitization, due to the uncoupling of the receptor from its effector (240). In this way, GPCR removal from the cell surface could provide a mechanism to protect cells against receptor overstimulation. In response to agonist-stimulation, many GPCRs are internalized but are not recycled back to the plasma membrane (75, 160, 229, 232). In some cases, internalized GPCRs such as the

- 38 -

protease-activated receptor (PAR) (160) and ETB (241) are targeted to lysosomes for degradation. Other GPCRs, such as AT1R, are internalized and retained within the endosomes (229, 232) (Figure 12).



Figure 12. GPCR internalization for desensitization

GPCR internalization for desensitization is mainly controlled by  $\beta$ arrestins. Since the discovery of  $\beta$ arrestin as proteins acting in concert with GRK to desensitize receptors (242),  $\beta$ arrestin 2 was cloned (79), the crystal structure was solved (243), and  $\beta$ arrestin 2 was originally classified as a desensitization protein (42). The desensitization function of  $\beta$ arrestin has been demonstrated by Attramadal *et al.* (81), using purified  $\beta$ arrestin 1 and  $\beta$ arrestin 2 proteins. They were able to block the GTPase activity of G<sub>s</sub> induced by the  $\beta$ 2-AR with each  $\beta$ arrestin *in vitro*. In addition, numerous reports show that reduction of endogenous  $\beta$ arrestin expression affects receptor desensitization (87, 132, 133).

#### 3.3.2. GPCR internalization for resensitization

Resensitization can blocked by pharmacological treatment, such as hypertonic sucrose which is used to block receptor internalization without affecting G protein coupling or desensitization (244-246). GPCR resensitization thus protects cells against prolonged receptor unresponsiveness. The mechanism by which the resensitization of many GPCRs is achieved is thought to be agonist-dependent internalization and targeting of receptors to endosomes. It has been shown that  $\beta$ 2-AR isolated from endosomes exhibited a lower phosphorylation stoichiometry than  $\beta$ 2-AR isolated from the plasma membrane (36), and that endosomes are enriched in phosphatase activity (247). These results suggest that GPCRs are dephosphorylated in endosomes and recycled back to the cell surface to be available for a new round of agonist activation (232, 248) (Figure 13). Therefore, GPCR resensitization not only requires the  $\beta$ arrestin-dependent targeting of receptors to the CCPs and their endocytosis to endosomes, but receptors also require  $\beta$ arrestin release to be dephosphorylated and then recycled back to the cell surface. The exclusion of  $\beta$ arrestin from CCVs was proposed to facilitate the  $\beta$ 2-AR dephosphorylation by allowing receptor exposure to specific protein phosphatase (PP2A) (229). Furthermore, the association of phosphatase with the  $\beta$ 2-AR requires the acidification of the receptor in the endosomes (248).



Figure 13. GPCR internalization for resensitization

GPCR internalization and dephosphorylation in endosomes is not the only mechanism by which GPCR resensitization is achieved. Indeed, because the protease-activated receptors (PARs) are degraded in lysosomes (249), these receptors use alternative mechanisms for resensitization. The first mechanism is the *de novo* synthesis of new receptors, and the second is the maintenance of an intracellular pool of receptors that can be mobilized to replace degraded receptors (250, 251).

Interestingly, in COS-7 cells,  $\beta$ 2-AR resensitization does not occur unless  $\beta$ arrestins are overexpressed (181) suggesting that  $\beta$ arrestin not only plays a role in GPCR desensitization but also in resensitization. Therefore, the capacity of a GPCR to become resensitized may depend on the protein expression levels of different regulators of intracellular trafficking. Moreover, heterodimerization of receptors, shown between the  $\mu$ -opioid and substance P (NK1) receptors can alter the  $\mu$ -opioid resensitization profile (252). While heterodimerization revealed no changes of the ligand binding and signalling properties,  $\mu$ -opioid/NK1 heterodimerization change the trafficking with  $\beta$ arrestin of the  $\mu$ -opioid from class A to class B and thus, delays recycling and resensitization. In addition to  $\beta$ arrestin, the internalization of the  $\beta$ 2-AR and the D2 dopamine receptor depends on the small GTPases Rab5 and Rab4 (253, 254). Rab5 regulates the movement and fusion of vesicles to endosomes and also the formation of vesicles at the plasma membrane (254). Rab4 regulates the recycling of  $\beta$ 2-AR back to the plasma membrane and is required for  $\beta$ 2-AR resensitization (254). Therefore, receptors may use distinct mechanisms to be resensitize.

# 3.3.3. GPCR internalization for signalling

Activation of MAPKs via G protein-mediated pathways has been studied for many GPCRs (255). The activation of MAPK (p44/p42) by  $\beta$ 2-AR involves the PKA-phosphorylation-dependent switch of  $\beta$ 2-AR coupling from G<sub>s</sub> to G<sub>i</sub> activation (43). It has also been proposed that the MAPK activation induced by GPCR requires both endocytosis and  $\beta$ arrestin proteins (111, 218).

As mentioned previously, arrestin proteins were originally identified based on their role in GPCR desensitization. The roles of  $\beta$  arrestin have since been expanded to include several additional functions. One function is its ability to serve as a scaffold for two mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) cascades by linking GPCRs to the extracellular-signal regulated kinase (ERK) cascade (113, 114, 256) and the c-jun N-terminal kinase type 3 (JNK3) cascade (257) (Figure 14).



Figure 14. GPCR internalization for signalling

The MAP kinases are a family of conserved serine/threonine kinases that are involved in the transduction of signals regulating cell growth, division, differentiation and apoptosis. MAP protein kinase activity is regulated by a series of parallel kinase cascades comprising three protein kinases that successively phosphorylate and activate the downstream effector. Raf phosphorylates and activates MEK, and MEK phosphorylates and activates ERK/MAPK, causing dissociation from MEK and translocation to the nucleus. Recent data shows that βarrestin interacts directly with both Raf-1 protein kinase and MAPK in response to the activation of PAR2 (114). The activation of PAR2 prevents the translocation of MAPK to the nucleus; this in turn blocks cell proliferation. In contrast a PAR2 receptor mutant defective in βarrestin-binding, stimulates MAPK activation and cell proliferation. Similar results were also observed for other GPCRs such as AT1R, V2R and β2AR (113, 258, 259). However, in the case of AT1R, it has been suggested that βarrestin 1 may inhibit the βarrestin 2-mediated ERK activation (260), indicating that the two forms of βarrestin might have different functions in regulating ERK signalling. A recent study showed that GRK5 and -6 induced  $\beta$ arrestin 2-mediated ERK signalling upon V2R activation, and suggested that the specificities of GRK phosphorylation can coordinate  $\beta$ arrestin-mediated signalling (58). Using G<sub>s</sub> knockout MEF cells, Shenoy *et al* also demonstrated that the  $\beta$ 2AR can signal to ERK via a GRK5/6 and  $\beta$ arrestin-dependent pathway, independently of G protein coupling (261). However, the roles of  $\beta$ arrestin as endocytic versus scaffolding protein in GPCR-mediated activation of MAPK remains understudied.

In addition to MAPK,  $\beta$ arrestin was shown to be essential for the agonist-dependent formation of a complex containing  $\beta$ 2AR,  $\beta$ arrestin and c-Src (97). Similar results have been obtained with the NK1 (262) and the CXCR-1 (111). The  $\beta$ arrestin/c-Src interaction involves the association of the  $\beta$ arrestin N-terminus with the Src homology 1 (SH1) domain of c-Src (96).  $\beta$ arrestin-mediated Src recruitment has been implicated in several GPCR-mediated signalling events, including tyrosine phosphorylation of dynamin (96); and the activation of the ERK/MAPK cascade (97, 114). Furthermore,  $\beta$ arrestin mutants defective in their ability to interact with c-Src, blocked  $\beta$ 2-AR-mediated MAPK activation (97). These results suggest that  $\beta$ arrestin initiates alternative signal transduction cascades in which desensitized receptor and  $\beta$ arrestin act as scaffolds. Recent reports have extended the role of signalling for  $\beta$ arrestin to other receptors such as IGF1R (263) and the single-TM Notch (264). In these particular cases,  $\beta$ arrestin allows the recruitment of the ubiquitin-ligase to promote receptor degradation.

Another function for  $\beta$  arrestin is to serve as a messenger in controlling transcription of target genes. This hypothesis comes from the observation that  $\beta$  arrestin was able to shuttle between the cytoplasm and the nucleus (85, 86). This was further demonstrated for the  $\delta$ -opioid receptor (DOR) where the agonist-activation of DOR was shown to induce the nuclear translocation of  $\beta$  arrestin 1, and thus the  $\beta$  arrestin-dependent histone H4 acetylation resulting in the transcription of specific target genes (265). However, it remains to be determined by which mechanism  $\beta$  arrestin mediates this epigenetic signalling pathway.

# 4. One particular GPCR : The Angiotensin II type 1 receptor4.1. The discovery of AT1R

In 1897, Tiegerstedt and Bergman found that crude saline extracts from the kidney contained a pressor substance that they named renin. In 1940, Braun-Menendez, as well as Page and Helmer reported that renin was an enzyme that acted on a plasma protein substrate to catalyze the formation of the actual pressor material, a peptide that was named hypertensin by the former group and angiotonin by the latter. These two terms persisted for nearly 20 years until it was agreed to rename the pressor substance angiotensin and to call the plasma substrate angiotensinogen. By the mid-1950s, two forms of angiotensin were recognized: a decapeptide (angiotensin I) and an octapeptide (angiotensin II) formed by proteolytic cleavage of angiotensin I by an enzyme termed angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE). As with other peptide hormones, Ang II was postulated to act on a receptor located on the plasma membrane of its target cells. It was not until the end of the 1980s that tools became available to demonstrate the existence of at least two receptor types in many tissues (reviewed in (266)). These receptors are termed AT1R, for Angiotensin II type 1 receptor which encompasses two subtypes (AT1<sub>A</sub> and AT1<sub>B</sub>, in rat and mice) and the AT2R, for the Angiotensin II type 2 receptor.

#### 4.2. Angiotensin II

Clinical and experimental studies show that angiotensin II (Ang II) (Figure 15), the major renin-angiotensin system effector, has an important role in biological processes. These processes include blood pressure control through vascular muscle contractility, aldosterone secretion from adrenal glomerulosa cells, and ion transport in renal tubular cells (Figure 16) (reviewed in (267)). Pharmacological inhibition of the renin-angiotensin system attenuates the development of renal lesions in several experimental models of renal injury and progressive loss of renal function in individuals with chronic kidney disease (CKD) (268). It has been suggested that Ang II causes renal injury through renal hemodynamic effects and stimulation of kidney growth, but the molecular pathways underlying these phenomena remain largely unknown.

# Asp-Arg-Val-Tyr-Ile-His-Pro-Phe

# Figure 15. The sequence of the human Angiotensin II

There is considerable information on the structure-activity relationships of angiotensin-related peptides with regard to activity at receptors for angiotensin II (269). In general, phenylalanine in position 8 is critical for most agonist activity, and the aromatic residues in positions 4 and 6, the guanido group in position 2, and the C-terminal carboxyl are thought to be involved in binding to the receptor site. Position 1 is not critical, but replacement of aspartic acid in position 1 with sarcosine enhances binding to angiotensin receptors and slows hydrolysis by rendering the peptide refractory to a subgroup of aminopeptidases (angiotensinase A). Such a substitution, combined with that of alanine or isoleucine in place of phenylalanine in position 8, yields potent angiotensin II receptor antagonists.



Figure 16. The biological functions of Angiotensin II

The various components of the cascade leading to the formation of Angiotensin II were characterized, including angiotensinogen, angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE), and angiotensin I, II (Figure 17) (266). Briefly, sympathetic stimulation (acting via  $\beta_1$ -adrenergic receptors), renal artery hypotension, and decreased sodium delivery to the distal tubules stimulate the release of renin by the kidney. Renin is an enzyme released from the kidney that acts upon the circulating substrate angiotensinogen, which undergoes proteolytic cleavage to form the decapeptide angiotensin I. Then angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) removes the carboxy-terminal dipeptide of angiotensin I to produce the octapeptide angiotensin II. The major determinant of the rate of angiotensin II production is the amount of renin released by the kidney.

Ang II has several very important functions, which are depicted in figure 16 (266). It constricts resistance vessels thereby increasing systemic vascular resistance and arterial pressure; acts upon the adrenal cortex to release aldosterone, which in turn acts upon the kidneys to increase sodium and fluid retention; stimulates the release of vasopressin (antidiuretic hormone, ADH) from the posterior pituitary which acts upon the kidneys to increase fluid retention; stimulates thirst centers within the brain; facilitates norepinephrine release from sympathetic nerve endings and inhibits norepinephrine re-uptake by nerve endings, thereby enhancing sympathetic adrenergic function; and stimulates cardiac and vascular hypertrophy. Angiotensin II is also involved in the development of cardiovascular diseases such as hypertension and atherosclerosis.



Figure 17. The synthesis of Angiotensin II

#### 4.3. AT1R signalling

Two major subtypes of Ang II receptors expressed in mammalian tissues are the AT1R and AT2R, with about 30% sequence identity (267). The AT1 receptor is 359 amino acids long, while the AT2 receptor consists of 363 amino acids. AT1R is principally coupled to  $G_q$ , leading to the activation of phospholipase C. It may also be coupled to  $G_i$ . Agonist-induced  $G_q$  activation results in activation of PLC $\beta$ , which catalyses the PIP<sub>2</sub> into IP<sub>3</sub> and DAG. DAG directly activates PKC, whereas IP<sub>3</sub> induces the release of Ca<sup>2+</sup> from intracellular stores (reviewed in (267)). For AT2R, the precise functions and intracellular signalling pathways have not been clearly defined.

AT1R also activates intracellular signalling pathways such as ERK1/2 (258) and JAK/STAT (270). Ang II was shown to activate ERK1/2 by two distinct mechanisms (258). Upon agonist stimulation, ERK1/2 are immediately and transiently activated via the G protein-dependent pathway, whereas βarrestin-mediated ERK1/2 activation is relatively slow but persistent (258). These results suggest that the cellular response mediated by two distinct pools of ERK1/2 activated via βarrestin and G protein must be distinct. However, the specific downstream substrates for the βarrestin-dependent ERK activity remain to be determined. Stimulation of AT1R induces the βarrestin-recruitment of the MAPK and JNK3 (257). However, βarrestin's role in recruiting this protein kinase remains to be determined. The AT1R-mediated activation of ERK1/2 can also occur via different pathways that include PKC, Ras/Raf (271), Pyk2 (272) and growth factor tyrosine protein kinases (273).

AT1R also induces the activation of the JAK/STAT pathway (274). The JAK protein kinases activate STAT (signal transducers and activators of transcription) and promote their migration to the nucleus to induce gene transcription (275). The binding of AT1R to the intracellular tyrosine protein kinase JAK 2 requires a motif in the AT1R C-terminus,  $Y^{319}IPP^{322}$  (274). However, no correlation between βarrestin and JAK activation has been reported yet for the internalization of receptor.

Interestingly, the AT1 receptor can form homodimers (276) and heterodimers with various other receptors, such as the bradykinin B2 receptor (277), the AT2R (278) and the  $\beta$ 2AR (279). These dimers may affect receptor signalling as well as receptor internalization or cell surface targeting (280). Some pathophysiological evidence

suggests that the AT1R homodimers contribute to an enhanced monocyte adhesiveness of hypertensive patients, thereby possibly sustaining the process of atherogenesis by chronic sensitization of circulating monocytes (276).

#### 4.4. AT1R endocytosis

Ang II binding causes rapid internalization of the AT1R (reviewed in (281)). However, studies on endogenous AT2R have demonstrated that AT2R is internalization deficient (282). So, this present paragraph will focus on the agonistinduced internalization of AT1R. The internalization of AT1R was previously shown to be unaffected by dominant negative forms of  $\beta$ arrestin or dynamin (222, 283). However, contradictory data have recently suggested that  $\beta$ arrestin proteins regulate endocytosis of this receptor. In  $\beta$ arrestin double knockout cells ( $\beta$ arr 1/2-KO), internalization decreased by approximately 80%. These results suggest that in these cells, the AT1R is primarily internalized in a  $\beta$ arrestin-dependent manner (87). Furthermore, this pathway was also confirmed by Gaborik *et al.* (284), who found that in three different cell types, the internalization of the AT1R is dependent on  $\beta$ arrestin and dynamin. These contradictory data suggest that multiple mechanisms might exist for the internalization of this receptor. However, at physiological hormone concentrations, endocytosis of AT1R occurs predominantly via a  $\beta$ arrestin- and dynamin-dependent mechanism (76, 87, 229, 284).

# 4.5. Molecular basis of AT1R internalization

Ang II binding to the AT1R induces a conformational change that results in isomerization of the receptor to its active conformation and acceleration of its internalization. Antagonists such as Losartan impair the AngII-mediated receptor internalization (285). Several point mutations of the AT1R cause impairment of receptor internalization and signal generation (Figure 18):



**Figure 18.** Schematic representation of the amino sequence of ATIR C-terminal tail. Black circles represent residues that are important for receptor internalization.

Substitution of aspartic acid residue  $(Asp^{74})$  in the second transmembrane helix disrupts G protein coupling of the AT1R (286), but the internalization is slightly impaired (285). The AT1R mutation of the conserved tyrosine  $(Tyr^{302})$  or other amino acids in the NPXY sequence in the seventh transmembrane helix, causes a relatively minor effect on receptor internalization but affects the G protein activation (287). A serine-threonine-rich region in the cytoplasmic tail, which includes the Ser<sup>335</sup>-Thr<sup>336</sup>-Leu<sup>337</sup> sequence and the presence of proximal amino acids in the cytoplasmic tail , including leucine (Leu<sup>316</sup>) and tyrosine (Tyr<sup>319</sup>) have also been shown to be important for AT1R internalization (288). Despite the difficulties in detecting endogenous AT1R, it has been shown using epitope-tagged receptors that AT1R is indeed phosphorylated. These studies have shown that the agonist-induced phosphorylation of AT1R is initially mediated by PKC, GRK2 and GRK5 (289, 290). Furthermore, two residues Ser<sup>335</sup>-Thr<sup>336</sup> were found to be rapidly phosphorylated after receptor activation (291).

#### 4.6. The fate of the receptor

AT1R is co-localized in endosomes with βarrestin, indicating that the receptor maintains its active conformation for some time after the formation of endocytic vesicles (232). AT1R are then trafficked through early endosomes (Rab5) and some of them associate with Rab7 in late endosomes (292). During this transition, vesicular acidification can promote the dissociation of the ligand and receptor recycling through Rab11 in recycling vesicles (292). The AT1R possibly recycles to the plasma membrane in a state uncoupled from G proteins; the affinity of the recycled-AT1R for the Ang II was shown to be reduced (293).

# 4.7. Role of AT1R internalization in transgenic mice

Mice lacking both isoforms,  $AT1_AR$  and  $AT1_BR$ , have a severe phenotype with abnormalities in renal structure/function, and low blood pressure (294). In previous *in vitro* studies, AT1-i2m (a receptor mutant in its intracellular second loop) is incapable of activating  $G\alpha_q$  and  $G\alpha_i$ , but retains the ability to activate effectors such as Src and ERK (295). However, the physiological roles of these activated-effectors following AT1R stimulation remain unclear. Recently, it was demonstrated that the i2m mice display a pronounced cardiac phenotype as compared to wild-type mice (296). These data suggest a possible role for AT1R internalization independently of G protein signalling in the regulation of cardiac ion channels. These results may reveal an unexpected physiologic role for AT1R internalization in cardiac function, which remains to be defined.
Section II: Rationale and Objectives

# **SECTION II**

-

## **RATIONALE AND OBJECTIVES**

The general aim of this thesis is to advance our understanding of the mechanisms regulating GPCR internalization. Growing interest in this field is due to their involvement in the regulation of a number of functions, including cardiovascular responsiveness. Following their activation, these receptors enter the cells, a process named receptor **internalization**. This process requires receptor **desensitization** which is achieved by receptor phosphorylation, sequestration and internalization. In this manner, receptors are removed from the surface and transferred into cells. Inside the cells, receptors are embanded into small membrane vesicles (**endosomes**) which may be recycled back to the plasma membrane in order to renew their fully functional coupling with proteins and effectors (*i.e.* **resensitization**). GPCR expression can also be regulated by a process of **down-regulation** which is a terminal stage of receptor life where receptors are degradated in lysosomes.

The current proposed model for GPCR internalization is essentially based on β2-AR studies. Briefly, following agonist stimulation, GPCRs undergo conformational changes that allow binding of G proteins, leading to the activation of different effectors and signalling pathways (2). The desensitization process is then activated (Figure 1). One of the first steps involves the functional "uncoupling" of the G proteins from the receptors. The receptor is subsequently phosphorylated by GRKs to enhance the binding of  $\beta$  arrestins (step 1).  $\beta$  arrestins act as scaffolding intermediates with components of the clathrin-coated-pit machinery, thus stabilizing association with clathrin-coated pits (CCPs) (steps 2 and 3). The formed pits progressively invaginate and are finally released into the cytosol as a free CCV (step 4), a step which requires the GTPase activity of dynamin to pinch off clathrin-coated vesicles from the plasma membrane (184). This signal comes from phosphorylation of dynamin by Src, which is itself recruited to and activated by GPCR-bound Barrestin (96). Clathrin-coated vesicles are then uncoated after endocytosis and fuse with early endosomes (step 5). The early endosome controls the activity and the destination of proteins in the compartment. Therefore endosomes are a key control point for sorting receptors, which can be directed to recycling endosomes and back to the cell surface (step 6), or directed to lysosomes for degradation (step 7).



1

#### Figure 1. Model for Barrestin-mediated internalization of GPCR via clathrin-coated pits

Internalization and recycling of GPCRs. Upon agonist binding, receptors are phosphorylated by GRKs leading to the recruitment of  $\beta$  arrestins (step1). Beta-arrestins, through their interaction with clathrin and AP-2, target the receptor/arrestin complexes to clathrin coated pits (step2). Beta-arrestins also bind c-Src (2 and 3). Dynamin (step3), a GTPase, regulates the pinching off from the cell surface of clathrin coated-pits (step3 and 4). Once clathrin coated vesicles are formed (step4), the receptor is then internalized into endosomes (step5) where it is dephosphorylated before returning to the cell surface (step6), or the receptor is degradated to lysosomes (step7).

The mechanisms that activate and deactivate AT1R are complex, involving Barrestin binding to the phosphorylated receptors and thus, promoting G-protein uncoupling and internalization. Beta-arrestins are also now thought to function as scaffolds that recruit regulatory molecules to the receptor. The proteins that interact with AT1R via βarrestin are unknown and important to characterize. For instance, the Barrestin-mediated internalization of AT1R is controversial and poorly described. In addition, the involvement of signalling molecules such as c-Src in receptor internalization has only been reported for a few receptors. In an attempt to better characterize AT1R internalization, we searched, in our first study, for possible functional protein interactions regulating the endocytic complex formation during receptor internalization. Two main studies were critical in establishing our hypothesis. The first study describes the recruitment of c-Src protein kinase to Barrestin to further regulate  $\beta$ 2-AR internalization (97). The second study shows that the activation of the β2-AR promotes the recruitment of the clathrin adaptor AP-2 to βarrestin for CCV formation (90). These findings constituted evidence that the formation of an endocytic complex tightly regulates GPCR internalization. Thus, we investigated whether Barrestin could serve as an adaptor for both AP-2 and c-Src during the internalization of a controversial receptor: the AT1R. We first decided to determine if the agoniststimulation of AT1R could lead to the formation of Barrestin/AP-2 complex with c-Src. We worked on the assumption that AP-2, c-Src and βarrestin could be present in the same endocytic complex and indeed, we found, in cells, that Angiotensin II promotes this endogenous complex formation. Using active or inactive c-Src protein kinase mutants, we determined that c-Src functions as an adaptor to stabilize the AP- $2/\beta$ arrestin association but also as a protein kinase to regulate this interaction. To further understand the importance of this interaction, we performed siRNA experiments to reduce c-Src expression in cells and determine its impact on the complex formation and also on receptor internalization. This work is presented, in section III, with the first manuscript entitled, 'c-Src regulates AP-2 interaction with beta-arrestin and the Angiotensin II type 1 receptor during clathrin-mediated internalization'. This paper shows that βarrestins interact with both c-Src and AP-2 in response to the activation of AT1R to regulate receptor internalization.

In our first study, we have demonstrated the agonist-mediated formation of an endocytic complex containing c-Src, βarrestin and AP-2 during AT1R internalization. Thus, our objective in section IV was to understand the regulation of that complex formation. A few examples of the phosphorylation mechanisms occurring during GPCR internalization were previously reported. Indeed, dynamin was shown to be tyrosine phosphorylated, and to regulate  $\beta$ 2-AR internalization (170). We started our study by investigating whether the activation of AT1R could induce the phosphorylation of the endocytic Barrestin partner: AP-2, and, if so, to identify the tyrosine residue(s). Interestingly, we found that activation of AT1R with Ang II promotes the tyrosine phosphorylation of AP-2. We then further characterized the role of this phosphorylation during receptor internalization. One possibility was that the phosphorylation of AP-2 could modify the interaction between proteins in the endocytic complex. Because of our previous findings showing that the protein kinase activity of c-Src controls the Barrestin/AP-2 association, we decided to assess the effect of AP-2 phosphorylation on its binding with βarrestin first in vitro and secondly in vivo by BRET assay. This study is presented in section IV with the second manuscript entitled, 'c-Src-mediated phosphorylation of  $\beta$ 2-adaptin reveals a role in the formation of the Barrestin/AP-2 endocytic complex during Angiotensin Type 1 Receptor Internalization'. This paper describes how c-Src regulates the early steps of AT1R internalization via the clathrin-coated vesicles and shows that the beta-subunit of AP-2 (B2-adaptin) is tyrosine phosphorylated upon AT1R activation to regulate its interaction with Barrestin.

In light of the literature review presented in a section I, and the two manuscripts in section III and IV, I will propose a model for AT1R internalization via clathrin-coated vesicles. The possible mechanisms for c-Src activation, the implication of these findings, and their physiological relevance are discussed in section V.

#### **CONNECTING TEXT**

The following section III entitled, "c-Src regulates AP-2 interaction with betaarrestin and the angiotensin II type 1 receptor during clathrin-mediated internalization", demonstrates the now well-appreciated role for  $\beta$ arrestin as an adaptor during GPCR endocytosis. Our objective was to show that c-Src was also a key player in  $\beta$ arrestin-dependent internalization. Indeed, in the literature, it has only been shown for  $\beta$ 2-AR that  $\beta$ arrestin serves as a scaffold to recruit c-Src (97) but it was unclear whether other GPCRs such as the AT1R could also induce the  $\beta$ arrestin-mediated c-Src recruitment. It was reported separately for the  $\beta$ 2-AR that  $\beta$ arrestin, in an agonistdependent fashion, recruits the clathrin-adaptor AP-2 (91). However, it was unknown if the AT1R also recruits AP-2 and if so, whether the  $\beta$ arrestin/c-Src complex was necessary for AP-2 association. Taken together, it was of great interest to study:

- 1) whether AP-2 could be recruited to the  $AT1R/\beta$ arrestin complex.
- 2) c-Src effects on the early events of AT1R internalization: the  $\beta$ arrestin/AP-2 complex formation
- 2) the role for c-Src in the clathrin-mediated AT1R internalization

Section III : Manuscript 1

## **SECTION III**

### C-SRC REGULATES AP-2 INTERACTION WITH BETA-ARRESTIN AND THE ANGIOTENSIN II TYPE 1 RECEPTOR DURING CLATHRIN-MEDIATED INTERNALIZATION.

Reproduced with permission from Delphine Fessart, May Simaan and Stéphane A. Laporte. 2005; *c-Src regulates AP-2 interaction with beta-arrestin and the angiotensin II type 1 receptor during clathrin-mediated internalization*. **Molecular Endocrinology 19**, 491-503. Copyright 2005 by *The Endocrine Society*, all rights reserved.

#### ABSTRACT

Beta-arrestins are multifunctional adaptors involved in the internalization and signaling of G protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs). They target receptors to clathrincoated pits (CCPs) through binding with clathrin and AP-2 complex. They also act as transducers of signaling by recruiting c-Src kinase to certain GPCRs. Here we sought to determine whether c-Src regulates the recruitment of AP-2 to Barrestin and the Angiotensin II (Ang II) type 1 receptor (AT1R) during internalization. We show that the agonist stimulation of native AT1R in vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs) induces the formation of an endogenous complex containing c-Src, Barrestins and AP-2. In vitro studies using co-immunoprecipitation experiments and a yeast three-hybrid assay reveal that c-Src stabilizes the agonist-independent association between Barrestin2 and the  $\beta$ -subunit of AP-2 independently of the kinase activity of c-Src. However, while c-Src expression promoted the rapid dissociation of AP-2 from both Barrestin and AT1R following receptor stimulation, a kinase inactive mutant of c-Src failed to induce the dissociation of AP-2 from the agonist-occupied receptor. Thus, the consequence of c-Src in regulating the dissociation of AP-2 from the receptor was also examined on the internalization of AT1R by depleting c-Src in HEK 293 cells using a small interfering RNA strategy. Experiments in c-Src depleted cells reveal that AT1R remained mostly colocalized with AP-2 at the plasma membrane following Ang II stimulation, consistent with the observed delay in receptor internalization. Moreover, co-immunoprecipitation experiments in c-Src depleted HEK 293 cells and VSMCs showed an increased association of AP-2 to the agonist-occupied AT1R and ßarrestin, respectively. Together our results support a role for c-Src in regulating the dissociation of AP-2 from agonist-occupied AT1R and Barrestin during the clathrinmediated internalization of receptors, and suggest a novel function for c-Src kinase in the internalization of AT1R.

#### **INTRODUCTION**

G protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs) are integral membrane proteins that are responsible for controlling an array of physiological responses such as phototransduction, olfaction, neurotransmission, vascular tone, cardiac output, and pain. The intensity and the duration of a response are dependent on the balance that exists between mechanisms that regulate the coupling of the receptors to their downstream effectors and those that terminate the signaling. Mechanisms that rapidly turn off signaling include desensitization, whereby receptors become refractory to subsequent stimuli, and internalization, where receptors are removed from the plasma membrane (a process also referred to as sequestration or endocytosis) (1, 2). Internalization of GPCRs can lead to the reestablishment of the cellular response by the recycling of receptors to the plasma membrane, or the prevention of further signaling by targeting receptors for degradation.

Homologous desensitization and internalization of receptors involve common and distinct steps. Agonist stimulation of GPCRs promotes the phosphorylation of receptors by G protein-coupled receptor kinases (GRKs), and the recruitment of nonvisual arrestin proteins (Barrestin1 and Barrestin2) to the phosphorylated receptors (1). Beta-arrestins bind to the agonist-occupied GPCR to prevent second-messenger signaling, and act as adaptors to target desensitized receptors to clathrin-coated vesicles (CCVs) at the plasma membrane (i.e. clathrin-coated pits; CCPs) for internalization (3, 4). The involvement of Barrestins in the internalization of the B2adrenergic receptor ( $\beta$ 2AR) and the Angiotensin II (Ang II) type 1 receptor (AT1R) has been demonstrated using different approaches, and more recently by gene disruption and post-transcriptional silencing of Barrestins (5, 6). In the case of the B2AR, Barrestins are believed to link the agonist-occupied receptors to CCPs by interacting through their C-terminal domains with both clathrin and the B-subunit of the heterotetrameric adaptor AP-2 complex (B2-adaptin) (7-10). Many studies indicate that AT1R can internalize via CCVs in both heterologous and endogenous systems (11-15) but the underlying mechanisms regulating ßarrestin-mediated endocytosis of AT1R and other GPCRs still remain poorly understood.

In addition to their roles in GPCR desensitization and internalization, recent evidence indicates that ßarrestins can also participate in receptor signaling by functioning as adaptors for the recruitment of signaling molecules to agonist-occupied receptors (16). For instance, ßarrestins have been shown to recruit the non-receptor tyrosine kinase c-Src to the ß2AR (17) and the neurokinin-1 receptor (NK-1) (18). The ßarrestin-mediated recruitment of c-Src to the agonist-occupied ß2AR regulates the function of the endocytic protein dynamin, a GTPase involved in the fission of CCPs from the plasma membrane (8, 17). Given the dual adaptor role for ßarrestins in the internalization and signaling of GPCRs, we hypothesize that c-Src could also regulate the recruitment of other endocytic proteins like AP-2 to the agonist-induced AT1R/ßarrestin complex, and consequently impact the early steps of receptor internalization.

#### RESULTS

Angiotensin II promotes the formation of an endogenous complex containing c-Src,  $\beta$  arrestin and AP-2. We have previously shown that the internalization of certain GPCRs, via the clathrin pathway, requires the recruitment of Barrestin to the receptor, and the interaction of Barrestin with the heterotetrameric AP-2 complex (via its  $\beta$ -subunit, *i.e.*  $\beta$ -adaptin) (9). More recently, it has been suggested by different groups that Barrestins act as signaling adaptors for the recruitment of c-Src family kinases to some GPCRs (17-19). In order to determine whether c-Src could participate in the association between ßarrestin and AP-2, we first examined in an endogenous system, whether the agonist stimulation of AT1R promoted the formation of a complex containing c-Src, ßarrestin, and AP-2. Vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs) expressing endogenous AT1R (around 100 fmol/mg of total protein as estimated by radioligand binding experiments; data not shown) were serum starved for 12 h and then either left untreated or treated with Ang II for 5 min at 37°C. Cells were then solubilized and endogenous c-Src was immunoprecipitated. Interacting proteins in the complex were identified by Western blot analysis using antibodies against the alpha subunit of AP-2 and Barrestin (Fig. 1). Results show that in the absence of agonist stimulation, little ßarrestin and no AP-2 complex were detected in the c-Src immunoprecipitates. However, following agonist stimulation of native AT1R, a robust association of both ßarrestin and AP-2 was observed with c-Src. These results show that the agonist stimulation of AT1R in a native system like VSMCs promotes the formation of an endogenous complex including c-Src, Barrestin, and AP-2.

c-Src increases the association between  $\beta$  arrestin and  $\beta$ 2-adaptin independently of its kinase a ctivity. The Ang II-mediated formation of a complex containing  $\beta$  arrestin, AP-2 and c-Src in VSMCs, and the recent demonstration that c-Src and  $\beta$  arrestin associate with each other when overexpressed in COS-7 cells (20), suggest that c-Src is involved in stabilizing the association between  $\beta$  arrestin and AP-2. We therefore reasoned that by increasing the expression of c-Src in cells, we could induce the agonist-independent association between  $\beta$  arrestin and AP-2. To test this possibility, COS-7 cells were transfected with Flag-tagged Barrestin2 and increasing amounts of HA-tagged c-Src, and the level of endogenous AP-2 (as assessed by the presence of B-subunit of the AP-2 complex, i.e. B2-adaptin) in the Barrestin immunoprecipitates was identified by Western blot analysis (Fig. 2A). In the absence of c-Src overexpression (Fig. 2A, first lane), no B2-adaptin was detected in the Barrestin immuno-complex. However, increasing the expression of c-Src resulted in the increased formation of a ßarrestin/AP-2 complex. We next examined whether this c-Src-mediated GPCR-independent association between ßarrestin2 and AP-2 was dependent on the kinase activity of c-Src. To this end, we overexpressed Barrestin2-Flag and ß2-adaptin in COS-7 cells with either wild type c-Src or a mutant that mimics the activated form of c-Src (c-Src-Y530F) or the kinase dead c-Src-K298R (Fig. 2B and 2C), and assessed the ability of the different c-Src constructs to promote the association between B2-adaptin and Barrestin. We first determined the relative level of kinase activity of the different c-Src constructs by probing the total lysates from cells expressing wild type and c-Src mutants using an anti-phosphotyrosine antibody (Fig. 2B). The expression of wild type c-Src and c-Src-Y530F had similar effects on the pattern of protein phosphorylation, whereas almost no phosphorylation of proteins was detected in cells overexpressing c-Src-K298R, suggesting that at the levels of c-Src and c-Src-Y530F expression, both kinases had a similar activity in cells. Subsequently, these different constructs were overexpressed in COS-7 cells, and the amounts of AP-2 and c-Src associated to the immunopurified Barrestin2 complexes were analyzed. Although we found that all c-Src constructs were able to associate with ßarrestin2, only wild type c-Src and the K298R mutant promoted the formation of a ternary complex that included b2-adaptin and barrestin (Fig. 2C). These results imply that the kinase activity of c-Src is not required to promote the agonistindependent association of AP-2 with Barrestin2.

To verify that c-Src directly contributed to the formation of a ternary complex with ßarrestin2 and ß2-adaptin, and also to confirm that this complex formation is independent of c-Src kinase activity, we used a modification of the yeast two-hybrid system (yeast three-hybrid). We have previously shown using a similar assay that the

interaction between Barrestin and B2-adaptin could be detected (8, 9). We expressed Barrestin2 fused to the DNA binding domain (DBD) of GAL4 and B2-adaptin fused to the activation domain (AD) of GAL4, and assessed the effect of c-Src expression on the transactivation of the auxotrophic HIS3 and the reporter lacZ genes (Fig. 3C). The expression vectors for Barrestin2 and the B2-adaptin were co-transformed into yeast strain PJ69-4a with the empty vector p426-ADH or with the p426-ADH-c-Src mutant (c-Src-G2A,-Y416F,-Y527F). This mutant lacks the myristoylation site, to reduce its membrane association, and is mutated on tyrosines 416 and 527 to prevent tyrosine phosphorylation, and hence the activation of c-Src (21). Yeasts were transformed with the expression vector for  $\beta$  arrestin2 alone (Fig.3A, lane A), or with  $\beta$ 2-adaptin (lane B), c-Src (lane C) or B2-adaptin and c-Src together (lane D). Cells were serially diluted and spotted onto plates lacking leucine, tryptophan, and uracil supplemented or not with histidine (Fig.3A, left panel and right panel). As shown here, the overexpression of Barrestin2 and B2-adaptin is sufficient to induce yeast growth on selective media lacking histidine (Fig. 3A right panel, lane B). The expression of c-Src with both Barrestin2 and B2-adaptin promoted the faster growth of yeasts (Fig. 3A right panel, compare lane D to lane B), suggesting that c-Src stabilizes the  $\beta$  arrestin/ $\beta$ 2-adaptin interaction. We also quantified the interaction between ßarrestin2 and ß2-adaptin using a lacZ reporter assay. Our results show that expression of c-Src with ßarrestin2 and B2-adaptin induced a 2-fold and a 4-fold increase in the B-galactosidase activity as compared to yeasts expressing Barrestin and B2-adaptin, or yeasts expressing Barrestin and c-Src, respectively (Fig. 3B, D vs B and D vs C, respectively). These results indicate that the expression of c-Src in yeast stabilizes the ternary complex containing Barrestin2 and B2-adaptin. As expected, we did not find that the expression of the c-Src mutant increased the tyrosine phosphorylation of total yeast protein (data not shown). Altogether, these results demonstrate that the interaction between ßarrestin and ß2-adaptin can be stabilized in the presence of c-Src, and support our previous observations that the kinase activity of c-Src is not necessary to induce the agonistindependent formation of the complex.

The c-Src-mediated formation of a  $\beta$  arrestin/AP-2 complex requires an intact  $\beta$ 2adaptin binding domain on *βarrestin*. We have previously shown that β2-adaptin binds directly Barrestin2 through a critical arginine residue (R396) present in the C-terminal domain of Barrestin (8). This region also contains a motif for the binding of clathrin (LIEF, residues 374-377) (7-9, 22). Therefore, we used different Barrestin2 mutants impaired in B2-adaptin binding (Barr2 R396A), impaired in both clathrin and B2adaptin binding (where the hydrophobic residues of LIEF motif were substituted for alanines, Barr2-R396A,-AAEA) or a truncated form of Barrestin2 lacking both sites (Barr2-T372), and assessed the ability of c-Src to promote the agonist-independent binding of B2-adaptin to the different Barrestin mutants. COS-7 cells were transfected with either Flag-tagged Barrestin2 or mutants, with or without HA-c-Src, and the amount of endogenous AP-2 in the Barrestin immunoprecipitates was determined by Western blot analysis (Fig. 4). As previously observed and shown here, the overexpression of HA-c-Src induced the association of AP-2 with Barrestin2 (Fig. 4 and Fig. 2). However, c-Src failed to promote the robust association of AP-2 to the different Barrestin2 mutants as compared to wild type Barrestin2 (Fig. 4). These results demonstrate that the c-Src-induced formation of a ßarrestin/AP-2 complex requires an intact ß2-adaptin binding site on ßarrestin2 C-terminal domain.

The kinase activity of c-Src is required to promote the dissociation of AP-2 from  $\beta$ arrestin2 and agonist-occupied AT1R. We have previously shown for some GPCRs internalizing via CCVs, such as the  $\beta$ 2AR that the recruitment of AP-2 to  $\beta$ arrestin and to the receptor required agonist activation (9). We therefore first verified whether the agonist stimulation of AT1R could induce the recruitment of AP-2 to  $\beta$ arrestin and the receptor (Fig. 5). COS-7 or HEK 293 cells were used to express Flag-tagged  $\beta$ arrestin2 and wild type AT1R, or Flag-tagged AT1R alone. Cells were serum-starved and then stimulated with Ang II for different periods of time (Fig. 5A and B, respectively).  $\beta$ arrestin2 in COS-7 cells or AT1R in HEK 293 cells was then immunoprecipitated and the amount of endogenous AP-2 in the complexes, as detected by the presence of  $\beta$ 2-adaptin, was determined by Western blot analysis (Fig. 5A and B, lane 1-3). In unstimulated cells, little association of AP-2 to  $\beta$ arrestin and AT1R

was observed, consistent with what we observed for other GPCRs (9). Stimulation of receptors induced the recruitment of AP-2 to both Barrestin and the receptor in a timedependent manner reaching a maximum after 5 min of agonist treatment (Fig. 5*A* and *B*, lane 1-3). Association of AP-2 with Barrestin was transient and the complex was lost after 15 min of agonist treatment (data not shown). The time frame of AP-2 recruitment to AT1R in HEK 293 cells (Fig 5*B*) was similar to that observed for the interaction between Barrestin and AP-2 in COS-7 cells (Fig 5*A*) or in HEK 293 cells (data not shown). Together, these results suggest that AP-2 is recruited to the same AT1R/Barrestin complex. Indeed, in a different set of experiments, when the agonist-occupied AT1R was immunoprecipitated, both Barrestin and AP-2 were found in the same receptor complex (data not shown).

To elucidate the mechanism by which c-Src regulates the agonist-mediated formation of this endocytic complex, we next assessed the effect of overexpressing c-Src on the association of AP-2 with Barrestin and AT1R following receptor stimulation. When c-Src was overexpressed, AP-2 was already detected in the Barrestin immunoprecipitates in the absence of agonist treatment, and almost amounted to levels of stimulated receptors in the condition where c-Src was not overexpressed (Fig. 5*A*, compare lane 3 with 4). Agonist-stimulation did not promote further recruitment of AP-2 to Barrestin, but instead induced the rapid dissociation of the complex, which was complete after 2 min of agonist treatment. The overexpression of c-Src also promoted a basal association of AP-2 with AT1R. Similar to the experiment with Barrestin, Ang II stimulation induced the rapid dissociation of AP-2 from the receptor (Fig 5*B*). AP-2 interaction with AT1R was completely lost after 5 min of Ang II stimulation. Our data indicate that c-Src overexpression promotes the rapid dissociation of AP-2 from agonist-occupied AT1R and Barrestin complexes.

To determine whether the kinase activity of c-Src is involved in regulating the dissociation of AP-2 from the agonist-stimulated receptor, we overexpressed the kinase inactive c-Src-K298R and assessed the recruitment of AP-2 to the agonist-occupied AT1R. HEK 293 cells were transfected with Flag-AT1R and c-Src-K298R, and the amount of endogenous AP-2 in the receptor immunoprecipitates was determined by Western blot analysis (Fig. 5*C*). The overexpression of c-Src-K298R

induced a basal association of AP-2 with the receptor, similar to that observed with wild type c-Src (compare Fig. 5C and 5B). However, whereas c-Src induced the rapid dissociation of AP-2 from agonist-occupied receptor (Fig. 5B), the stimulation of AT1R in cells expressing c-Src-K298R promoted both an increased and sustained association of AP-2 with the receptor. Altogether, these results indicate that the kinase activity of c-Src promotes the dissociation of AP-2 from Barrestin and AT1R only when receptors are activated by the ligand.

Depletion of c-Src affects the redistribution of agonist-bound AT1R inside the cell and the dissociation of AP-2 from the receptor and ßarrestin. We next examined the effect of depleting c-Src on the agonist-mediated endocytosis of AT1R using a small interfering RNA strategy (siRNA). HEK 293 cells were transfected with HA-AT1R and siRNA for human c-Src (siRNA-c-Src), and the ability of siRNAs to silence the expression of c-Src was compared to cells transfected with the receptor and either pcDNA3.1 (Mock) or siRNA for GAPDH (siRNA-GAPDH) (Fig. 6A). siRNA-c-Src reduced the expression of endogenous c-Src by more than 65 % and 55%, respectively, compared to either mock or the nonsilencing control siRNA-GAPDH. The silencing of c-Src showed significant selectivity and did not affect the expression of B2-adaptin and AT1R (Fig. 6A, and results not shown, respectively). We next investigated using confocal microscopy, the effect of siRNA-c-Src on the early events of AT1R internalization following agonist stimulation. HEK 293 cells were transfected with HA-AT1R and GFP-B2-adaptin as a marker of AP-2 complex (22, 23) with or without siRNA-c-Src, and cells were labeled at 14°C for receptor detection. The redistribution of labeled-AT1R and GFP-B2-adaptin was visualized after a 5 min treatment of cells with Ang II at 37°C. In the absence of agonist, AT1R was found at the plasma membrane in punctuate structures, and little colocalization of the receptor with GFP-B2-adaptin was observed (Fig. 6B, upper panel). Agonist treatment of cells for 5 min induced the rapid endocytosis of labeled-AT1R from the plasma membrane into intracellular vesicles with no noticeable redistribution of B2-adaptin fluorescence. In c-Src depleted cells and in the absence of Ang II stimulation, AT1R was found at the plasma membrane and did not colocalize with GFP-B2-adaptin even though

qualitatively more B2-adaptin fluorescence was detected at the plasma membrane. After agonist stimulation of receptors for 5 min, AT1R was found mainly at the plasma membrane and mostly colocalized with GFP-B2-adaptin (Fig. 6B, lower panel). The higher incidence of AT1R colocalization with ß2-adaptin at the plasma membrane in c-Src-depleted cells is consistent with a role of c-Src in regulating the dissociation of AP-2 from the receptor. In order to verify that c-Src depletion affected the dissociation of AP-2 from AT1R, we performed co-immunoprecipitation experiments on cells that were transfected using the same conditions as for the confocal experiments (Fig. 6C). Results show that in cells with reduced c-Src expression, a robust increase in the agonist-mediated association of AP-2 with the immunopurified AT1R was observed, as compared to non-depleted cells (mock) and GAPDH-depleted cells. We also assessed the effect of reducing c-Src expression on AT1R internalization by radio-ligand binding assay using <sup>125</sup>I-AngII. As shown in Fig. 6D, agonist stimulation of HEK 293 cells expressing the AT1R alone promoted the rapid internalization of receptor-ligand complex inside the cell, which reached a maximum after only 5 to 10 min of agonist stimulation. The nonsilencing control siRNA-GAPDH did not affect the rate or the extent to which AT1R internalizes. However, reducing the endogenous expression of c-Src delayed receptor endocytosis, and maximal internalization was reached only after 10 to 15 min of Ang II stimulation (Fig. 6D). Internalization was significantly reduced in c-Src-depleted cells as compared to non-depleted cells (AT1R alone) at 2 and 5 min of receptor stimulation  $(34\pm 3\% vs 52\pm 2\%)$ ; and  $41\pm 2\% vs 63\pm 4\%$ , respectively). The half-time of AT1R internalization (the time to which 50% of receptors were internalized) in c-Srcdepleted cells increased 2-fold as compared to non-silenced cells (Fig. 6D). The delay in the initial rate of AT1R internalization observed in c-Src-depleted cells suggests that c-Src is involved in the early events of receptor internalization.

To substantiate the role of c-Src in regulating the association of AP-2 with AT1R/ $\beta$ arrestin complexes, we depleted c-Src expression in an endogenous system like the VSMCs. Cells were first treated with control anti-sense DNA (CTL-1) or anti-sense DNA for c-Src (AS-1), and the amount of c-Src expression was assessed. As shown in figure 7*A*, AS-1 selectively decreased by more than 60% the expression of c-

- 70 -

Src, whereas the CTL-1 had no effect on the expression of the protein. We next performed co-immunoprecipitation experiment to assess the effect of reducing c-Src expression on AP-2 association with endogenous  $\beta$ arrestin following AT1R stimulation. VSMCs transfected with either AS-1 or CTL-1 were left unstimulated or stimulated with Ang II for 5 min, and the level of AP-2 (as assessed by the presence of the  $\beta$ 2-adaptin) in the  $\beta$ arrestin immunoprecipitates was evaluated by Western blot analysis (Fig. 7*B*). Ang II stimulation induced a rapid association of AP-2 with  $\beta$ arrestin. However, the extent to which AP-2 associated with  $\beta$ arrestin was greater in c-Src depleted VSMCs than in control cells. All together the results support the role of c-Src in regulating the dissociation of AP-2 from AT1R and  $\beta$ arrestin during the internalization of receptors.

#### DISCUSSION

Here we show that AP-2 is recruited to ßarrestin and AT1R after receptor stimulation, extending previous studies that AT1R internalizes through the clathrin pathway (11-15). More importantly, we provide evidence that c-Src regulates the binding of AP-2 to ßarrestin and agonist-occupied AT1R. Indeed, we demonstrate that c-Src can form a stable complex with AP-2 and ßarrestin, and that its kinase activity is required to promote the agonist-mediated dissociation of AP-2 from both ßarrestin and AT1R during receptor internalization. In support of these results, is our finding that depleting c-Src expression in cells increases the binding of AP-2 with the agonist stimulated AT1R and ßarrestin, and prevents the rapid redistribution of the agonist-bound receptor inside the cell.

The recruitment of AP-2 to Barrestin is mediated by the agonist stimulation of GPCRs (9). Interestingly, c-Src overexpression was sufficient to promote the stable association between AP-2 and Barrestin, and AT1R without inducing receptor endocytosis (results not shown). This effect was independent of the kinase activity of c-Src, but required the presence of an intact ß2-adaptin binding site on ßarrestin. It was recently suggested, based on the crystal structure of Barrestin that the activation of receptors is necessary to induce favorable conformational changes in Barrestin required to unveil the B2-adaptin binding site in the C-terminal domain of Barrestin (24). Our results suggest that c-Src binding to Barrestin induces a conformational change in Barrestin allowing the agonist-independent binding of AP-2 to Barrestin and AT1R. Interestingly, a mutant that mimics the activated form of c-Src (c-Src-Y530F) was unable to promote the association of AP-2 to Barrestin. One explanation may be that c-Src-Y530F cannot induce the appropriate conformation in Barrestin to promote the binding of B2-adaptin to Barrestin, even though we found that c-Src-Y530F still associated with Barrestin. Another possibility is that this c-Src mutant, because of its potentially increased kinase activity, induces the phosphorylation of protein(s) involved in the dissociation of AP-2 from Barrestin, thus preventing the formation of a ternary complex. This latter possibility raises the question of what proteins c-Src is

targeting? One potential candidate is the  $\beta$ -subunit of the AP-2 complex itself. It was recently reported that EGFR activation could induce the tyrosine phosphorylation of  $\beta$ 2-adaptin (25). Whether c-Src phosphorylates  $\beta$ 2-adaptin or other endocytic proteins following AT1R stimulation, and to what extent this phosphorylation plays a role in regulating the dissociation of AP-2 from  $\beta$ arrestin and the receptor remain to be determined.

The recruitment of signaling effectors into CCPs has been shown to affect components of the clathrin coat and to regulate the efficient agonist-dependent endocytosis of receptors. The presence of c-Src into CCPs affects coat proteins such as dynamin and clathrin (17, 26). For instance, EGFR stimulation induces the c-Srcdependent phosphorylation of dynamin and clathrin, which plays a role in EGFR endocytosis (26, 27). For GPCRs such as the B2AR, the agonist-dependent binding of Barrestin to receptors induces the formation of a complex containing Barrestin and c-Src (28). The Barrestin-mediated recruitment of c-Src to B2AR brings the kinase in close proximity of dynamin, and regulates the function of dynamin through phosphorylation (17). Our results suggest another function for the Barrestin-mediated recruitment of c-Src. In this paradigm, the agonist stimulation of AT1R promotes the translocation of Barrestin to the receptor, and the recruitment of both c-Src and AP-2 to the AT1R (Fig. 8). The binding of c-Src to Barrestin and AP-2 would then stabilize the endocytic complex, and allow the receptor to be efficiently targeted to the CCP. The Ang II-mediated recruitment of c-Src into the CCP would serve to regulate the dissociation of AP-2 from Barrestin, and may phosphorylate other proteins of the coat to ensure efficient endocytosis of AT1R. In this regard, it will be of interest to examine whether the stimulation of AT1R triggers the phosphorylation of dynamin and clathrin, and to which extent these c-Src-mediated events contribute in regulating the dissociation of AP-2 from the receptor/Barrestin complex, and affect the internalization of AT1R and/or other GPCRs that internalize in a Barrestin- and a clathrin-dependent manner.

Several lines of evidence suggest that for efficient clathrin-mediated internalization, the endocytic proteins that are recruited into CCPs for initiating endocytosis must ultimately dissociate from the internalizing vesicle (29, 30). For instance, the dissociation of AP-2 from its internalized CCV is believed to be necessary to allow the recycling of the clathrin adaptor for further rounds of CCP formation and receptor internalization. Thus, preventing the dissociation of AP-2 from Barrestin and/or AT1R would presumably affect the internalization of receptors. In support of this is our finding that AP-2 association with AT1R and Barrestin increases when c-Src expression was reduced in cells, and that under such condition the internalization of receptors was delayed. The accumulation of AP-2 to the receptor at the plasma membrane may ultimately impede the formation of subsequent CCPs, and slow down receptor internalization. Further studies will be necessary to determine the extent to which c-Src participate in the assembly and disassembly of CCPs and the internalization of other GPCRs.

In summary, our results provide a novel function for c-Src in the formation of endocytic complexes during the internalization of AT1R. They also provide another mechanism by which ßarrestin, through the recruitment of signaling effectors like c-Src; can regulate the internalization of receptors through the clathrin pathway.

#### **EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURES**

*Materials* – Angiotensin II was purchased from Sigma Chemical Co. [<sup>125</sup>I]-Angiotensin II (1000 Ci/mmol) was obtained from Dr Gaétan Guillemette (Université de Sherbrooke, QC, Canada) and prepared as previously described (31). Antibodies against  $\beta$ -adaptin,  $\alpha$ -adaptin, were from BD Transduction Laboratories, the c-Src SRC2 and HA rabbit antibodies were from Santa Cruz Biotechnology, the mouse anti-HA clone 12CA5 was from Roche, the FLAG antibody was from Sigma-Aldrich, and the c-Src antibody GD11 and the anti-phosphotyrosine 4G10 were from Upstate Biotechnology. The rabbit polyclonal  $\beta$ arrestin antibody (A1CT) was kindly provided by Dr Marc G. Caron (Duke University, NC).

Plasmids and constructs - The HA-tagged c-Src and the HA-tagged c-Src-Y530F mutant were a gift from Dr William E. Miller (University of Cincinnati, OH). HAtagged c-Src-K298R mutant was generated by polymerase chain reaction (PCR) using the full-length HA-tagged c-Src in pcDNA3. A PCR fragment was amplified using a forward primer containing the mutation coding for the substitution K298R and a BamHI restriction site, and a reverse primer overlapping the KpnI site in c-Src. The fragment was digested with BamHI and KpnI, and replaced into c-Src cut with the same enzymes. Flag-tagged Barrestin R396A, and R396A/AAEA were generated by replacing an XhoI/XbaI fragment from the rat ßarrestin2 wild type with a PCR product containing the mutations and the Flag sequence. The truncated Flag-tagged Barrestin2 (Barr2-T372) was generated by PCR using a similar cassette replacement strategy to insert the Flag sequence after K372 in Barrestin. The p426-ADH-c-Src was generated by excising the avian c-Src mutant (c-Src-G2A,-Y416F,-Y527F) from the p413-Gall vector (kindly provided by Dr Serge Lemay, McGill University, QC, Canada) with BamHI and SalI, and cloning the fragment into p426-ADH (kindly provided by Dr Bernard Turcotte, McGill University, QC, Canada) using the same restriction sites. Green-fluorescent-tagged B2-adaptin (GFP-B2-adaptin) construct was described

elsewhere (9). All constructs were analyzed by DNA sequencing (Service d'analyse et de synthèse d'acides nucléiques, Université Laval, QC, Canada).

Cell Culture and Transfection - Human embryonic kidney cells (HEK 293) were grown in Eagle's minimal essential medium (MEM, Gibco) supplemented with 10% (v/v) heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum (FBS, Gibco) and gentamicin (100  $\mu$ g/ml, Gibco). HEK 293 cells seeded in a 100 mm dish, at a density of  $2.5 \times 10^6$  cells/dish, were transiently transfected using a conventional calcium phosphate co-precipitation method. One to five  $\mu g$  of DNA were mixed in a solution containing 125 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub> in HEPES-Buffered Saline (25 mM HEPES pH 7.4, 140 mM NaCl, 0.75 mM Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>) for 5 min, and the mixed solution was then added to cells. Green monkey kidney cells (COS-7) were grown in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM, Gibco) supplemented with 10% (v/v) heat-inactivated FBS and gentamicin (100  $\mu$ g/ml). Transient transfections of COS-7 cells seeded in 60 mm dishes (at a density of 1x10<sup>6</sup> cells/dish) were performed using Lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen) according to the manufacturer's recommendations using a 1:3 ratio of DNA/Lipofectamine in Opti-MEM (Gibco). Twenty-four hours post-transfection, HEK 293 and COS-7 cells were serum-starved for 12h in DMEM before performing the experiments. For vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs; kindly provided by Dr Sylvain Meloche at the IRCM, QC, Canada), cells were grown in DMEM low glucose with 10% (v/v) heat-inactivated calf serum (Gibco) and gentamicin (100 µg/ml), and they were serum-starved in DMEM low glucose for 12h before performing the experiments.

Immunoprecipitation and Western blot experiments – HEK 293 or COS-7 cells were left untreated or treated with Ang II (100 nM) at 37°C for the indicated period of time. Following agonist stimulation, the reaction was stopped on ice by washing cells with ice-cold Phosphate-buffered saline (PBS). Cells were then solubilized in P-RIPA buffer (1 ml/100 mm dish) (20 mM TrisHCl pH 7.4, 150 mM NaCl, 1% Nonidet-P40 (v/v), 0.1% deoxycholate (w/v), 1 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>) containing 0.1 mM sodium orthovanadate, 1 mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride, 25 µg/ml leupeptin, 25 µg/ml aprotinin, and 1 mM pepstatin A for 30 min at 4°C. Cell lysates were centrifuged for 30 min at 21,000 x g and the supernatants were incubated with anti-Flag (30  $\mu$ g/ml, Sigma) or c-Src antibody (3 µg/ml, clone GD11, Upstate) with 20 µl of a 50% slurry mixture of protein A/G Sepharose beads for 2 h at 4°C. Beads were washed three times with P-RIPA, and denatured in Laemmli buffer (2X) (250 mM TrisHCl pH 6.8, 2% SDS (w/v), 10% Glycerol (v/v), 0.01% Bromophenol Blue (w/v), 5%  $\beta$ mercaptoethanol (v/v)). Proteins were separated on a 10% SDS-polyacrylamide gel (PAGE) before being transferred onto nitrocellulose membranes (Amersham Biosciences). Membranes were then blocked with a solution of PBS pH 7.4 containing 0.05% Tween20 (v/v) (PBS-T) supplemented with 10% skimned milk (w/v). Protein detection on membranes was assessed using either anti-c-Src antibody (1 µg/ml, clone GD11; or 0.2 µg/ml, SRC2), Flag antibody (2.5 µg/ml), HA antibody (0.2 µg/ml), phosphotyrosine antibody (0.2 µg/ml, clone 4G10), ß2-adaptin antibody (0.2 µg/ml, ßadaptin),  $\beta$ -adaptin antibody (0.25 µg/ml),  $\beta$ arrestin antibody (diluted 1/5,000; A1CT) in PBS-T containing 1% bovine serum albumin (BSA, fraction V; Sigma) (w/v) and 1% skimned milk (w/v). After 1 h incubation with the different primary antibodies, membranes were washed three times in PBS-T before being incubated at room temperature with horseradish peroxidase (HRP) conjugated goat anti-mouse antibody (diluted 1/10,000; Sigma), or HRP-goat anti-rabbit antibody (diluted 1/10,000; Sigma) for 30 min. Immunoreactivity was visualized by enhanced chemiluminescence according to the manufacter's instructions (SuperSignal, Pierce).

Immunofluorescence Experiments – HEK 293 cells were grown on 22 mm<sup>2</sup> cover slips in 6-well plates (250,000 cells/well), and transfected with GFP- $\beta$ 2-adaptin (0.5 $\mu$ g) and HA-AT1R (1.5  $\mu$ g). For AT1R immuno-detection, cells were pre-incubated for 1 h at 14°C with a mouse anti-HA antibody (20  $\mu$ g/ml, 12CA5), followed by incubation at 14°C for 1 h with a secondary goat anti-mouse antibody conjugated to AlexaFluor 568 (8  $\mu$ g/ml, Molecular Probes). Labeled cells were stimulated at 37°C with 100 nM Ang II for 5 min, and fixed for 15 min at room temperature with a solution of 4% paraformaldehyde (w/v) in PBS. Cover slips were mounted with GelTol Aqueous Mounting Medium (IMMUNON). Confocal images of labeled cells were acquired with a Zeiss LSM-510 META laser-scanning microscope using a 60x oil immersion lens. GFP-B2-adaptin and AlexaFluor 568-labeled receptor fluorescence was visualized using the multi-track mode with dual laser excitation (488 and 543 nm), and emission (BP 505-520 for GFP, and LP 560 for AlexaFluor 568) filter sets. Final figures were collated using Adobe Photoshop 7.0 and Illustrator 10.0 (Adobe, San Jose, CA).

Three-hybrid assay - Yeast two-hybrid MatchMaker System 2 (Clontech) was used with minor modifications to create a three-hybrid assay that allowed the detection of a ternary complex between Barrestin2, B2-adaptin and c-Src. Constructs for GAL4-DBD Barrestin2 in pAS2-1 and GAL4-AD B2-adaptin in pACT-2 were described elsewhere (9). PAS2-1-Barrestin2 and pACT-2-B2-adaptin vectors were cotransformed with the empty vector p426-ADH or the p426-ADH-c-Src into the yeast strain PJ69-4a using the PEG/lithium acetate method (Clontech). Yeast colonies were grown on medium lacking tryptophan, leucine and uracil for the selection of transformants expressing the bait vector (pAS2-1-Barrestin2), the prey vectors (pACT-2 or pACT-2-B2-adaptin), and the bridge vector with or without c-Src (p426-ADH-c-Src or p426-ADH). Proteinprotein interaction was assessed using the HIS3 auxotrophic complementation, and a lacZ reporter assay. For the B-galactosidase assay, three colonies of each transformation were selected and grown on YPD medium at 30°C overnight. The next day, the yeast cultures were diluted to an  $A_{600}$  of 0.2 in synthetic dropout medium (SD) lacking tryptophan, leucine and uracil, and grown for another 7 h at 30°C. Cultures were serially diluted at an  $A_{600}$  of 0.1, 0.002 and 0.004, and 10 µl of cell suspension were spotted onto medium lacking leucine, tryptophan and uracil (-Leu/-Trp/-Ura) for selection of yeasts expressing the bait, the prey and the bridge vector, respectively, and selected onto medium lacking leucine, tryptophan, uracil and histidine (-Leu/-Trp/-Ura/-His) for the detection of interactions between Barrestin2 and B2-adaptin. Histidine complementation was assessed in presence of 2.5 mM 3-amino-1,2,4-triazole (3-AT, Sigma). Beta-galactosidase activity was measured using the ONPG assay (O-

nitrophenyl  $\beta$ -D-galactopyranoside, Clontech). Briefly, yeasts were grown on a selective medium to an A<sub>600</sub> of 0.8-1.2, and cells from a 2 ml culture were collected by centrifugation. Pelleted cells were washed with cold Z-buffer (60 mM Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, 40 mM NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, 100 mM KCl, 1 mM MgSO<sub>4</sub>, and 30 mM  $\beta$ -mercaptoethanol, at pH 7.0), and vigorously resuspended in 800 µl of Z-buffer containing 0.1% SDS (w/v) and 0.5% CHCl<sub>3</sub> (v/v). Colorimetric reaction was started at 30°C by adding 160 µl of ONPG (4 mg/ml) to permeabilized cells. The reaction was stopped with 400 µl of Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> (1 M) when yellow coloration started to appear. The activity was measured at A<sub>420</sub> and Miller units were calculated from the equation (Units=1000x (A<sub>420</sub>/ volume of cells assayed x time of run x A<sub>600</sub>)).

SiRNA and antisense experiments – All double-stranded siRNAs were synthesized using the Silencer<sup>TM</sup> siRNA kit (Ambion®) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Twenty-one-mer oligonucleotides corresponding to the sense and antisense sequences of the human c-Src mRNA were screened for unique sequence in the National Center for Biotechnology Information database by using the BLAST search algorithm (accession number BC011566). The target mRNA identified for c-Src is 5'-AAG CAC UAC AAG AUC CGC AAG -3', and corresponded to the position 607-628 (relative to the start codon) of c-Src. An extension that corresponded to the T7 promoter primer sequence (5'-CCT GTC TCT-3') was added at the 3' end of the sense and anti-sense sequence. Control siRNA sense and anti-sense oligonucleotides for GAPDH were provided in the kit.

For AT1R immunoprecipitation experiments, HEK 293 cells were seeded at a density of 400,000 cells/well in 24-well plates, and transfected with Lipofectamine 2000. Briefly, pcDNA3.1 encoding the HA-AT1R (0.375  $\mu$ g/well) was added with pcDNA3.1 (0.375  $\mu$ g/well), siRNA-GAPDH (0.375  $\mu$ g/well) or siRNA-c-Src (0.375  $\mu$ g/well) and mixed with Lipofectamine 2000 (using a ratio of DNA/Lipofectamine of 1:2) in Opti-MEM. Complexes of DNA/Lipofectamine were added to cells in MEM without serum, and transfection was carried out for 12 h. The next day, media was replaced with complete MEM medium supplemented with 10% FBS (v/v) and gentamicin (100  $\mu$ g/ml).

For immunofluorescence experiments, cells were seeded in 6-well plates, at a density of 300,000 cells/well, and transfected with HA-AT1R (0.25  $\mu$ g/well) and GFP-B2-adaptin (0.125  $\mu$ g/well) with or without siRNA-c-Src (0.375  $\mu$ g/well) using the same DNA/Lipofectamine ratio as described above.

For AT1R internalization experiments, HEK 293 cells were seeded at a density of 70,000 cells/well in 24-well plates, and transfected with Lipofectamine 2000 as described above using the same DNA/Lipofectamine ratio. Briefly, pcDNA3.1 encoding the HA-AT1R (0.125  $\mu$ g/well) was added with pcDNA3.1 (0.5  $\mu$ g/well), siRNA-GAPDH (0.5  $\mu$ g/well) or siRNA-c-Src (0.5  $\mu$ g/well) and mixed with Lipofectamine 2000 in Opti-MEM. Transfection was carried out for 12h before replacing the medium with complete MEM supplemented with 10% FBS (v/v) and gentamicin (100  $\mu$ g/ml) and performing the experiment 72 h post-transfection.

For experiments depleting c-Src in VSMCs, an anti-sense oligonucleotide strategy was used. Control scramble phosphorothioate (CTL-1, 5'-GTC TTA GCC GGG ATC CGC TA-3') and anti-sense oligonucleotides complementary to the sequence of the rat c-Src mRNA (AS-1, 5'-TT GCT CTT GTT GCT GCC CAT-3', accession number NM\_031977) were designed and synthesized by Alpha DNA (Montreal, QC, Canada). VSMCs were seeded at a density of  $2x10^6$  cells in 10 cm dishes and transfected with anti-sense DNAs using Lipofectamine 2000 as described previously. Briefly, c-Src AS-1 (1.2-6.0µg, representing a final concentration of 50-250 nM in 4 ml) or CTL-1 (1.2 -2.4µg; 50-100 nM in 4 ml) were mixed using a ratio of oligonucleotide/Lipofectamine of 1:2 in Opti-MEM. Complexes were added to cells in DMEM (Gibco) without serum and transfection was carried out for 36 h before performing the experiments.

Internalization assay – Receptor internalization was performed as described previously with minor modifications (31). Briefly, HEK 293 cells seeded in 24-well plates were transfected with HA-AT1R with or without siRNAs. Thirty-six hours post-transfection cells were incubated at 37°C in DMEM containing 20 mM HEPES pH 7.4, 0.1 mg/ml Bacitracin (Sigma) and 0.2% BSA (w/v), in presence of 0.11 nM of  $[^{125}I]$ -Angiotensin II for the indicated period of time. Incubation was stopped on ice

- 80 -

by rapidly washing the cells three times with either ice-cold PBS to remove the unbound Ang II or ice-cold acid buffer (0.2 N acetic acid pH 3.5, 150 mM NaCl) to remove both the unbound and the cell surface receptor-bound agonist. Cells were then solubilized in 0.5 N NaOH, 0.05% SDS (w/v), and the radioligand content was evaluated by gamma-counting. Percent of receptor internalization was calculated from the ratio of acid-resistant binding over total binding (PBS wash). Data were analyzed by non-linear regression using Prism4 (GraphPad Software).

Data Analysis- Intensity of the signals from Western Blots was determined by densitometric analysis using Alpha Innotech Fluorochem imaging system (Packard Canberra), and was represented as the mean  $\pm$  S.E.M of at least three independent experiments. For densitometry analysis of Western blot and  $\beta$ -galactosidase assay, data were analyzed statistically by one-way ANOVA followed by a Bonferroni posttest for multiple comparisons, or by one-tail *t* test for single comparison. Means were considered significantly different when p values were at least below 0.05.

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Drs Stephen Ferguson and Audrey Claing for helpful discussion and comments. We are also grateful to the Claing lab for providing help with the siRNA. This work was supported by a Canadian Institutes of Health Research Grant (MOP-49447) to SAL. MS holds a Fonds de Recherche en Santé du Quebec (FRSQ) fellowship. SAL is a recipient of a Canada Research Chair in Molecular Endocrinology.

#### REFERENCES

- Lefkowitz RJ 1998 G protein-coupled receptors. III. New roles for receptor kinases and beta-arrestins in receptor signaling and desensitization. J Biol Chem 273:18677-80
- 2. Ferguson SS 2001 Evolving concepts in G protein-coupled receptor endocytosis: the role in receptor desensitization and signaling. Pharmacol Rev 53:1-24
- 3. Krupnick JG, Benovic JL 1998 The role of receptor kinases and arrestins in G protein-coupled receptor regulation. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 38:289-319
- Claing A, Laporte SA, Caron MG, Lefkowitz RJ 2002 Endocytosis of G protein-coupled receptors: roles of G protein-coupled receptor kinases and beta-arrestin proteins. Prog Neurobiol 66:61-79
- Kohout TA, Lin FS, Perry SJ, Conner DA, Lefkowitz RJ 2001 beta-Arrestin 1 and 2 differentially regulate heptahelical receptor signaling and trafficking. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98:1601-6
- Ahn S, Nelson CD, Garrison TR, Miller WE, Lefkowitz RJ 2003 Desensitization, internalization, and signaling functions of beta-arrestins demonstrated by RNA interference. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100:1740-4
- Krupnick JG, Goodman OB, Jr., Keen JH, Benovic JL 1997 Arrestin/clathrin interaction. Localization of the clathrin binding domain of nonvisual arrestins to the carboxy terminus. J Biol Chem 272:15011-6
- Laporte SA, Miller WE, Kim KM, Caron MG 2002 beta-Arrestin/AP-2 interaction in G protein-coupled receptor internalization: identification of a beta-arrestin binging site in beta 2-adaptin. J Biol Chem 277:9247-54
- Laporte SA, Oakley RH, Zhang J, et al. 1999 The beta2-adrenergic receptor/betaarrestin complex recruits the clathrin adaptor AP-2 during endocytosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96:3712-7

- Kim YM, Benovic JL 2002 Differential roles of arrestin-2 interaction with clathrin and adaptor protein 2 in G protein-coupled receptor trafficking. J Biol Chem 277:30760-8
- Bianchi C, Gutkowska J, De Lean A, et al. 1986 Fate of [1251]angiotensin II in adrenal zona glomerulosa cells. Endocrinology 118:2605-7
- Gaborik Z, Szaszak M, Szidonya L, et al. 2001 Beta-arrestin- and dynamindependent endocytosis of the AT1 angiotensin receptor. Mol Pharmacol 59:239-47
- Hein L, Meinel L, Pratt RE, Dzau VJ, Kobilka BK 1997 Intracellular trafficking of angiotensin II and its AT1 and AT2 receptors: evidence for selective sorting of receptor and ligand. Mol Endocrinol 11:1266-77
- Anderson KM, Murahashi T, Dostal DE, Peach MJ 1993 Morphological and biochemical analysis of angiotensin II internalization in cultured rat aortic smooth muscle cells. Am J Physiol 264:C179-88
- 15. Anborgh PH, Seachrist JL, Dale LB, Ferguson SS 2000 Receptor/beta-arrestin complex formation and the differential trafficking and resensitization of beta2adrenergic and angiotensin II type 1A receptors. Mol Endocrinol 14:2040-53
- 16. Luttrell LM, Lefkowitz RJ 2002 The role of beta-arrestins in the termination and transduction of G-protein-coupled receptor signals. J Cell Sci 115:455-65
- Ahn S, Maudsley S, Luttrell LM, Lefkowitz RJ, Daaka Y 1999 Src-mediated tyrosine phosphorylation of dynamin is required for beta2-adrenergic receptor internalization and mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling. J Biol Chem 274:1185-8
- 18. DeFea KA, Vaughn ZD, O'Bryan EM, Nishijima D, Dery O, Bunnett NW 2000 The proliferative and antiapoptotic effects of substance P are facilitated by formation of a beta -arrestin-dependent scaffolding complex. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97:11086-91

- Barlic J, Andrews JD, Kelvin AA, et al. 2000 Regulation of tyrosine kinase activation and granule release through beta-arrestin by CXCRI. Nat Immunol 1:227-33
- Miller WE, Maudsley S, Ahn S, Khan KD, Luttrell LM, Lefkowitz RJ 2000 beta-arrestin1 interacts with the catalytic domain of the tyrosine kinase c-SRC. Role of beta-arrestin1-dependent targeting of c-SRC in receptor endocytosis. J Biol Chem 275:11312-9
- 21. Keegan K, Cooper JA 1996 Use of the two hybrid system to detect the association of the protein-tyrosine-phosphatase, SHPTP2, with another SH2-containing protein, Grb7. Oncogene 12:1537-44
- 22. Laporte SA, Oakley RH, Holt JA, Barak LS, Caron MG 2000 The interaction of beta-arrestin with the AP-2 adaptor is required for the clustering of beta 2-adrenergic receptor into clathrin-coated pits. J Biol Chem 275:23120-6
- Rappoport JZ, Taha BW, Lemeer S, Benmerah A, Simon SM 2003 The AP-2 complex is excluded from the dynamic population of plasma membraneassociated clathrin. J Biol Chem 278:47357-60
- 24. Han M, Gurevich VV, Vishnivetskiy SA, Sigler PB, Schubert C 2001 Crystal structure of beta-arrestin at 1.9 A: possible mechanism of receptor binding and membrane Translocation. Structure (Camb) 9:869-80
- 25. Huang F, Jiang X, Sorkin A 2003 Tyrosine phosphorylation of the beta2 subunit of clathrin adaptor complex AP-2 reveals the role of a di-leucine motif in the epidermal growth factor receptor trafficking. J Biol Chem 278:43411-7
- 26. Wilde A, Beattie EC, Lem L, et al. 1999 EGF receptor signaling stimulates SRC kinase phosphorylation of clathrin, influencing clathrin redistribution and EGF uptake. Cell 96:677-87
- 27. Ahn S, Kim J, Lucaveche CL, et al. 2002 Src-dependent tyrosine phosphorylation regulates dynamin self-assembly and ligand-induced endocytosis of the epidermal growth factor receptor. J Biol Chem 277:26642-51

- Luttrell LM, Ferguson SS, Daaka Y, et al. 1999 Beta-arrestin-dependent formation of beta2 adrenergic receptor-Src protein kinase complexes. Science 283:655-61
- 29. Rappoport J, Simon S, Benmerah A 2004 Understanding living clathrin-coated pits. Traffic 5:327-37
- 30. Smythe E 2002 Regulating the clathrin-coated vesicle cycle by AP2 subunit phosphorylation. Trends Cell Biol 12:352-4
- 31. Laporte SA, Servant G, Richard DE, Escher E, Guillemette G, Leduc R 1996 The tyrosine within the NPXnY motif of the human angiotensin II type 1 receptor is involved in mediating signal transduction but is not essential for internalization. Mol Pharmacol 49:89-95

Fig. 1. Ang II promotes the formation of an endogenous complex containing c-Src, Barrestin, and AP-2. Vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs) were left untreated (-) or treated (+) with Ang II (100 nM) for 5 min at 37°C after serum starvation overnight. Endogenous c-Src was immunoprecipitated (IP) with the GD11 antibody, and proteins in the complex were detected by Western blot using c-Src (SRC2, Santa Cruz Biotechnology), Barrestins (A1CT), and the  $\alpha$ -subunit of AP-2 (BD Transduction Laboratories) antibodies as described in *Experimental Procedures*. Also presented are blots from whole cell extracts (Total, right panel) probed with the same antibodies. Blots are representative of three independent experiments.

### Fig.1 Fessart et al

-



IP: c-Src

Total

Fig. 2. c-Src overexpression increases the association between Barrestin and AP-2 independently of the c-Src kinase activity. A, COS-7 cells were transiently transfected with Flag-Barrestin2 and increasing amounts of HA-c-Src. Beta-arrestin was immunoprecipitated (IP) with Flag antibody (Sigma) and the amount of endogenous AP-2, as assessed by the presence of B2-adaptin in the Barrestin immunoprecipitates was analyzed by Western blot using a ß2-adaptin (BD Transduction Laboratories) antibody. Whole cell extracts (Total) were also blotted for detecting the level of c-Src expression using the HA (Santa Cruz Biotechnology) and ß2-adaptin (BD Transduction Laboratories) antibodies. B, COS-7 cells were transfected with Flag-Barrestin2, B2-adaptin and pcDNA3.1 (Mock) and either HA-c-Src, HA-c-Src-Y530F or HA-c-Src-K298R. Whole cell extracts (Total) were analyzed by Western blot (WB) with the anti-phosphotyrosine (P-Tyr) antibody 4G10 (Upstate C, Cells were transfected as in (B), and Flag-Barrestin was Biotechnology). immunoprecipitated (IP) with the Flag antibody (Sigma), and complexes were analyzed by Western blot for the detection of Barrestin, B2-adaptin and c-Src expression using the antibodies against Flag (Sigma), ß2-adaptin (BD Transduction Laboratories), and HA (Santa Cruz Biotechnology), respectively. Whole cell extracts (Total) were also blotted with anti-HA (Santa Cruz Biotechnology) and anti-B2-adaptin (BD Transduction Laboratories) antibodies, for detection of the different c-Src constructs and the B2-adaptin, respectively. Data are representative of at least three independent experiments.
# Fig. 2 Fessart et al



c-Src

β2-adaptin

Total

IP: Flag βarrestin

Fig. 3. c-Src increases the interaction between Barrestin and B2-adaptin in yeast. A, DNA encoding the hybrid protein ßarrestin2 (GAL4 DBD-ßarr2) was transformed in the yeast strain PJ69-4a alone (lane A), or with the hybrid protein ß2-adaptin (GAL4 AD B2-Ad) (lane B), c-Src (lane C), or B2-adaptin and c-Src together (lane D) as described in Experimental Procedures. Transformants were serially diluted (at an A<sub>600</sub> of 0.1, 0.002, 0.004, respectively) and 10 µl of cell suspension were spotted onto selective medium lacking leucine, tryptophan and uracil (-Leu/-Trp/-Ura), or lacking leucine, tryptophan, uracil and histidine (-Leu/-Trp/-Ura/-His). Protein-protein interaction was assessed for histidine complementation in presence of 2.5 mM 3-AT (A) and for  $\beta$ -galactosidase activity (B). Beta-galactosidase activity is expressed as Miller units as described in *Experimental Procedures*, and represents the mean  $\pm$ S.E.M of three independent transformations in triplicates. C, Schematic representation of ternary complex formation between the two hybrid proteins, Barrestin2 and B2adaptin, and the bridge protein c-Src. Results show that the expression of c-Src with the two hybrid proteins (column D) increases the  $\beta$ -galactosidase activity by 4-fold and 2-fold as compared to conditions when Barrestin2 and c-Src (column C), or Barrestin2 and B2-adaptin (column B) were expressed together. B2-adaptin expression alone or with c-Src did not increase significantly the B-galactosidase activity as compared to condition expressing Barrestin2 and c-Src (data not shown). \*\* p<0.01 and \*\*\* p<0.001 determined by one-way ANOVA, and was considered highly significant.

----



Fig. 4. Effect of c-Src expression on A P-2 association with ß arrestin mutants lacking  $\beta$ 2-adaptin and/or clathrin binding sites. *A-B*, COS-7 cells were transiently transfected with either Flag-ßarrestin2 or Flag-ßarrestin2-R396A, Flag-ßarrestin2-R396A/AAEA, Flag-ßarrestin2-T372, with or without HA-c-Src. ßarrestin2 wild type or mutants were immunoprecipitated with an anti-Flag antibody (Sigma), and the endogenous AP-2 in the immunoprecipitates was detected by Western Blot using  $\beta$ 2adaptin (BD Transduction Laboratories) antibody. Whole cell extracts (Total) were blotted with anti-HA (Santa Cruz Biotechnology) antibody for c-Src detection, and with the same anti- $\beta$ 2-adaptin antibody as described above. *B*, Results are expressed as the fold increase association of AP-2 with  $\beta$ arrestin2 in presence of c-Src (+) as compared to conditions where c-Src was not overexpressed (-), and represent the mean  $\pm$  S.E.M of at least three independent experiments. \* indicates p<0.05 and \*\* p<0.01 as compared with wild type  $\beta$ arrestin determined by one-way ANOVA test.

Fig. 4 Fessart et al



Fig. 5. c-Src promotes the dissociation of AP-2 from the agonist-occupied AT1R and Barrestin. COS-7 cells were transfected with AT1R and Flag-Barrestin2 with or without c-Src (*A*), or HEK 293 cells were transfected with Flag-AT1R with or without c-Src and c-Src-K298R (*B-C*). Cells were serum-starved 12 h before being stimulated with Ang II (1  $\mu$ M) for the indicated time, and Barrestin2 (*A*) or AT1R (*B-C*) were immunoprecipitated (IP) using an anti-Flag antibody (Sigma). Immunoprecipitates were analyzed by Western blot for the detection of associated endogenous AP-2 using an antibody against β2-adaptin (BD Transduction Laboratories). Whole cell extracts (Total) were also probed for the detection of c-Src using the GD11 antibody (Upstate) and Barrestin using the anti-Flag antibody. Data represent the relative amount of β2-adaptin found in AT1R and Barrestin2 immunoprecipitates following agonist-stimulation of receptors after normalizing for equal amounts of β2-adaptin present in total proteins, and are the mean  $\pm$  S.E.M of three independent experiments.



Fig. 6. Depleting c-Src in cells affects the agonist-mediated internalization of AT1R and its association with AP-2. A. HEK 293 cells were transiently transfected with HA-AT1R with pcDNA3.1 (Mock), siRNA-GAPDH, or siRNA-c-Src. A, Seventy-two hours after transfection, total cell lysates were analyzed by Western blot for the expression of endogenous c-Src using the GD11 (Upstate) and the B2-adaptin (BD Transduction Laboratories) antibodies. B, HEK 293 cells were transfected with HA-AT1R and GFP-B2-adaptin, and either pcDNA3.1 (upper panels) or siRNA-c-Src (lower panels). Cells were serum-starved for 12 h before being incubated with anti-HA antibody (12CA5, Roche) and with a secondary goat anti-mouse antibody conjugated to AlexaFluor 568 (Molecular Probes) as described in the Experimental Procedures. Cells were then washed, and were either left untreated or treated with Ang II (1  $\mu$ M) for 5 min at 37°C. The distribution of HA-AT1R and GFP-B2-adaptin was visualized by confocal microscopy. For each experiment, 25 different fields containing 1 to 2 cells were analyzed. Shown are representative images of receptor immuno-fluorescence (red) and GFP-B2-adaptin fluorescence (green) of three independent experiments. Colocalization (yellow) of GFP-B2-adaptin with the receptor is indicated by arrows. C, HEK 293 cells were transiently transfected with HA-AT1R with either pcDNA3.1 (Mock), siRNA-c-Src, or siRNA-GAPDH. Cells were serumstarved as previously described before being stimulated with Ang II (1 µM) for 5 min. AT1R was immunoprecipitated (IP) using an anti-HA antibody (Roche), and the immunoprecipitates were analyzed by Western blot for the detection of associated AP-2 using the ß2-adaptin antibody (BD Transduction Laboratories). Whole cell extracts (Total) were also probed for the expression of endogenous c-Src using the GD11 (Upstate) and the B2-adaptin (BD Transduction Laboratories) antibodies. Blots are representative of two independent experiments. D, For receptor internalization, cells were transfected with AT1R alone ( $\blacksquare$ ) and with either siRNA-c-Src ( $\triangle$ ) or siRNA-GAPDH ( $\Box$ ). Cells were incubated with [<sup>125</sup>I]-Ang II (0.11 nM) at 37°C for the different period of time, and the percent of receptor internalization was calculated as described in Experimental Procedures. Data are the mean ± S.E.M of three to five independent experiments, and were analyzed using Prism4 (GraphPad 4 Software). \* indicates p<0.05 siRNA-c-Src vs AT1R alone determined by an unpaired t test.

-

-



Fig. 7. Depleting c-Src in VSMCs increases the AngII-mediated AP-2 association with **Barrestin** A, VSMCs cells were transfected or left untransfected (Mock) with either anti-sense oligonucleotides for the rat c-Src (AS-1) or control oligonucleotides (CTL-1). Thirty-six hours after transfection, total cell lysates from VSMCs were analyzed by Western blot for the expression of endogenous c-Src using the GD11 (Upstate) and B2-adaptin (BD Transduction Laboratories) antibodies. B. VSMCs were transfected with oligonucleotides for 36 h in serum-free medium as described in the Experimental Procedures. Cells were then stimulated with Ang II (1 µM) for 5 min, and Barrestin was immunoprecipitated (IP) using the A1CT antibody. Proteins in the immunoprecipitated complexes were analyzed by Western blot for the detection of associated AP-2 using the B2-adaptin antibody. Whole cell extracts (Total) were also probed for the detection of endogenous c-Src using the GD11 (Upstate), Barrestin (A1CT) and  $\beta$ 2-adaptin antibodies. Shown in A and B are representative blots of 4 independent experiments. DATA were quantified, and presented as the relative amount of c-Src found in cells, after normalizing to the total amount of  $\beta$ 2-adaptin (A), and the fold increase over basal of the associated  $\beta$ 2-adaptin with  $\beta$ arrestin (B). \*, indicates p<0.05 AS-1 vs CTL-1 determined by one-tail paired t test.

# Fig. 7 Fessart et al

В



-



Fig. 8. Proposed model for the role of c-Src in the regulation of the interaction between AP-2, AT1R and ßarrestin during receptor internalization. Agonist stimulation of AT1R promotes the recruitment of a ternary complex containing c-Src, AP-2 and ßarrestin. The complex would then be targeted to CCPs, and the presence of multiple receptor complexes in addition to the recruitment of other endocytic proteins into the CCP would trigger the internalization of the coated vesicle. During AT1R internalization, c-Src could promote the dissociation of AP-2 from the receptor/ßarrestin complex to allow the recycling of AP-2 for further rounds of coat formation and AT1R targeting to CCPs. AT1R, Angiotensin II type 1 receptor; A, agonist.



#### **CONNECTING TEXT**

The following section entitled,  $\mathcal{E}$ -S rc-mediated phosphorylation of AP-2 regulates its dissociation from Barrestin During Angiotensin Type 1 Receptor Internalization", characterizes one mechanism regulating the formation of the endocytic complexes during internalization. In section III, our findings demonstrate that following Ang II stimulation of the AT1R, Barrestin forms a complex with the non-receptor tyrosine kinase c-Src and AP-2. The kinase activity of c-Src seems to regulate this endocytic complex (association versus dissociation). This is consistent with the observation reported in the literature showing that  $\beta$ 2-adaptin is tyrosine phosphorylated upon EGFR stimulation (297). Taken together, these data suggested that c-Src may phosphorylate AP-2 and thus, might be involved in the formation of endocytic complexes. Therefore, our aims were to determine:

- 1) whether Angiotensin II mediates c-Src-dependent phosphorylation of AP-2, and if so, where the phosphorylation occurs, and
- 2) whether phosphorylation may regulate the formation of the βarrestin-scaffold complex.

Section IV: Manuscript 2

# **SECTION IV**

# C-SRC-MEDIATED PHOSPHORYLATION OF AP-2 REGULATES ITS DISSOCIATION FROM BARRESTIN DURING ANGIOTENSIN TYPE 1 RECEPTOR INTERNALIZATION.

Reproduced with permission from Delphine Fessart, Fadi Hamdan, Michel Bouvier and Stéphane A. Laporte. 2006; *c-Src-mediated phosphorylation of \beta2-adaptin reveals a role in the formation of the \betaarrestin/AP-2 complex During AT1R Internalization*. To be submitted to the **Journal of Biological Chemistry**.

#### ABSTRACT

Apart from their role in G protein-coupled receptor (GPCR) internalization, Barrestins serve as scaffold proteins for receptor signaling and intracellular trafficking. Recently, we have shown that the stimulation of Angiotensin II type 1 receptor (AT1R), in vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs), promoted the formation of a multimeric complex containing endogenous c-Src, ßarrestin and AP-2. Here, we show that stimulation of AT1R in either VSMC or COS-7 cells promotes the tyrosine phosphorylation of B2-adaptin, a subunit of AP-2 complex. Phosphorylation can be selectively inhibited by a Src family kinase inhibitor PP2 and by the overexpression of a defective c-Src kinase mutant (c-Src-K298R). Moreover, using GST fusion proteins and pull-down assays, we identify a critical tyrosine residue in the ear domain of B2adaptin (Y737) as a target for c-Src-mediated phosphorylation, and show that this single phosphotyrosine residue regulates the binding of ßarrestin to ß2-adaptin. Finally, we used a Bioluminescence Resonance Energy Transfer (BRET) assay to investigate, in real time and in living cells, the regulatory role of c-Src toward the interaction between ßarrestin and AP-2. Results show that c-Src dramatically reduced the AngII-promoted interaction between Barrestin2 and wild-type B2-adaptin. However, c-Src had only a marginal effect on reducing the interaction between the two proteins when the Y737 in \2-adaptin was mutated. Taken together, our results support a role for tyrosine phosphorylation of the B2-adaptin ear domain in the regulation of endocytic complex formation during AT1R internalization.

#### INTRODUCTION

The G protein-coupled receptor (GPCR) family is intrinsically involved in many physiological functions including autocrine, paracrine and endocrine processes. Following agonist stimulation, the receptor conformation changes, which allow activation of G proteins and second-messenger production. Receptors are then phosphorylated by G protein-coupled receptor kinases (GRKs), which lead to the recruitment of the non-visual arrestin proteins (Barrestin1 and Barrestin2) (1), and uncoupling of receptors from their cognate G protein. Consequently Barrestins, target GPCRs to clathrin-coated vesicles (CCVs) for receptor internalization (2, 3). Clathrincoated vesicles (CCV) mediate the endocytosis of plasma membrane proteins to the endosomal/lysosomal system (4) and thus, involve cycles of assembly and disassembly of clathrin coat components and their accessory proteins.

Phosphorylation of proteins is usually described as a process to create highaffinity binding sites for recruiting proteins. However, phosphorylation events have been proposed to affect the interactions between proteins involved in endocytosis (5, 6). For example, *in vitro* dephosphorylation of rat brain extracts promotes the assembly of dynamin I, synaptojanin, amphiphysin, clathrin and AP-2 into complexes (5). Another example was showed with the c-Src-mediated phosphorylation of Caveolin-1 (7), suggesting a relationship between tyrosine kinase activity and release of caveolae from the membrane (8). Indeed, expression of either Y14F caveolin-1 or Y597F dynamin-2 abolished albumin endocytosis, indicating c-Src phosphorylation of these residues is required for signaling through caveolae-mediated endocytosis (8). Src family tyrosine kinases, which are activated by stimulation of G protein-coupled receptors (9-11) or tyrosine kinase receptors (12), also phosphorylate tyrosine residues on dynamin (13) important for the internalization of B2AR and the M1 muscarinic receptor (13, 14). Other studies have showed that both epsin and Eps15 are phosphorylated during mitosis and their phosphorylation inhibits binding to the clathrin adaptor AP-2 (6). Thus, overall these studies suggest that phosphorylation regulates the association and dissociation cycle of the clathrin-based endocytic machinery.

Phosphorylation and dephosphorylation reactions play an important role in regulation of the endocytic machinery but the signaling pathways mediating release of AP-2 from the CCV during GPCR endocytosis are poorly understood. No functional role for AP-2 tyrosine phosphorylation in GPCR endocytosis has been demonstrated yet, therefore our aim was to determine the role of phosphorylation of AP-2 during endocytosis of AT1R. We recently showed that c-Src was also involved in regulating the stability of endocytic complex during receptor internalization. Therefore, we investigated whether c-Src-dependent phosphorylation of AP-2 represents a potential mechanism for controlling the formation of endocytic complexes during the internalization of AT1R. To test our hypothesis, we first determined the extent to which AP-2 is phosphorylated by c-Src following AT1R activation. We further identified the putative tyrosine-phosphorylated residues within B2-adaptin, one of the major binding partners of Barrestin. Finally, we investigated the role of the Srcmediated B2-adaptin phosphorylation in regulating the interaction between AP-2 and Barrestin. This study illustrates that a general property of proteins involved in endocytosis is to undergo agonist-mediated phosphorylation for disassembly and to assemble in a dephosphorylated state.

### RESULTS

Angiotensin II promotes the *βarrestin-* and Src-dependent tyrosine phosphorylation of  $\beta$ 2-adaptin. We first assessed whether the agonist-mediated formation of a complex containing Barrestin, AP-2 and c-Src (15) could lead to the tyrosine phosphorylation of AP-2. We focused on the phosphorylation of the ßsubunit of AP-2, which was shown previously to bind directly to Barrestin (16). VSMC cells were stimulated for different periods of time with Ang II, and the endogenous  $\beta$ -subunits of the AP proteins were immunoprecipitated using an antibody recognizing both the  $\beta$ 1-adaptin from AP-1 and the  $\beta$ 2-adaptin from AP-2. The level of tyrosine phosphorylation in the immunopurified B-adaptin complexes was then analyzed by Western blot using an anti-phosphotyrosine antibody (Fig. 1A, upper panel). In conditions where dephosphorylation was prevented (using tyrosine phosphatase inhibitors), Ang II induced the phosphorylation of a 105 kDa protein in a time-dependent manner. Densitometric analysis (Fig. 1A, Graph) revealed that the phosphorylation of the 105 kDa protein increased after 5 min of Ang II stimulation, and reached a maximum after 15 minutes of agonist treatment. To confirm that the B2adaptin was a target for tyrosine phosphorylation, COS-7 cells were transfected with AT1R and Flag-tagged ß2-adaptin. The phosphorylation status of the immunopurified B2-subunit was assessed using the same conditions as for VSMCs. Results show an increase in tyrosine phosphorylation of the B2-subunit that was perceivable after 5 min of Ang II treatment (Fig. 1B, top panel), and reached a 4-fold increase after 15 min of agonist stimulation (Fig. 1B, Graph).

To demonstrate using a different approach that c-Src participates in the tyrosine phosphorylation of  $\beta$ 2-adaptin we first employed pharmacological inhibitors of tyrosine kinase activity. Phosphorylation was assessed following Ang II treatment in COS-7 cells transfected with AT1R and Flag-tagged  $\beta$ 2-adaptin; either treated with DMSO (vehicle), the c-Src kinase inhibitor (PP2), its inactive analogue (PP3), or the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) inhibitor PD158780 (Fig. 1*C*). Results show that PP2 robustly inhibited, by more than 90%, the tyrosine phosphorylation of  $\beta$ 2-adaptin as compared to cells treated with DMSO. PD158780 and PP3 had no

significant inhibitory effects on the Ang II-mediated  $\beta$ 2-adaptin phosphorylation, suggesting that phosphorylation is not dependent on the transactivation of the EGFR. We next used a dominant negative approach to assess the participation of c-Src in  $\beta$ 2-adaptin phosphorylation. COS-7 cells were transfected with AT1R, Flag- $\beta$ 2-adaptin, and either full length wild type c-Src or its kinase inactive form, (c-Src-K298R). Cells were then left untreated (-) or treated (+) with Ang II for 5 min, and the level of  $\beta$ 2-adaptin phosphorylation in the immunoprecipitates was evaluated by Western blot (Fig. 1*D*). Results show that upon agonist addition,  $\beta$ 2-adaptin was robustly phosphorylated in cells overexpressing c-Src, whereas overexpressing the inactive kinase prevented the Ang II-mediated-phosphorylation of  $\beta$ 2-adaptin. Taken together, these results provide clear evidence for a role of c-Src in the phosphorylation of  $\beta$ 2-adaptin.

The tyrosine residues 737, 874 and 926 in the C-terminal domain of  $\beta$ 2-adaptin are putative c-Src phosphorylation sites. The Ang II-mediated phosphorylation of B2adaptin observed in VSMCs and COS-7 cells, and the recent demonstration that c-Src regulates the dissociation of ß2-adaptin from the AT1R/ßarrestin complex (15) prompted us to investigate whether this phosphorylation process regulates the formation of a complex between ßarrestin and AP-2. To address this possibility, we first sought to identify the putative phosphotyrosine residues within β2-adaptin. We focussed on the C-terminal region of B2-adaptin where Barrestin has been shown to bind (17). The C-terminus of B2-adaptin is constituted of two distinct interaction domains: the hinge and the ear (Fig. 2A). Therefore, we used the  $\beta$ 2-adaptin Hinge +Ear domain (592-937; B2-ad (H+E)) and B2-adaptin Ear domain (664-937; B2-ad (E)), and assessed their ability to be phosphorylated by c-Src in vitro. To this end, HEK 293 cells were either transfected with HA-tagged B2-ad (E) or HA-tagged B2-ad (H+E), with or without c-Src overexpression. The  $\beta$ 2-adaptin constructs were then immunoprecipitated, and their tyrosine phosphorylation status was analyzed as described previously (Fig. 2B). Under conditions where c-Src was not overexpressed in cells (Fig. 2B, left panel), little tyrosine phosphorylation of the two B2-adaptin C-

terminal constructs was observed. However, overexpressing c-Src resulted in a strong increase in the phosphorylation of both  $\beta$ 2-adaptin constructs. As shown in figure 3A, the Ear domain of \u00df2-adaptin contains 9 tyrosine residues in its sequence. Consequently, to determine which tyrosine(s) are the preferred residues for c-Src phosphorylation, we generated a series of GST fusion proteins each one of which contains a different 9 amino-acid region from B2-adaptin which encompasses the different tyrosine residues (Table I and Fig. 3A). GST-fusion proteins were phosphorylated in vitro using purified c-Src, and their phosphorylation status was then analyzed by Western blot (Fig. 3A, lower panel). Results reveal that only three potential regions 733-741, 869-877 and 921-929 are substrates for c-Src-dependent phosphorylation. To verify that the Y737 and Y874 are phosphorylated, and to determine which tyrosine residue in the 921-929 sequence is phosphorylated, we used a site-directed mutagenesis approach. We first replaced the tyrosine residues by phenylalanines in the GST-733-741 (Y737F), -869-877 (Y874F) and -921-929 (Y926F) fusion peptides, and assessed their phosphorylation in vitro (Fig. 3B). In accordance with our previous finding (Fig. 3 A), an in vitro kinase assay reveals that the Y737 and Y874 are sites for c-Src phosphorylation. The substitution of the tyrosine Y926F alone in the 921-929 sequence was sufficient to prevent the phosphorylation of the peptide, suggesting that Y928 and Y931 are not preferred sites for c-Src kinase. Taken together our results suggest that Y737, Y874 and Y926 are all putative c-Src phosphorylation sites.

c-Src phosphorylation of Tyrosine 737 impairs the binding of  $\beta$ 2-adaptin to  $\beta$ arrestin. We next examined the impact of c-Src-dependent phosphorylation of  $\beta$ 2-adaptin on its association with Barrestins. To this end, GST-fusion proteins of the  $\beta$ 2-ad (E) were first phosphorylated *in vitro* with c-Src or left unphosphorylated (Fig.4A), and incubated with increasing amounts of cells lysates expressing either Flag-tagged Barrestin 1 or 2. The amounts of Barrestin associated with GST-fusion proteins were then analyzed by Western Blot (Fig. 4B). Barrestin1 and 2 pull-down with  $\beta$ 2-ad (E) augmented proportionally when increasing amounts of Barrestins were incubated with

the GST-fusion protein. However, when the  $\beta_2$ -ad (E) was first phosphorylated by c-Src before being incubated with Barrestins, we observed a substantial reduction in pullo-down of both Barrestin 1 and 2-associated proteins, as compared to conditions where GST-fusion proteins were left unphosphorylated (Fig 4*B*, compare right lanes with left lanes). These results imply that c-src-dependent phosphorylation of  $\beta_2$ adaptin decreases its ability to bind Barrestins.

We next used different GST-B2-ad (E) fusion proteins in which we substituted individually the 3 putative tyrosine residues identified previously (Y737F, Y874F and Y926F), and determined in vitro their relative level of phosphorylation by Western blot before assessing their ability to bind ßarrestins (Fig. 5). Although the three GSTfusion proteins mutants were phosphorylated in vitro, we qualitatively observed a reduction in Src-dependent tyrosine phosphorylation of the GST-B2-ad (E)-Y737F compared to the other two fusion proteins (Fig. 5A). The effect of c-Src-mediated tyrosine phosphorylation on the binding of Barrestin with the three different GSTfusion mutants was next examined (Fig. 5B). Results show a clear reduction in the binding of Barrestin 1 with both Src-phosphorylated GST-B2-ad (E)-Y874F and -Y926F, similar to what we observed with phosphorylated wild type GST-B2-ad (E) (Fig. 4). Similar results were also observed with ßarrestin 2 (data no shown). In marked contrast, phosphorylated GST-B2-ad (E)-Y737F showed no decrease in the binding of Barrestin 1, suggesting that B2-ad (E)-Y737F no longer phosphorylated on Tyr737 is not able to dissociate from Barrestin. Overall, our results demonstrate that Y737 is a critical residue for the c-Src-dependent regulation of B2-adaptin binding with **Barrestins**.

c-Src-mediated regulation of  $\beta$ arrestin/AP-2 interaction requires the phosphorylation of  $\beta$ 2-adaptin-Y737 in living cells. We next investigated whether c-Src modulates the agonist-induced  $\beta$ 2-adaptin/ $\beta$ arrestin interaction in living cells using a Bioluminescence Resonance Energy Transfer (BRET) assay. We assessed the transfer of energy between R-luc- $\beta$ arrestin2 and the full length YFP-tagged- $\beta$ 2-adaptin in the absence or presence of c-Src overexpression as previously described (Hamdan *et al.*, submitted manuscript). HEK293 cells stably expressing AT1R-FLAG were

transfected with Barrestin2-Rluc (the energy donor) and wild type B2-adaptin-YFP (the energy acceptor), and stimulated with Ang II up to 20 min during which signals were recorded. Results show that Ang II induce a rapid increase in BRET-detected signal that reached a plateau after 5 min of receptor activation (Fig. 6A). However, the BRET signal following Ang II stimulation was substantially impaired when c-Src was overexpressed. To further substantiate the effect of c-Src on the interaction between Barrestin and the full length B2-adaptin, we used the phosphorylation-impaired B2adaptin-Y737F mutant, and compared its association with Barrestin2 following Ang II stimulation (Fig. 6B). HEK 293 cells stably expressing the Flag-tagged AT1R were transfected with R-luc-ßarrestin2 and either the YFP-tagged ß2-adaptin wild type or the Y737F mutant, with or without c-Src overexpression. The BRET signal was measured after challenging the cells with different concentrations of Ang II for 20 minutes. As shown in Figure 6B, a dose dependent-increase in BRET reaching similar BRETmax was observed for the B2-adaptin-YFP and the B2-adaptin-Y737F-YFP  $(0.075 \pm 0.07 \text{ and } 0.073 \pm 0.07, \text{ respectively})$ . In contrast, the overexpression of c-Src decreased the BRETmax by more than 56 % for wild type ß2-adaptin, while for the ß2adaptin-Y737F mutant the BRETmax slightly decreased by less than 22 % (Fig. 6C). These results support our *in vitro* studies showing that Y737F is a critical residue for the c-Src-dependent regulation of B2-adaptin/Barrestin interaction in cells.

 $\beta$ 2-adaptin-Y737F mutant delays the early steps of AT1R internalization. We next investigated, using confocal microscopy the Barrestin/ B2-adaptin trafficking during the early events of AT1R internalization, and evaluated the impact of the Y737F mutant. HEK 293 cells stably expressing the Flag-AT1R were transfected with RFP-tagged Barrestin2 and either YFP-tagged-B2-adaptin wild type or the -Y737F mutant. The redistribution of Barrestin2-RFP and B2-adaptin-YFP was visualized after Ang II treatment of cells at 37°C for the indicated time. In the absence of agonist, Barrestin2 (*red*) was found in the cytosol, and B2-adaptin-YFP (*yellow*) appears in punctuated structures (Fig. 7*A*, panel D and A respectively). Agonist treatment of cells for 2 min induced the rapid translocation of Barrestin2 from the cytosol to the plasma membrane, which colocalized with B2-adaptin at the plasma membrane and also in

endocytic vesicles (Fig. 7A, panels B and E). With a longer agonist exposure for 5 minutes, Barr2-RFP was observed to redistribute from the plasma membrane to endocytic vesicles reflecting clathrin-mediated internalization (Fig. 7A, panel F) with some redistribution of B2-adaptin fluorescence (Fig. 7A, panel C). Although we did not observed any major change in the Barrestin/B2-adaptin trafficking for the -Y737F mutant (Fig. 7A, panels G-L), the trafficking events were delayed. To evaluate the rate Barrestin/ B2-adaptin trafficking, we stimulated the cells with AngII at early time points (120s and 300s) and counted the number of cells showing colocalization between Barrestin/B2-adaptin at the plasma membrane for the indicated times in 12 different fields (Fig. 7B). Maximum colocalization between  $\beta$  arrestin and  $\beta$ 2-adaptin at the plasma membrane was observed for the B2-adaptin-Y737F mutant after 2 minutes of agonist stimulation (54%  $\pm$  6.4 and only 16.4%  $\pm$  1.2 for the wild-type B2adaptin). (Fig.7A-B, B and E as compared to H and K). Even after 5 minutes of agonist stimulation we still observed some ßarrestin/ß2-adaptin colocalization at the plasma membrane for the B2-adaptin-Y737F (Fig.7A-B, C and F as compared to I and L). The higher impact of the B2-adaptin-Y737F mutant on Barrestin trafficking is consistent with a role of c-Src-mediated B2-adaptin phosphorylation in regulating the dissociation of AP-2 during the early events of receptor internalization.

#### DISCUSSION

Here we demonstrate that c-Src induces the phosphorylation of ß2-adaptin, to regulate the association between ßarrestin and AP-2. We identified the Tyr737 in the ear domain of ß2-adaptin as a critical c-Src phosphorylation site. We provide evidence, in cells, that the phosphorylation of Y737 alone can regulate the profile of agonist-mediated interaction between ßarrestin and AP-2. Our results suggest that the c-Src-mediated phosphorylation of AP-2 represents an important mechanism in controlling the ßarrestin-dependent internalization of receptors.

The involvement of Src family kinases during receptor internalization has been previously described for different GPCRs (10, 13, 18). Here, we show that the ß2subunit of AP-2 is a target for tyrosine phosphorylation upon AT1R activation in either an endogenous expressing system such as VSMCs or heterologously expressing COS-7 cells. Using pharmacological inhibitors and dominant negative approaches, we selectively inhibit the c-Src-dependent phosphorylation of ß2-adaptin, suggesting a specific role for this kinase in the agonist-mediated phosphorylation of AP-2. The activation of c-Src was not dependent of the transactivation of EGFR. Interestingly, however, it seems to require the binding of c-Src to ßarrestin. Indeed, it was previously shown that blocking the binding of endogenous c-Src to ßarrestin affects beta2-adrenergic receptor internalization (19). This ßarrestin-mediated recruitment of tyrosine kinases and the phosphorylation of key endocytic proteins in the CCV are reminiscent of the role played by ßarrestin as a signalling scaffold in the phosphorylation of dynamin during the internalization of beta2-adrenergic receptor (19).

The identification of Tyr-737 in  $\beta$ 2-adaptin as a major target for c-Src kinase supports the role of tyrosine phosphorylation in the regulation of the interaction between  $\beta$ arrestins and AP-2. Using BRET to assess the  $\beta$ arrestin/AP-2 complex formation in live cells, we show that we could reduce the interaction between the two proteins by overexpressing c-Src. Our finding that c-Src still had some minor effect on the binding between ßarrestin and the Y737F mutant, suggest that other components may participate in regulating this interaction. Alternatively, c-Src may also target other proteins in the complex to control the ßarrestin/AP-2 complex formation.

The phosphorylation of tyrosine residues by Src family kinases is known to be dependent on specific amino acid sequences and to create specific sites for proteinprotein interactions (20). In this regard, it is interesting to note that the Y737 is highly conserved in  $\beta$ 2-adaptin from different species, and part of the YMXM consensus motif for binding of SH2 containing proteins (See Table 2) (21). The phosphorylation of Y737 in  $\beta$ 2-adaptin could promote the recruitment of interacting SH2 containing proteins to regulate the interaction between  $\beta$ arrestin and AP-2. On the other hand, the phosphorylation of this critical residue in  $\beta$ 2-adaptin may promote the necessary change in the  $\beta$ -subunit conformation to allow the uncoupling of  $\beta$ arrestin from AP-2. This c-Src-dependent phosphorylation mechanism leading to the dissociation of binding partners was reported for other proteins such as N-cadherin; where the c-Src phosphorylation of N-cadherin was shown to reduce its binding to  $\beta$ -catenin (22). Tyrosine phosphorylation of Alix by c-Src has also been reported to reduce the interaction of this adaptor protein with Pyk2, and to modulate EGFR internalization (23).

Protein phosphorylation is a well-recognized mechanism for coordinating CCV formation (5), but the actual involvement of tyrosine phosphorylation as a regulatory mechanism for receptor internalization is only now starting to be appreciated. Studies on the B2-AR revealed that the activation of receptors induces the c-Src-dependent tyrosine phosphorylation of dynamin (13). On the other hand, work on the EGFR reveals that the stimulation of the receptor causes the tyrosine phosphorylation of the clathrin heavy chain, and regulates the internalization of the receptor (12). EGFR activation was also shown to promote the tyrosine phosphorylation of B2-adaptin (24). This phosphorylation event seems to occur in the N-terminal domain of B2-adaptin, although its role in receptor internalization remains unclear. The recent findings that c-Src can be recruited in a complex with Barrestin and AP-2, and that it can

phosphorylate specific proteins of the coat like dynamin and AP-2 itself, is consistent with a signaling role of Barrestin in regulating internalization of GPCRs (15, 19, 25).

In summary, our findings unveil an unappreciated mechanism to explain how the binding of the clathrin adaptor protein AP-2 to ßarrestin can be regulated during the AT1R internalization. We show that AT1R activation promotes the c-Srcmediated tyrosine phosphorylation of the ß-subunit of AP-2. The functional consequence of ß2-adaptin phosphorylation appears to control the binding of ßarrestin to AP-2. Thus, ßarrestins may act as signalling scaffolds to recruit c-Src, and to phosphorylate AP-2, leading to the dissociation of AP-2 from ßarrestin. This mechanism may represent an important step in controlling the stability of endocytic complexes during the internalization of GPCRs, and also extend the role of c-Src in controlling the phosphorylation status of different proteins of the CCV like the ß2adaptin during the early steps of receptor internalization.

### **EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURES**

*Materials* – Angiotensin II was purchased from Sigma Chemical Co. The inhibitors PP2, PP3, and PD158780 were from Calbiochem-Novabiochem. Antibodies against  $\beta$ -adaptin and  $\alpha$ -adaptin were from BD Transduction Laboratories, the c-Src SRC2 and HA rabbit antibodies were from Santa Cruz Biotechnology, the mouse anti-HA clone 12CA5 was from Roche, the FLAG and the AP-1/2 antibodies were from Sigma-Aldrich, and the c-Src antibody GD11, the anti-phosphotyrosine antibody 4G10 and purified c-Src were from Upstate Biotechnology.

Plasmids and constructs - The wild type human AT1R and the Flag-tagged AT1R, the Flag-tagged Barrestin1 and Barrestin2, the Flag-tagged B2-adaptin, the HA-tagged c-Src, the HA-tagged c-Src-K298R mutant and the wild type c-Src in pcDNA3 were described elsewhere (15, 16, 26). The HA-tagged constructs of the hinge and ear domain (residues 664-937; B2-ad (H+E)) and ear domain alone of human B2-adaptin (residues 664-937; B2-ad (E)), and the GST-fusion protein of the ear domain (GST-B2ad (E)) were also described elsewhere (17). Glutathione S-transferase (GST) fusion proteins representing different nanopeptides within the ear domain of B2-adaptin (see supplementary material, and table 1) and the tyrosine-to-phenylalanine versions (Y737F, Y874F, and Y926F) were generated by annealing a sense and antisense oligonucleotides (41mers) using standard molecular biology procedures. The doublestranded oligonucleotides sequences of the wild type and tyrosine mutants were design to create overhanging BamHI and XhoI sites, and ligated into pGEX-5X2 vector cut with the same restriction enzymes. The tyrosine mutants GST-B2ad-Y737F, -Y874F were generated by polymerase chain reaction (PCR). Briefly, a first PCR fragment was amplified with a forward primer containing the BamHI restriction site upstream of the Valine 664 in B2-adaptin and a reverse primer introducing a Kpn I restriction site for B2-adaptin-Y737F construct or a Pst I restriction site for the B2-adaptin-Y874F construct. The second PCR fragments were obtained using a forward primer containing the substituted residue and introducing either a silent mutation in position G727 to create a Kpn I site or at position L868 to create a Pst I site, and a reverse primer overlapping the stop codon and introducing a Xho1 restriction site. These sets of PCR fragments were digested with BamHI/KpnI and Kpn1/XhoI, or BamHI/Pst1 and Pst1/XhoI, and then ligated into pGEX-5X2 previously digested with BamHI and Xho I. To generate the GST-B2ad-Y926F, a PCR fragment was amplified using a forward primer containing a BamHI restriction site upstream of the V664 and a reverse primer containing the substituted residue Y926F and a Xho I restriction site after the stop codon. The PCR fragment was digested with BamHI and XhoI and cloned into pGEX-5X2 cut with the same enzymes. Flag-tagged B2-adaptin Y737F was generated by PCR using a forward primer containing the tyrosine substitution and overlapping the existing BspE1 restriction site, and a reverse primer overlapping the existing KpnI site in B2-adaptin. The PCR fragment was then inserted into Flag-B2-adaptin wild type previously digested with BspE1 and KpnI restriction enzymes.

The yellow-fluorescent-tagged ß2-adaptin (ß2-adaptin-YFP) was also generated by three-way ligation. Briefly, a PCR fragment was amplified with a forward primer overlapping the existing Cla I restriction site in ß2-adaptin, and a reverse primer removing the stop codon in ß2-adaptin, and introducing a Sal I restriction site. The second fragment was obtained from the digestion of wild type ß2-adaptin in pcDNA3.1 with Nhe I and Cla I restriction enzymes. The two fragments were insert into pEYFP-N1 previously digested with Nhe I and Sal I. To generate the YFP-tagged ß2-adaptin Y737F mutant, a BspE1 and KpnI fragment from the Flag-tagged ß2-adaptin Y737F was ligated into YFP-tagged ß2-adaptin cut with the same restriction site. The *Renilla reniformis* luciferase-tagged-ßarrestin2 (Rluc-ßarrestin2) construct was described elsewhere (Hamdan and Bouvier). All constructs were confirmed by DNA sequencing (Sequencing Service, Genome Quebec Innovation Centre, McGill University, QC, Canada).

Cell Culture and Transfection – Human embryonic kidney cells (HEK 293) were grown in Eagle's minimal essential medium (MEM, Gibco) supplemented with 10% (v/v) heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum (FBS, Gibco) and gentamicin (100  $\mu$ g/ml, Gibco). HEK 293 cells seeded in 100 mm dishes, at a density of 2.5x10<sup>6</sup> cells/dish, were transiently transfected using a conventional calcium phosphate co-precipitation method as previously described (15). One to five  $\mu$ g of DNA were mixed in a solution containing 125 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub> in HEPES-Buffered Saline (25 mM HEPES pH 7.4, 140 mM NaCl, 0.75 mM Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>) for 5 min, and the mixed solution was then added to cells. Experiments were performed 36 h after transfection. Green monkey kidney cells (COS-7) were grown in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM, Gibco) supplemented with 10% (v/v) heat-inactivated FBS and gentamicin (100  $\mu$ g/ml). Transient transfections of COS-7 cells seeded in 60 mm dishes (at a density of 1x10<sup>6</sup> cells/dish) were performed using Lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen) according to the manufacturer's recommendations using a 1:3 ratio of DNA/Lipofectamine in Opti-MEM (Gibco). All experiments were performed 36 h after transfection. Vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs) were grown in DMEM with 10% (v/v) heat-inactivated calf serum (Gibco) and gentamicin (100  $\mu$ g/ml). Cells were serum-starved overnight in DMEM before performing the experiments.

Immunoprecipitation and Western blot experiments - HEK 293 or COS-7 cells were left untreated or treated with Ang II (100 nM) at 37°C for the indicated period of time. Following agonist stimulation, the reaction was stopped on ice by washing cells with ice-cold Phosphate-buffered saline (PBS). Cells were then solubilized in P-RIPA buffer (1 ml/100 mm dish) (20 mM TrisHCl pH 7.4, 150 mM NaCl, 1% Nonidet-P40 (v/v), 0.1% deoxycholate (w/v), 1 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>), containing 0.1 mM sodium orthovanadate, 1 mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride, 25 µg/ml leupeptin, 25 µg/ml aprotinin, and 1 mM pepstatin A, for 30 min at 4°C. Cell lysates were centrifuged for 30 min at 21,000 x g, and the supernatants were incubated with anti-Flag (30 µg/ml, Sigma) or anti-HA (20  $\mu$ g/ml, Roche) conjugated beads, or  $\beta$ -adaptin antibody AP-1/2 (8  $\mu$ g/ml, AP-1/2, Sigma), with 20  $\mu$ l of a 50% slurry mixture of protein A/G Sepharose beads for 2 h at 4°C. Beads were washed three times with P-RIPA, denatured in Laemmli buffer (2X) (250 mM Tris-HCl pH 6.8, 2% SDS (w/v), 10% Glycerol (v/v), 0.01% Bromophenol Blue (w/v), 5%  $\beta$ -mercaptoethanol (v/v)) and incubated for 10 min at 65°C. Proteins were separated on a 10% SDS-polyacrylamide gel (SDS-PAGE) before being transferred onto nitrocellulose membranes (Amersham Biosciences). Membranes were then blocked with a solution of PBS pH 7.4 containing

0.05% Tween20 (v/v) (PBS-T) and 10% dry milk (w/v). Protein detection on membranes was assessed using either anti-c-Src antibody (1 µg/ml, clone GD11; or 0.2 µg/ml, SRC2), Flag antibody (2.5 µg/ml), HA antibody (0.2 µg/ml), phosphotyrosine antibody (0.2 µg/ml, clone 4G10),  $\beta$ 2-adaptin antibody (0.2 µg/ml,  $\beta$ -adaptin, BD Transduction Laboratories),  $\alpha$ -adaptin antibody (0.25 µg/ml). After 1 h incubation with the different primary antibodies, membranes were washed three times before being incubated at room temperature with horseradish peroxidase (HRP) conjugated goat anti-mouse antibody (diluted 1/10,000; Sigma), or HRP-goat anti-rabbit antibody (diluted 1/10,000; Sigma) for 30 min. Immunoreactivity was visualized by enhanced chemiluminescence according to the manufacter's instructions (SuperSignal, Pierce).

For phosphoprotein detection experiments, COS-7 cells or VSMCs were serum-starved overnight, and the next day incubated for 30 min at 37°C in DMEM buffered with 20 mM HEPES pH 7.4. Cells were then pretreated with 20 mM pervanadate for 10 min before adding Ang II (1  $\mu$ M) for the indicated period of time. Stimulation was stopped on ice with cold PBS, and cells were solubilized for 30 min at 4°C in TGH buffer (50 mM HEPES pH 7.4, 1% Triton X-100 (v/v), 10% Glycerol (v/v), 50 mM NaCl, 5 mM EDTA) containing inhibitors (0.1 mM sodium orthovanadate, 1 mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride, 25  $\mu$ g/ml leupeptine, 25  $\mu$ g/ml aprotinin, 1 mM pepstatin A). Lysates were then centrifuged at 21,000 x g for 30 min, and the supernatants were incubated for 1 h at 4°C with the anti-Flag conjugated beads (30  $\mu$ g/ml, Sigma), or with the β-adaptin antibody AP-1/2 (8  $\mu$ g/ml, Sigma) with 20  $\mu$ l of a 50% slurry mixture of protein A/G Sepharose beads (Roche) for 2 h at 4°C. Beads were then washed three times in TGH buffer, denatured in Laemmli buffer (2X) and incubated for 10 min at 65°C. Western blots were performed as described above.

GST Fusion Protein Expression and Pull Down assay – For GST generation, the pGEX-5X2 vector bearing the different constructs were transformed into Escherichia coli BL21 cells and grown in LB medium with Ampicillin (100  $\mu$ g/ml) at 37°C overnight. The next day, cell cultures were diluted to an  $OD_{600}$  of 0.2 in LB with Ampicillin and grown until an  $OD_{600}$  between 0.5 and 0.6. Protein production was then induced using 1 mM isopropyl-1-thio- $\beta$ -D-galactopyranoside (IPTG) for 3 h at

room temperature. Cells were then pelleted, washed once with PBS and resuspended in cold PBS containing 2 mM EDTA, 4 mM PMSF, 1% Triton X-100 (v/v) supplemented with 1 mg/ml lysozyme and incubated 30 min on ice. Cells were then sonicated and centrifuged at 21 000xg for 30 min. Glutathione-Sepharose 4B beads were added to the supernatant and agitated for 1h at 4°C. Beads were then washed three times with PBS. Protein concentration was determined using a DC protein assay kit (Bio-Rad) and the integrity of the GST fusion proteins was analyzed by SDS-PAGE and Coomassie blue staining.

In vitro Src kinase assays - For Src kinase in vitro phosphorylation assays, GSTfusion proteins were first washed twice with the kinase reaction buffer (100 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.2, 25 mM Manganese Chloride, 125 mM Magnesium Chloride, 2 mM EDTA), before being resuspended in 50  $\mu$ l of the same kinase buffer supplemented with 10 mM ATP, 0.25 mM sodium orthovanadate, 2 mM DTT and 1U of purified c-Src. Proteins were incubated for 20 min at 30°C, and the reaction was stopped either washing the beads with cold TGH buffer, or by adding an equal amount of Laemmli buffer (2X) and incubated for 10 min at 65°C. The phosphorylation status of the proteins was analyzed by Western Blot using a phosphotyrosine antibody as previously described. To assess the effect of B2-adaptin tyrosine phosphorylation on Barrestin binding, c-Src from the kinase reaction was first remove by washing the beads 3 times with cold TGH buffer containing inhibitors. Similarly the unphosphorylated control GST-fusion proteins were washed with TGH buffer. Phosphorylated and unphosphorylated proteins  $(0.5 \ \mu g)$  were incubated in 0.5 ml of TGH buffer with increasing amounts of cell lysates from HEK293 cells expressing either Flag-tagged Barrestin1 or Flag-tagged Barrestin2 for 1h at 4°C. Beads were spun and washed three times with cold TGH buffer before being re-suspended in Laemmli buffer (2X), and then incubated for 10 min at 65°C. Proteins were resolved by electrophoresis on a 10% SDS-PAGE gel and analyzed by Western blot for Barrestin detection or stained with Coomassie Blue for GST-protein analysis.

Monitoring interaction between Barrestin-Rluc and B2-adaptin by BRET'- HEK293 cells stably expressing Flag-tagged AT1R were co-transfected in 6-well plates with 1  $\mu$ g of B2-adaptin-YFP and 10 - 60 ng of Barrestin2-Rluc, in the presence or absence of 1µg of c-Src plasmid. Approximately 18 hrs later, cells were detached with trypsin, diluted in 2 ml culture medium, and seeded (~ 50,000 cells /well) into 96-well plates (white wall, clear bottom) tissue culture plates that had been treated with poly-Dlysine. After 18 hrs, the medium was replaced with 90 µl of PBS containing 0.5 MgCl<sub>2</sub> and incubated with or without various concentrations of the agonist for the indicated time at room temperature. To measure the BRET<sup>1</sup> signal, the transparent bottom of the 96-well plate was covered with a white back-tape adhesive (Perkin Elmer) and the BRET<sup>1</sup> substrate for Rluc, coelenterazine-h (nanolight), was added to all the wells (5  $\mu$ M final concentration), followed by BRET<sup>1</sup> measurement on the Mithras LB940 plate reader (Berthold) that allows the sequential integration of signals detected in the 480  $\pm$ 20 nm and 530  $\pm$  20 nm windows for luciferase and EYFP light emissions, respectively. In the case of kinetic measurements, coelenterazine-h was added simultaneously with the agonist followed by BRET kinetic measurements. The BRET<sup>1</sup> signal was calculated as a ratio of the light emitted by EYFP ( $530 \pm 20$  nm) to the light emitted by Rluc (480  $\pm$  20 nm) upon adding the coelenterazine-h substrate. Agonist promoted BRET<sup>1</sup> was calculated by subtracting the BRET<sup>1</sup> ratio obtained in the absence of agonist addition from the BRET<sup>1</sup> signal obtained in the presence of an agonist.

Immunofluorescence Experiments – HEK 293 cells stably expressing the AT1-Flag were grown on 22 mm<sup>2</sup> cover slips in 6-well plates (250,000 cells/well), and transfected with YFP- $\beta$ 2-adaptin (0.5 $\mu$ g) and RFP- $\beta$ arrestin2 (0.5  $\mu$ g). Cells were stimulated at 37°C with 100 nM Ang II for the indicated time, and fixed for 15 min at room temperature with a solution of 4% paraformaldehyde (w/v) in PBS. Cover slips were mounted with GelTol Aqueous Mounting Medium (IMMUNON). Confocal images of labeled cells were acquired with a Zeiss LSM-510 META laser-scanning microscope using a 60x oil immersion lens. YFP- $\beta$ 2-adaptin and RFP-  $\beta$ arrestin2 fluorescence was visualized using the multi-track mode with dual laser excitation (514)

and 543 nm), and emission (BP 530-600 for YFP, and LP 560 for AlexaFluor 568) filter sets. Final figures were collated using Adobe Photoshop 7.0 and Illustrator 10.0 (Adobe, San Jose, CA).

*Data Analysis*- Intensity of the signals from Western Blots was determined by densitometric analysis using the MetaMorph Software (Universal Imaging Corporation), and are represented as the mean  $\pm$  S.E.M of at least three experiments. For densitometry analysis of Western blot data, were analyzed statistically by one-way ANOVA followed by a Bonferroni test for multiple comparisons. Means were considered significantly different when p values were at least below 0.05.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

-

\_

This work was supported by a Canadian Institutes of Health Research Grant (MOP-49447) to SAL. DF holds a Fonds de Recherche en Santé du Quebec (FRSQ) fellowship. SAL is a recipient of a Canada Research Chair in Molecular Endocrinology.

#### REFERENCES

- Lefkowitz RJ 1998 G protein-coupled receptors. III. New roles for receptor kinases and beta-arrestins in receptor signaling and desensitization. J Biol Chem 273:18677-80
- Krupnick JG, Benovic JL 1998 The role of receptor kinases and arrestins in G protein-coupled receptor regulation. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 38:289-319
- Claing A, Laporte SA, Caron MG, Lefkowitz RJ 2002 Endocytosis of G protein-coupled receptors: roles of G protein-coupled receptor kinases and beta-arrestin proteins. Prog Neurobiol 66:61-79
- 4. Schmid SL 1997 Clathrin-coated vesicle formation and protein sorting: an integrated process. Annu Rev Biochem 66:511-48
- Slepnev VI, Ochoa GC, Butler MH, Grabs D, Camilli PD 1998 Role of phosphorylation in regulation of the assembly of endocytic coat complexes. Science 281:821-4
- 6. Chen H, Slepnev VI, Di Fiore PP, De Camilli P 1999 The interaction of epsin and Eps15 with the clathrin adaptor AP-2 is inhibited by mitotic phosphorylation and enhanced by stimulation-dependent dephosphorylation in nerve terminals. J Biol Chem 274:3257-60
- Li S, Seitz R, Lisanti MP 1996 Phosphorylation of caveolin by src tyrosine kinases. The alpha-isoform of caveolin is selectively phosphorylated by v-Src in vivo. J Biol Chem 271:3863-8
- Shajahan AN, Timblin BK, Sandoval R, Tiruppathi C, Malik AB, Minshall RD 2004 Role of Src-induced dynamin-2 phosphorylation in caveolae-mediated endocytosis in endothelial cells. J Biol Chem 279:20392-400
- Luttrell LM, Ferguson SS, Daaka Y, et al. 1999 Beta-arrestin-dependent formation of beta2 adrenergic receptor-Src protein kinase complexes. Science 283:655-61
- Barlic J, Andrews JD, Kelvin AA, et al. 2000 Regulation of tyrosine kinase activation and granule release through beta-arrestin by CXCRI. Nat Immunol 1:227-33
- DeFea KA, Zalevsky J, Thoma MS, Dery O, Mullins RD, Bunnett NW
   2000 beta-arrestin-dependent endocytosis of proteinase-activated receptor 2 is required for intracellular targeting of activated ERK1/2. J Cell Biol 148:1267-81
- Wilde A, Beattie EC, Lem L, et al. 1999 EGF receptor signaling stimulates SRC kinase phosphorylation of clathrin, influencing clathrin redistribution and EGF uptake. Cell 96:677-87
- Ahn S, Maudsley S, Luttrell LM, Lefkowitz RJ, Daaka Y 1999 Srcmediated tyrosine phosphorylation of dynamin is required for beta2-adrenergic receptor internalization and mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling. J Biol Chem 274:1185-8
- Werbonat Y, Kleutges N, Jakobs KH, van Koppen CJ 2000 Essential role of dynamin in internalization of M2 muscarinic acetylcholine and angiotensin AT1A receptors. J Biol Chem 275:21969-74
- 15. Fessart D, Simaan M, Laporte SA 2005 c-Src regulates clathrin adapter protein 2 interaction with beta-arrestin and the angiotensin II type 1 receptor during clathrin- mediated internalization. Mol Endocrinol 19:491-503
- 16. Laporte SA, Oakley RH, Zhang J, et al. 1999 The beta2-adrenergic receptor/betaarrestin complex recruits the clathrin adaptor AP-2 during endocytosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96:3712-7
- 17. Laporte SA, Miller WE, Kim KM, Caron MG 2002 beta-Arrestin/AP-2 interaction in G protein-coupled receptor internalization: identification of a beta-arrestin binding site in beta 2-adaptin. J Biol Chem 277:9247-54
- 18. Fan G, Shumay E, Malbon CC, Wang H 2001 c-Src tyrosine kinase binds the beta 2-adrenergic receptor via phospho-Tyr-350, phosphorylates G-proteinlinked receptor kinase 2, and mediates agonist-induced receptor desensitization. J Biol Chem 276:13240-7

- Miller WE, Maudsley S, Ahn S, Khan KD, Luttrell LM, Lefkowitz RJ 2000 beta-arrestin1 interacts with the catalytic domain of the tyrosine kinase c-SRC. Role of beta-arrestin1-dependent targeting of c-SRC in receptor endocytosis. J Biol Chem 275:11312-9
- 20. Songyang Z, Carraway KL, 3rd, Eck MJ, et al. 1995 Catalytic specificity of protein-tyrosine kinases is critical for selective signalling. Nature 373:536-9
- Garcia P, Shoelson SE, George ST, Hinds DA, Goldberg AR, Miller WT
   1993 Phosphorylation of synthetic peptides containing Tyr-Met-X-Met motifs by nonreceptor tyrosine kinases in vitro. J Biol Chem 268:25146-51
- 22. Qi J, Wang J, Romanyuk O, Siu CH 2006 Involvement of Src Family Kinases in N-Cadherin Phosphorylation and {beta}-Catenin Dissociation during Transendothelial Migration of Melanoma Cells. Mol Biol Cell 17:1261-72
- Schmidt MH, Dikic I, Bogler O 2005 Src phosphorylation of Alix/AIP1 modulates its interaction with binding partners and antagonizes its activities. J Biol Chem 280:3414-25
- 24. **Huang F, Jiang X, Sorkin A** 2003 Tyrosine phosphorylation of the beta2 subunit of clathrin adaptor complex AP-2 reveals the role of a di-leucine motif in the epidermal growth factor receptor trafficking. J Biol Chem 278:43411-7
- 25. Shenoy SK, Lefkowitz RJ 2005 Seven-transmembrane receptor signaling through beta-arrestin. Sci STKE 2005:cm10
- 26. Laporte SA, Servant G, Richard DE, Escher E, Guillemette G, Leduc R 1996 The tyrosine within the NPXnY motif of the human angiotensin II type 1 receptor is involved in mediating signal transduction but is not essential for internalization. Mol Pharmacol 49:89-95

#### **FIGURE LEGENDS**

Fig. 1. Ang II induces tyrosine phosphorylation of 62-adaptin. A, VSMCs were serum-starved overnight and then pretreated with pervanadate for 10 min before being stimulated with Ang II (100 nM) for the indicated time. The endogenous B-adaptins were immunoprecipitated using anti-B-adaptin antibody. an and the immunoprecipitates were analyzed by Western blot (WB) using the antiphosphotyrosine 4G10 (upper panel), and the anti-β-adaptin (bottom panel) antibodies. B-C, COS-7 cells were transiently transfected with HA-AT1R and Flag-B2-adaptin. Twenty-four hours after transfection cells were serum-starved overnight, and then pretreated with pervanadate for 10 min before being stimulated with Ang II (100 nM) for the indicated time. Flag-B2-adaptin were immunoprecipitated (IP) from cell lysates using an anti-Flag antibody, and the immunoprecipitates were analyzed as described in (A). C, COS-7 cells were first treated as described above, and then incubated for 30 min with either the vehicle (DMSO) or the c-Src inhibitor (PP2, 4  $\mu$ M) or the EGFR inhibitor (PD158780, 50 nM) or the less active form of PP2 (PP3, 4 µM), before adding Ang II (100 nM) for 15 min. Densitometry analysis was carried out as described in *Experimental Procedures*, and data are presented as the mean  $\pm$  S.E.M of three independent experiments. They represent the relative amount of ß-adaptin phosphorylated as compared to non-stimulated cells (A, B), or the percent of B2adaptin phosphorylation as compared to vehicle (C), after normalizing for equal amount of  $\beta$ -adaptin present in the immunoprecipitates. D, COS-7 cells were transiently transfected with HA-AT1R, Flag-\u00df2-adaptin and either c-Src wild type or c-Src-K298R (kinase defective mutant). Twenty-four hours after transfection cells were serum starved overnight, and then pretreated as described in A-C, before being stimulated for 5 min with Ang II (100 nM). Detection of the  $\beta$ 2-adaptin in the immunoprecipitate and its phosphorylation status were performed as described in A-B. \*\* indicates p<0.01 vs DMSO determined by one-way ANOVA, and was considered significant.

### Fig. 1 Fessart et al



Fig. 2. Tyrosine Phosphorylation of the ear domain of  $\beta$ 2-adaptin. *A*, Representation of the different domains of  $\beta$ 2-adaptin with the nine putative tyrosine phosphorylation sites between the 664-937 amino acid residues. *B*, HEK 293 cells were transfected with the empty vector pcDNA3.1 (Mock) or HA- $\beta$ 2-adaptin constructs of the Ear ( $\beta$ 2-ad (E)) or the Hinge + Ear domains of  $\beta$ 2-adaptin ( $\beta$ 2-ad (H+E)), with or without c-Src. HA-tagged  $\beta$ 2-adaptin constructs were immunoprecipitated (IP) using the anti-HA conjugated beads antibody, and their tyrosine phosphorylation status was detected by Western Blot (WB) using an antibody against phosphotyrosine residues (P-Tyr). Data are representative of at least three independent experiments.



В



IP: HA-β2-adaptin WB: P-Tyr **Fig. 3. ß2-adaptin Tyrosines 737, 874 and 926 are sufficient for phosphorylation of ß2-adaptin by c-Src.** *A*, Recombinant fusion proteins of 9 amino-acids encoding various portions of the Ear domain of ß2-adaptin (residues 704-712, 733-741, 811-819, 869-877, 884-892, 907-915, 921-929 and 927-933; detailed in Table I) or GST alone were subjected to *in vitro* phosphorylation by purified c-Src kinase. The amounts of GST and GST- ß2-adaptin fusion proteins were assessed by Ponceau Red. c-Src-phosphorylated proteins were detected by Western Blot (WB) using an antibody against phosphotyrosine residues (P-Tyr). *B*, *In vitro* phosphorylation by c-Src of GST-fusion proteins containing residues 733-741, 869-877, 921-929 and point-mutation mutants where the tyrosine (Y) was replaced by a phenylalanine (F) residue to obtain Y737F, Y874F and Y926F mutants, respectively. The amounts of GST and GST- ß2-adaptin fusion proteins were assessed by Ponceau Red. c-Src-phosphorylated proteins were assessed by Ponceau Red. c-Src for GST-fusion proteins containing residues 733-741, 869-877, 921-929 and point-mutation mutants where the tyrosine (Y) was replaced by a phenylalanine (F) residue to obtain Y737F, Y874F and Y926F mutants, respectively. The amounts of GST and GST- ß2-adaptin fusion proteins were assessed by Ponceau Red. c-Src-phosphorylated proteins were detected by WB using an antibody against phosphotyrosine residues (P-Tyr). Note that the Y737F, Y874F and Y926F mutants do not undergo phosphorylation. Data are representative of at least three independent experiments.



В

Α



Fig. 4. c-Src phosphorylation of  $\beta$ 2-adaptin reduces its association with  $\beta$ arrestin 1,2. *A*, GST-fusion proteins of the Ear domain of  $\beta$ 2-adaptin ( $\beta$ 2-ad (E)) were phosphorylated *in vitro* with purified c-Src (+) or left unphosphorylated (-).The amounts of GST-  $\beta$ 2-adaptin fusion proteins was assessed by Ponceau Red and c-Src-phosphorylated proteins were detected by Western Blot (WB) using an antibody against phosphotyrosine residues (P-Tyr). *B*, After removing c-Src from the reaction, the unphosphorylated (-Tyr) or phosphorylated GST-fusion proteins (+Tyr) were incubated with increasing amounts of Flag-tagged  $\beta$ arrestin 1 or 2. The amount of  $\beta$ arrestin associated with the GST-fusion proteins was determined by WB using an anti-Flag antibody. Whole cell extracts (Total, right panels) were also blotted for detecting the level of Flag- $\beta$ arrestin 1 or 2 expression using the anti-Flag antibody. The amounts of GST-  $\beta$ 2-adaptin fusion proteins were assessed by Ponceau Red. Data are representative of at least three independent experiments.

-

\_



Fig. 5. B2-adaptin Y737F mutant abrogates the c-Src-induced dissociation of Barrestin 1. *A*, GST-fusion proteins of the Ear domain of B2-adaptin single mutants (B2-ad (E) Y737F, B2-ad (E) Y874F and B2-ad (E) Y926F ) were phosphorylated *in vitro* with purified c-Src (+) or left unphosphorylated (-). The amount of GST- B2-adaptin fusion proteins was assessed by Ponceau Red and c-Src-phosphorylated proteins were detected by Western Blot (WB) using an antibody against phosphotyrosine residues (P-Tyr). *B*, After removing c-Src from the reaction, the unphosphorylated (-Tyr) or phosphorylated GST-fusion proteins (+Tyr) were incubated with increasing amounts of Flag-tagged Barrestin1. The amounts of Barrestin associated with the GST-fusion proteins were determined by WB using the anti-Flag and GST antibodies respectively. *C*, Densitometry analysis was carried out as described in *Experimental Procedures*, and data are presented as the mean  $\pm$  S.E.M of three independent experiments. They represent the relative amount of Barrestin associated to GST-B2-adaptin after normalizing for equal amount of GST-B-adaptin present in the pull down. Data are representative of three independent experiments.

### Fig. 5 Fessart et al

1



Ţ

Fig. 6. Agonist-promoted interaction between **B2-adaptin** and **Barrestin2** as measured by BRET. A, Association kinetics between  $\beta$ 2-adaptin-EYFP and  $\beta$ arrestin2-Rluc. HEK293 cells stably expressing Flag-AT1R were co-transfected with Barrestin2-Rluc and B2-adaptin-YFP in the absence (-) or presence of c-Src (+) and BRET<sup>1</sup> measurements were done as described in *Experimental Procedures*. Real-time BRET<sup>1</sup> measurements were taken at regular intervals for the indicated time period directly after the addition of coelenterazine-h and receptor stimulation with Ang II. B. Dose-dependent agonist-promoted BRET. HEK293 cells stably expressing Flag-AT1R were co-transfected with Barrestin2-Rluc and either B2-adaptin-YFP wild type or -Y737F mutant, in absence (-) or presence of c-Src (+). AT1R was stimulated with increasing concentrations of Ang II for ~ 20 min at room temperature followed by BRET<sup>1</sup> measurements. C, Agonist-promoted BRETmax between either ß2-adaptin-Y737F-YFP or wilt type ß2-adaptin-YFP and ß-arrestin2-Rluc. HEK293 cells stably expressing Flag-AT1R were co-transfected with Barrestin2-Rluc and B2-adaptin in absence (-) or presence of c-Src (+) and BRET<sup>1</sup> measurements were done as described in Experimental Procedures. AT1R was stimulated as described in B. Data are pools of 3-5 independent experiments.

# Fig. 6 Fessart et al



В

-



Fig. 7. Effect of the Y737F on the ßarrestin/ $\beta$ 2-adaptin trafficking upon AngII stimulation in cells. *A*, HEK 293 cells expressing the Flag-tagged AT1R were transfected with RFP-ßarrestin2 and either YFP- $\beta$ 2-adaptin or -Y737F mutant. Cells were either left untreated or treated with Ang II (1  $\mu$ M) at 37°C for the indicated times. The distribution of RFP- $\beta$ arrestin2 (upper panels D-F) and YFP- $\beta$ 2-adaptin (lower panels A-C) was compared with the RFP- $\beta$ arrestin2 (J-L) in presence of the YFP- $\beta$ 2-adaptin-Y737F mutant (G-I) and the fluorescence was visualized by Confocal microscopy. Shown are representative images of three independent experiments. *B*, Representation of the percentage of cells where a colocalization at the plasma membrane between  $\beta$ arrestin and  $\beta$ 2-adaptin was observed. Randomly 12 different fields per time point were analyzed, with a total of about 30 to 50 cells per condition in 3 independent experiments. **\*\*** p<0.01 determined by one-way ANOVA, and was considered highly significant.



- 141 -

**Table 1.** Sequences of the GST fusion proteins of 10 amino-acids region in  $\beta$ 2-adaptin

664VGOSFIPSSVPATFAPSPTPAVVSSGLNDLFELSTGIGMAPGG**Y**VAPKAVWLPAV KAKGLEISGTFTHRQGHI**Y**MEMNFTNKALQHMTDFAIQFNKNSFGVIPSTPLAIHT PLMPNQSIDVSLPLNTLGPVMKMEPLNNLQVAVKNNIDVF**Y**FSCLIPLNVLFVEDG KMERQVFLATWKDIPNENELQFQIKECHLNADTVSSKLQNNNV**Y**TIAKRNVEGQ DML**Y**QSLKLTNGIWILAELRIQPGNPN**Y**TLSLKCRAPEVSQ**YIY**QV**Y**DSILKN

β2-adaptin residues	Sequence		
704-712	PGGY <sup>707</sup> VAPKA		
733-741	QGHIY <sup>737</sup> MEMN		
811-819	IDVFY <sup>815</sup> FSCL		
869-877	QNNNVY <sup>874</sup> TIA		
884-892	QDMLY <sup>888</sup> QSLK		
907-915	PGNPNY <sup>912</sup> TLS		
921-929	PEVSQY <sup>926</sup> IY <sup>928</sup> Q		
925-933	QY <sup>926</sup> IY <sup>928</sup> QVY <sup>931</sup> DS		

**Table 2.** The Ear region of  $\beta$ 2-adaptin (664-937) is highly conserved among the species.

 Mus musculus
 VGQSFIPSSVPATFAPSPTPAVVSSGLNDLFELSTGIGMAPGGYVAPKAVWLPAVKAKGLEISGTFTHRQ
 GHIYMEMNFTNKALQHMTDFAIQFNKNSFG

 Homo sapiens1
 VGQSFIPSSVPATFAPSPTPAVVSSGLNDLFELSTGIGMAPGGYVAPKAVWLPAVKAKGLEISGTFTHRQ
 GHIYMEMNFTNKALQHMTDFAIQFNKNSFG

 Gallus gallus
 VGQSFIPSSVPATFAPSPTPAVVSSGLNDLFELSSGIGMAPGGYVAPKSVWLPAVKAKGLEISGTFSHRQGHIYMEMNFTNKALQHMTDFAIQFNKNSFG

 Rattus norvegicus
 GQSFIPSSVPATFAPSPTPAVVSSGLNDLFELSTGIGMAPGGYVAPKAVWLPAVKAKGLEISGTFSHRQGHIYMEMNFTNKALQHMTDFAIQFNKNSFG

 VGQTFIPSSVPATFAPSPTPAVVSSGLNDLFELSTGIGMAPGGYVAPKAVWLPAVKAKGLEISGTFSHRQGHIYMEMNFTNKALQHMTDFAIQFNKNSFG
 VGQTFIPSSVPATFAPSPTPAVVSSGLNDLFELSTGIGMAPGGYVAPKAVWLPAVKAKGLEISGTFSHRQGHIYMEMNFTNKALQHMTDFAIQFNKNSFG

 Danio rerio (zebrafish)
 VGQNFIPSSVPNTFAPSPTPALSSGLNDLFELSTGMATATGGYVAAKTVWLPAVKAKGLEISGTFSRRQGMYMDMTFTNKALQHMTDFAIQFNKNSFG

J.

Mus musculus	VIPSTPLAIHTPLMPNQSIDVSLPLNTLGPVMKMEPLNNLQVAVKNNIDVFYFSCLIPLNVLFVEDGKMERQVFLATWKDIPNENELQFQIKECHLNADTVS
Homo sapiens1	VIPSTPLAIHTPLMPNQSIDVSLPLNTLGPVMKMEPLNNLQVAVKNNIDVFYFSCLIPLNVLFVEDGKMERQVFLATWKDIPNENELQFQIKECHLNADTVS
Gallus gallus	VIPSTPLAIHTPLMPNQSIDVSLPLNTLGPVMKMEPLNNLQVAVKNNIDVFYFSCLIPLNVLFVEDGKMERQVFLATWKDIPNENELQFQIKDCHLNADTVS
Rattus norvegicus	VIPSTPLAIHTPLMSNQSIDVSLPLNTLGPLKMEPLNNLQVAVKNNIDVFYFSCLIPLNVLFVEDGKMERQVFLATWKDIPNENELQFQIKECHLNADTVS
Xenopus laevis	VIPSAPLAIHTPLMPNQSIEI SLPLNTLGPVMKMEPLNNLQVAVKNNIDVFYFSCLIPLHVLFVEDGKMERQVFLATWKDIPNENELQFQIKDCHLNADTVS
Danio rerio (zebrafish)	) VIPTTPLPVHTPLMPSQSIDISLPLNTIGPVMKMDPLNNLQVAVKNNIDVFYFSTLIPLNVFFVEDGKMERQVFLATWKDIPNENELQYQIKDCHLNADTVS

Mus musculus	SKLQNNNVYTIAKRNVEGQDMLYQSLKLTNGIWILAELRIQPGNPNYTLSLKCRAPEVSQYI YQVYDSILKN
Homo sapiens1	SKLQNNNVYTIAKRNVEGQDMLYQSLKLTNGIWILAELRIQPGNPNYTLSLKCRAPEVSQYI YQVYDSILKN
Gallus gallus	SKLQNNNVYTIAKRNVEGQDMLYQSLKLTNGIWILAELRIQPGNPNYTLSLKCRAPEVSQYI YQAYDAILKN
Rattus norvegicus	SKLONNNYYTIAKRNVEGQDMLYQSLKLTNGIWILAELRIQPGNPNYTLSLKCRAPEVSQYIYQVYDSILKN
Xenopus laevis	SKLQNNNVYTIAKRNVEGQDMLYQSLKLTNGIWILAELRIQPGNPNYTLSLKCRAPEVCNYVYQVYDSILKN
Danio rerio (zebrafish)	GKLQSNNVYTIAKRNVEGQDMLYQSLKLTNGIWILAELRIQPGNPNYTLSLKCRAPEVSQYVYQMYDATLKN

1

### **CONNECTING TEXT**

----

The aim of this thesis was to describe the intermolecular mechanisms regulating the early events of GPCR internalization with one particular receptor, the Angiotensin II type 1 receptor. This Section V serves to address the aforementioned results and compare them to the actual literature. Proposed future directions pertaining to some specific points will also be discussed.

Section V: Discussion and Conclusions

# **SECTION V**

100 mg

~.

# **Discussion and Conclusions**

In general, in receptor-mediated endocytosis, the agonist (A) is bound to receptors at the cell surface (see Figure 1, step 1). Once activated, receptors associate with a network of regulatory proteins (such as GRK and  $\beta$  arrestin) via their cytoplasmic domains. These proteins, in turn, directly or indirectly bind to clathrin, which forms a cage-like curved pit (Clathrin-coated pit, CCP) at the plasma membrane (step 2). As the coat continues to grow, the pit deepens until it pinches off as a closed vesicle (Clathrin-coated vesicles, CCV) (step 3). Following internalization, the clathrin coat disassembles (step 4) and the vesicle fuses with other newly uncoated vesicles or with previously internalized membranes to form early endosomes. In the early endosome, some agonists are released from their receptors and these endosomes go back to the plasma membrane, recycling GPCRs to the cell surface (step 5). Some receptors, however, interact with a second set of cytosolic proteins that retain them, creating a multivesicular endosome. This internal vesicle will ultimately be delivered to lysosomes for degradation (step 6). Even though several groups have studied GPCR internalization via clathrin-coated vesicles, a clear picture of all the proteins involved in the mechanisms that regulate GPCR internalization still remains elusive. The work accomplished in this thesis describes some of the intermolecular mechanisms regulating the early events of AT1R internalization leading to the formation of CCPs. First, βarrestins play a well-established role in the termination of G protein coupling and receptor signalling. GPCR phosphorylation by GRK and Barrestin binding are central to the processes of homologous desensitization, sequestration, recycling and down regulation of most mammalian GPCRs. Moreover,  $\beta$  arrestins are also now being accepted as GPCR signal transducers. The initial evidence suggesting that ßarrestins function as signal transducers was the observation that Barrestin 1 and Barrestin 2 can bind directly to Src and recruit it to agonist-occupied GPCRs (96, 97, 171). Furthermore, stimulation of  $\beta 2$  adrenergic receptors results in co-localization of the receptor with both Barrestins and Src in CCPs (97). Similar results have been observed with other GPCRs, where *βarrestins* are involved in recruiting Src to the neurokinin NK-1 receptor (262), and to the CXCR-1 chemokine receptor (111). Our findings reveal that, another receptor, the AT1R (171) also induced the association of c-Src with Barrestin. In addition to Src, we found that Barrestin recruits and binds the



1

Figure 1. Model for  $\beta$ arrestin-mediated internalization of GPCR via clathrin-coated pits

J

clathrin adaptor complex AP-2, via its beta-subunit ( $\beta$ 2-adaptin) following AT1R activation. This complex appears to be regulated by c-Src protein kinase activity and thus modulates the speed and the rate of AT1R internalization. Even if we can not exclude that blocking c-Src protein kinase activity also inhibits other important phosphorylation events (*e.g.* phosphorylation of dynamin), it appears clearly that c-Src plays an important role in receptor endocytosis. Indeed, using siRNA we observed that reducing c-Src expression not only affected receptor internalization but also increased AP-2 association with the receptor and trapped AP-2 at the plasma membrane. Overall, these results suggest that the ternary complex c-Src/AP-2/ $\beta$ arrestin is involved in the early events of AT1R internalization: CCP formation.

The formation of  $\beta$  arrestin/Src complexes with desensitized-GPCRs appears to initiate a 'second wave' of GPCR signalling. Indeed, several proteins involved with GPCR desensitization, endocytosis, and trafficking are also Src substrates such as dynamin. Dynamin was found to be tyrosine phosphorylated following activation of  $\beta$ 2-AR (170) and M1 muscarinic receptor internalization (303). Src phosphorylation of dynamin increases both dynamin self-assembly and GTPase activity, and was reported to be required for epidermal growth factor (EGF)-mediated EGF receptor internalization (304). GRK2 appears to be another important substrate for Src: Src has been reported to phosphorylate GRK2 following activation of either the  $\beta$ 2-AR or the CXCR4 receptor (69, 177). Our results provide evidence for a new substrate phosphorylated by c-Src: the beta-subunit of AP-2,  $\beta$ 2-adaptin.

While the mechanisms involved in regulating the clathrin-mediated endocytic pathway are not fully understood, accumulating evidence suggests that phosphorylation cycles may be a key step (300, 305). Indeed, phosphorylation of the clathrin heavy chain (175) and the large and medium subunits of AP-2 (306, 307) have been demonstrated to be important to the clathrin-mediated internalization of growth factors and nutrients, respectively. However, the phosphorylation of endocytic factors is not limited to the major coat components. Many others constituents of the endocytic machinery including dynamin1, amphiphysin 1 and 2, synaptojanin, AP180, epsin and eps15, are

phosphorylated. Although it is clear that phosphorylation plays an important role in clathrin-mediated internalization, a more detailed understanding of the endocytic regulatory mechanisms will require the identification of the respective protein kinases that target these endocytic components. Multiple protein kinases of clathrin-coated vesicles have been defined, for example  $\alpha$ -adaptin-associated protein kinase-1 (AAK1) phosphorylates the µ2 subunit of AP-2 (158), Src protein kinase phosphorylates clathrin (175) and herein the  $\beta$ 2-subunit of AP-2. While  $\beta$ 2-adaptin appears to be a good substrate for c-Src, it was necessary to address the function in clathrin-mediated internalization. Previous observations suggest that the poly-L-lysine dependent phosphorylation of AP-2 prevents its recruitment to clathrin cages (306). Thus, it is reasonable to believe that phosphorylation may regulate the ability of  $\beta$ 2-adaptin to interact with other endocytic proteins, such as ßarrestin. However, we can not exclude the fact that  $\beta$ 2-adaptin phosphorylation may also influence AP-2 localization. Previous studies have established that  $\beta^2$ -adaptin is phosphorylated *in vivo* by a staurosporine-sensitive protein kinase whose function is balanced by the constitutive activity of protein phosphatase 2A (PP2A) (307). They also observed that treatment of cells with agents that block PP2A function perturb AP-2 localization at the plasma membrane and disrupt transferrin internalization. Thus, as suggested by Slepnev et al.(300), it is possible that one potential mechanism to regulate the cycles of coat protein assembly and disassembly is reversible phosphorylation.

It remains unclear how Src is activated during AT1R stimulation. To be able to answer to this question we performed a preliminary study. Recently, the stimulation of a mutant AT1R (Tyr<sup>302</sup>Ala or Y302A) with Angiotensin II or a wild-type receptor with an Ang II analogue ([Sar<sup>1</sup>,Val<sup>5</sup>, DPhe<sup>8</sup>]AngII) was shown to block the activation of classical G protein but still lead to  $\beta$ arrestin2 recruitment and ERK1/2 activation (308), suggesting that internalization by itself can promote intracellular signalling. In order to determine if the c-Src-mediated effect on AP-2 phosphorylation was G proteindependent we used a similar approach with an AT1R mutant, where the tyrosine 302 was replaced by alanine (Tyr<sup>302</sup>Ala or Y302A) (Figure 2A). This mutation was first described as inhibiting G protein signalling without affecting GPCR internalization (287). We confirmed the effect of this mutant by measuring the AngII-induced calcium responses, since the G protein-mediated actions of Ang II are typically transduced by  $G_q$  (leading to the generation of IP<sub>3</sub> and DAG, and the increase of Ca<sup>2+</sup> in cells). When HEK293 cells expressing the human AT1R were stimulated with Ang II (100nM), calcium levels, as assessed by confocal microscopy with Fluo-3AM dye, did not increase over time as compared to cells expressing the wild-type receptor (Figure 2B). These results are consistent with the previous finding by Laporte *et al.*,(287) showing that the mutation Y302A abolishes G protein coupling to the AT1R.

We further observed that Barrestin 2 can still interact with Ang II-stimulated Y302A receptors and [Sar<sup>1</sup>, Val<sup>5</sup>, DPhe<sup>8</sup>]Ang II-bound to AT1R, using confocal microscopy. When Barrestin2-GFP was coexpressed with the wild-type AT1R (AT1R WT) or the mutant Y302A (AT1R-Y302A), as shown previously, Ang II induced the translocation of Barrestin 2-GFP to endocytic vesicles in cells expressing AT1R receptors (Fig. 3A) (121). Similarly, [Sar<sup>1</sup>, Val<sup>5</sup>, D-Phe<sup>8</sup>]Ang II also induced the recruitment of Barrestin2-GFP to the plasma membrane and then into vesicles in the cells (Figure 3B), indicating that [Sar1,Val5, D-Phe8]Ang II-bound to AT1R can recruit βarrestin 2 and promote endocytosis in HEK293 cells. These results are consistent with a previous report that the mutant Y302A receptor undergoes internalization following Ang II stimulation (287) and that [Sar1, Val5, D-Phe8]AngII can induce AT1 receptor internalization (309). Under these conditions, stimulation of the wild-type AT1R with [Sar1, Val5, D-Phe8]Ang II or the Y302A receptor with Ang II, despite their inability to activate G proteins, led to a robust and transient phosphorylation of the  $\beta$ 2 subunit of the AP-2 complex (Figure 4A and B respectively). Also, AP-2 was found to be recruited to the AT1R following [Sar1, Val5, D-Phe8]AngII stimulation (Fig. 4B bottom panel). The finding that both the wild-type ATIR stimulated with [Sar1, Val5, D-Phe8]AngII and the Y302A mutant receptor stimulated with Ang II recruited AP-2 and are phosphorylated on a tyrosine residue in its beta-subunit in the absence of detectable G protein signalling led us to conclude that c-Src contributes to the AT1R-induced AP-2 phosphorylation independently of G protein activation. These results are consistent with recent findings where c-Src activation was shown to be independent of G protein signalling upon AT1R stimulation (295).

Altogether, these results indicate that Ang II-c-Src-mediated \u00df2-adaptin phosphorylation is G protein-signalling independent and suggest that it is being mediated by ßarrestin/c-Src. Using the catalytic domain of c-Src, SH1 (active form) and SH1-KD (inactive form) (Figure 5A), which retained a strong catalytic activity and good Barrestin binding, we showed that following Ang II stimulation, the overexpression of SH1 potentiates the AngII-mediated  $\beta$ 2-adaptin phosphorylation (Figure 5B, SH1). Strikingly, when SH1-KD was overexpressed, the  $\beta$ 2-adaptin tyrosine phosphorylation was dramatically reduced (Figure 5B, SH1-KD) confirming the involvment of c-Src/ $\beta$ arrestin complex in the  $\beta$ 2-adaptin phosphorylation following AT1R activation. Figure 6 represents a model based on our findings in this regard. Following receptor stimulation, GRK phosphorylates the C-tail of the receptor allowing the recruitment of barrestin and c-Src. barrestin serves as an adaptor to recruit components of the endocytic machinery such as clathrin and AP-2, and then c-Src phosphorylates  $\beta$ 2-adaptin on tyrosine residues to induce its dissociation from βarrestin. Here we show that a c-Src mutant (SH1-KD) that retains the βarrestin1 binding domain but is catalytically inactive can block the AngII-mediated β2-adaptin phosphorylation. This finding implies that *βarrestin-mediated* recruitment of c-Src is crucial for localizing the tyrosine protein kinase activity in close proximity with the  $\beta$ 2-adaptin.

In addition to dynamin, we have now identified another target for c-Src during receptor-mediated endocytosis: the beta subunit of AP-2. Overall, these results highlight the important role of βarrestin in recruiting c-Src to the agonist-occupied receptor prior to internalization. Furthermore, our results suggest that the receptor can exist in more than one 'active' conformation. Thus, the receptor conformation induced by [Sar1,Val5, D-Phe8]AngII in the wild-type receptor, or by the Ang II for Y302A mutant receptor, which can stimulate the c-Src-mediated AP-2 phosphorylation, is not able to activate G proteins. The demonstration of such functionally distinct active conformations, potentially coupled to distinct signalling pathways, gives credibility to the development of novel therapeutics that might target only one of several such conformations.

Fig. 2. Calcium responses of Fluo-3 AM on transfected HEK 293 cells. A, Schematic representation of the amino acid sequence of the human AT1R. Mutation of the human AT1R was made by replacing Tyr<sup>302</sup> with alanine (AT1R-Y302A), as previously described by Laporte et al. (287). B, Time response of calcium release in HEK293 cells after Ang II stimulation in living cells. HEK293 cells were grown on a coverslip and transfected with the wild-type AT1R (AT1R-WT, top panels) or AT1R-Y302A (bottom panels). Before the experiment, cells were washed 3 times with a Tyrode solution (5 mM HEPES, 136 mM NaCl, 2.7 mM KCl, 1 mM MgCl2, 1.9 mM CaCl2, 5.6 mM glucose, buffered to pH 7.4 with Tris base, and supplemented with 0.1% BSA). Cells were then incubated for 45 min at room temperature in the dark, and then washed twice with Tyrode-BSA buffer, and twice in Tyrode buffer alone. Cells were then treated with Ang II (1  $\mu$ M) at 37°C for the indicated times. Fluorescence was visualized by confocal microscopy with the following settings: 488 nm excitation and filter set at LP 505. Figures represent the calcium dye distribution as assessed by fluorescence intensity. The colour scale represents pseudocolor intensity levels of Fluo-3 dye. Shown are representative images of three independent experiments.

# Fig. 2 Fessart et al



В

Α



Fig. 3. Agonist-mediated  $\beta$ arrestin2-translocation assay in HEK 293 cells. *A*, HEK 293 cells were transiently transfected with AT1R (top panels) or AT1R-Y302A (bottom panels) in presence of GFP-tagged  $\beta$ arrestin2. Cells were then either left untreated or treated with Ang II (1  $\mu$ M) for indicated time at 37°C. The distribution of GFP- $\beta$ arrestin was visualized by confocal microscopy. For each experiment, 25 different fields containing 1 to 2 cells were analyzed. Shown are representative images of GFP- $\beta$ arrestin fluorescence of three independent experiments. *B*, HEK 293 cells were transiently transfected with AT1R in the presence of GFP- $\beta$ arrestin2. Cells were then either left untreated or treated with AT1R in the presence of GFP- $\beta$ arrestin2. Cells were then either left untreated or treated with Ang II (1  $\mu$ M) or [Sar1,Val5, D-Phe8]AngII (10  $\mu$ M) for the indicated time. The distribution of GFP- $\beta$ arrestin was visualized by confocal microscopy as described in *A*.

# Fig. 3 Fessart et al







Fig. 4. Agonist-mediated  $\beta$ 2-adaptin phosphorylation independently of G protein signalling. A, HEK 293 cells were transfected with AT1R-Y02A and Flag- $\beta$ 2-adaptin or pcDNA3.1 (Mock). Twenty-four hours after transfection cells were serum-starved overnight, and then pretreated with pervanadate for 10 min before being stimulated with Ang II (100 nM) for the indicated time. Flag- $\beta$ 2-adaptin were immunoprecipitated (IP) from cell lysates using an anti-Flag antibody and immunoprecipitates were analyzed by Western blot (WB) using the antiphosphotyrosine 4G10 (upper panel), and the anti- $\beta$ -adaptin (bottom panel) antibodies. B, HEK 293 cells were transiently transfected with HA-AT1R and Flag- $\beta$ 2-adaptin. Twenty-four hours after transfection cells were serum-starved overnight, and then pretreated with pervanadate for 10 min before being stimulated with [Sar1, Val5, D-Phe8]AngII (10  $\mu$ M) for the indicated time. Flag-B2-adaptin or HA-AT1 were immunoprecipitated (IP). The  $\beta$ 2-adaptin immunoprecipitates were analyzed as described in (A), (top panels). The AT1R immunoprecipitates were analyzed for the detection of associated- $\beta$ 2-adaptin using an antibody against  $\beta$ 2-adaptin. Whole cell extracts (Total) were also probed for the detection of  $\beta$ 2-adaptin using the  $\beta$ 2-adaptin antibody, (bottom panels).

# Fig. 4 Fessart et al

Α

Ang II	0'	2'	5'	15'	Mock	min
P-Tyr						
β2-adaptin						
	IP: β2	-adaptin	-Flag			

В



Fig. 5.  $\beta$ arrestin/c-Src-mediated  $\beta$ 2-adaptin phosphorylation following AT1R stimulation. *A*, Representation of the non receptor tyrosine protein kinase c-Src and its different constructs. SH1 correspond to the small region containing the protein kinase activity and SH1KD to the same region with an inactive kinase (KD) (96). *B*, HEK 293 cells were transfected with AT1R, Flag- $\beta$ 2-adaptin and either pcDNA3.1 (Mock), HA-tagged SH1 or HA-tagged SH1KD. Twenty-four hours after transfection cells were serum-starved overnight, and then pretreated with pervanadate for 10 min before being left untreated or stimulated with Ang II (100 nM) for 5 min at 37°C. Flag- $\beta$ 2-adaptin were immunoprecipitated (IP) from cell lysates using an anti-Flag antibody. Immunoprecipitates were analyzed by Western blot (WB) using the antiphosphotyrosine 4G10 (upper panel), and the anti- $\beta$ -adaptin (bottom panel) antibodies. Whole cell extracts (Total) were also probed for the detection of HA-SH1 and HA-SH1KD using an anti-HA antibody.





В





### Figure 6. Model for βarrestin-mediated internalization of AT1R via clathrin-coated pits

Upon agonist binding, receptors are phosphorylated by GRKs leading to the recruitment of βarrestins (1). Beta-arrestins, through their interaction with clathrin and AP-2, target the receptor/arrestin complexes to clathrin coated pits (2). Beta-arrestins also bind c-Src (2 and 3) which was shown to phosphorylate dynamin (4), a GTPase that regulates the pinching off from the cell surface of clathrin coated-pits (5). Src also phosphorylates β2-adaptin to promote its dissociation from βarrestin. Once clathrin coated vesicles are formed, βarrestin and c-Src dissociate from AT1R and the receptor is then internalized into endosomes (6) where it is dephosphorylated before returning to the cell surface (7). Colors represent the new elementS added to the proposed model in the literature explained at the begining of the thesis (Section I).

1

The recent use of siRNA against the  $\alpha$  and  $\mu$ 2 subunits has shown that the AP-2 complex is required for the formation of most of plasma membrane-associated CCPs (163, 164). However, it remains unclear where the dissociation of AP-2 that we observe following its phosphorylation occurs in CCP or CCV? Recent studies have contributed some elements that address this point. Using a GFP-tagged clathrin lightchain in living cells, various groups showed that clathrin spots at the plasma membrane surface can be categorized into four groups. The largest group (approximately 80%) is static during the period of observation, new spots can be observed to appear or form, approximately 2% of spots move laterally in the plane of the membrane and approximately 15% of spots disappear. Those observed disappearing into the cell have been suggested to represent nascent CCVs entering the cytosol (310, 311). Furthermore, other markers for the endocytic compartment, such as dynamin, have been observed disappearing at the same time, place, and rate as the clathrin spots (311). Recently, a GFP-tagged  $\alpha$ -adaptin was used as an AP-2 marker in living cells. Surprisingly, the fluorescence intensity of clathrin and the AP-2 complex were comparable in static spots but the AP-2 complex was absent from disappearing clathrin spots (310). These unexpected findings suggest that the AP-2 complex is absent from forming CCVs and proposes a new model for CCP/CCV formation. In this model, the AP-2 complex would be involved in the formation of stable platforms for clathrin assembly and cargo selection. This model diverges from the previous ones that suggest that each formed CCP is progressively transformed into one nascent CCV (162), where AP-2 is present all along the CCV formation process. These models suggest that AP-2 plays its adaptor function beginning with the early steps of CCP assembly and then is incorporated in the vesicle. Finally, in the case of cargo, the fact that activated GPCR/ $\beta$ -arrestin complexes are recruited to static pre-existing clathrin spots (182, 183) suggests that at least in this case, they can correspond to pre-existing platforms for cargo selection. In conclusion, there is a clear distinction between the AP-2 content in static versus disappearing clathrin spots. These disappearing spots contain endocytic cargo but have reduced AP-2 relative to static plasma membrane domains. These observations suggested that the AP-2 complex was excluded from the vast majority of nascent endocytic vesicles, and led us to hypothesize that the dissociation of
phosphorylated-AP-2 that we observed, occurs in CCPs before the CCVs formation. However this point still remains to be determined.

What is the functional significance of the role for Barrestin-dependent scaffolding complexes in AT1R internalization? One possibility is that the Barrestin scaffolding complex could serve as a molecular switch for activation of proliferative or apoptotic pathways. In some cell types, the ßarrestin/Src complex formation is involved in GPCR-mediated activation of the ERK1/2 cascade (97, 114). Indeed, studies on the  $\beta$ 2AR, suggest that the formation of a receptor/ $\beta$ arrestin/Src complex directs activation and nuclear translocation of ERK1/2, leading to proliferative effects (312). In the case of NK1, formation of a  $\beta$  arrestin-containing complex allows nuclear translocation of ERK1/2, proliferation, and protection from apoptosis (262). In other cell types, Barrestin binds c-Src, which is believed to be required for CXCL8/IL-8mediated chemotaxis of neutrophils (313). This chemotactic effect of the scaffold βarrestin with ERK1/2 was also observed for the PAR2 receptor (314). In support of these findings, lymphocytes from Barrestin 2 knockout mice show significantly reduced CXCR4-mediated migration (315). However, some results have demonstrated that activation of numerous GPCRs in the absence of Barrestin expression leads to cellular apoptosis (316). Thus, the appropriate regulation of GPCRs by βarrestins seems not to be only essential for cell signalling but also for cell survival.

#### **Future Perspectives**

The present study characterized the mechanisms regulating the formation of endocytic complexes during AT1R internalization. First, the protein kinase c-Src is not only recruited to the endocytic complexes in an agonist-dependent fashion, but also regulates their formation. One proposed mechanism is that c-Src phosphorylates the  $\beta$ 2-adaptin and thus induces its dissociation from  $\beta$ arrestin. Although we were able to identify one of the tyrosine residues phosphorylated, we can not favor a common mechanism. However, based on the hypothesis that all GPCRs share a common mechanism of activation and  $\beta$ arrestin-mediated desensitization, it will be of interest to assess whether the  $\beta$ 2-adaptin phosphorylation is a common mechanism for GPCRs and for other receptor types, such as the tyrosine kinase receptors (EGFR). In this respect, the development of an antibody directed against the critical phosphotyrosine residue will allow us to determine whether this residue on AP-2 is critical for the internalization of other GPCRs.

Protein phosphorylation and dephosphorylation are closely related to signalling proteins and can directly mediate protein-protein interactions. Thus, protein tyrosine phosphatases, which dephosphorylate signalling molecules, play an important role in transducing signals and controlling cellular behaviour. Evidence has shown that SHP2 could be recruited in an agonist-dependent fashion to GPCRs (317). Furthermore,  $\beta$ arrestin 2 was recently characterized as a signalling intermediate through a kinase/phosphatase scaffold for Akt/PP2A involved in the expression of dopamine-associated behaviours (318). Arrestin acts as a positive mediator of dopaminergic synaptic transmission. Thus, regarding the role of c-Src in GPCRs internalization, we can speculate that tyrosine phosphatase could also play a role. Indeed, SHP2 has been reported to be recruited to the AT1R (319). It will be interesting to assess whether SHP2, or even other phosphatases, regulate GPCR endocytosis.

In what could be qualified as "challenging times", much attention will probably be foccussed on deciphering the real-time dynamics of the spatio-temporal movement of the  $\beta$ arrestin/ $\beta$ 2-adaptin/Src complex in living cells in order to advance our understanding of the dynamic of  $\beta$ 2-adaptin, and others proteins in CCPs or CCVs. The development of fluorescent resonance energy transfer (FRET) and a Src reporter (320) will offer the unique opportunity to monitor in intact living cells Src protein protein kinase activity and, finally, to determine whether Src is activated at the plasma membrane or inside vesicles. These sophisticated techniques could better define how the organization and distribution of the endocytic complex formation are regulated during GPCR internalization. What is the temporal recruitment of endocytic proteins during receptor internalization? Where are the complexes dissociated? The elegant demonstration of the *in vivo* kinetics during receptor activation recently reported for  $\beta$ 2-AR by BRET is a good example of the innovative breakthroughs that biophysical techniques bring to the field of GPCR internalization (321). The ability to probe for three proteins in very close proximity, in the future, will give further insight into how these complexes are regulated.

The other angle of the story that would be particularly interesting is to explore the in vivo roles of \beta2-adaptin dissociation. In others words, how and why do these complexes dissociate? Close examination of AP-1 (322), and  $\beta$ -arrestin (323) shows that an effective way of regulating compartmental specificity could be dephosphorylation or phosphorylation by phosphatases and kinases restricted to defined membrane locales. These focal posttranslational modifications could modulate the avidity between network members, promoting assembly (and disassembly) of sorting lattices only at the appropriate location and time. For example, it has just been reported that Ark1p/Prk1p-mediated phosphorylation of a S. cerevisiae endocytic, eps15-like accessory factor governs the post budding inactivation of Arp2/3-dependent actin polymerization, preparing the transport vesicle for subsequent fusion (324). Except for AP-1, the role of phosphorylation in controlling clathrin-coated vesicle formation at the cell surface is relatively unexplored. How endocytic phosphorylation cycles are regulated is an important question for the future. Further studies on regulatory inputs and control mechanisms are sure to provide important insight into the events controlling receptor endocytosis.

An alternative explanation for why c-Src phosphorylates  $\beta$ 2-adaptin is that the c-Src-mediated phosphorylation of  $\beta$ 2-adaptin could also promote the recruitment of new interacting proteins with an SH2 domain, which is in accordance with the crystal structure of  $\beta$ 2-adaptin, in which the Tyr<sup>737</sup> could be accessible (153) (Figure 7).



**Figure 7.** Structure of the ear domain of  $\beta$ 2-adaptin. Structure of  $\beta$ 2-adaptin (residues 664-937) is shown as ribbon, and the position of the glutamate 849 (Glu<sup>849</sup>), the glutamate 902 (Glu<sup>902</sup>) and the tyrosine 737 mutated for phenylalanine (Phe<sup>737</sup>) residues are deduced from coordinates of the crystal structure of  $\beta$ 2-adaptin (deposited at the Protein Data Bank, identification code 1E42). The structure and the position of different residues were visualized using Swiss-PDB Viewer (Glaxo Wellcome Experimental Research).

Nevertheless, proof of this model will require crystallization of the phosphorylated AP-2 complex. Since the crystal structure was obtained for  $\beta$ 2-adaptin (153), it will be important in future studies to examine the crystal structure of wild-type  $\beta$ 2-adaptin as compared to phosphorylated  $\beta$ 2-adaptin. A structural approach will be useful in demonstrating the ability of phosphorylated  $\beta$ 2-adaptin to bind, or not, to endocytic proteins. It is not unlikely that a protein with an SH2 domain would make an

excellent binding partner for c-Src phosphorylated tyrosine residue within  $\beta$ 2-adaptin. One potential candidate is phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase, a key enzyme for the generation of phospholipids involved in clathrin-mediated trafficking (325). In searching the database for specific consensus sequences for phosphorylated  $\beta$ 2-adaptin, it appears that PI3K could be a good candidate. Recent evidence suggests that phosphorylated YMXM motifs play a role in mediating specific interactions with SH2 domains. In particular, the SH2 domains of PI3K bind to autophosphorylated YMXM or YXAM motifs in the platelet-derived growth factor receptor (326-328) and colony-stimulating factor 1 receptor (329), as well as in IRS-1 itself (330). This is consistent with previous studies reporting that PI3K is required for  $\beta$ 2-AR endocytosis (331). In parallel, to verify and identify new proteins interacting with phosphorylated  $\beta$ 2-adaptin, a proteomics approach would inform us of the partners recruited during AT1R endocytosis.

In conclusion, originally thought only to be important in GPCR desensitization, βarrestins are now known to be involved in receptor endocytosis, adaptor and kinase scaffolding, intracellular trafficking, and most recently, to be required for receptor recycling. At present, little is known about the physiological significance of these novel ßarrestin-dependent signalling mechanisms. Recently, using a genomic approach to silence predicted human protein kinases by RNA interference (RNAi), Pelkmans et al. (332) evaluated the effect on two endocytic routes: clathrin- and caveolae/raftmediated endocytosis. Their analysis demonstrates that signalling functions such as those controlling cell adhesion, growth and proliferation, are inducible by the machinery of endocytosis. Of the 590 human kinases screened (including lipid, protein, carbohydrate and hypothetical protein kinases), they identified some protein kinases previously implicated in endocytosis (AAK1, Lck, c-Src, GSK3B, PKC isoforms and CK2). They also assigned a prominent role in endocytosis to a number of regulators of the actin and tubulin cytoskeleton, as well as mitogenic pathways, cell growth, proliferation and apoptosis. This promising screen highlights the complexity in the regulation of the clathrin-mediated endocytosis and might explain the differences observed between receptors.

Section VI: Contributions to Original Research

### **SECTION VI**

# **Contributions to Original Research**

I- In the work reported in Section III, the endogenous formation of a ternary endocytic complex containing AP-2, βarrestin and c-Src during AT1R internalization was characterized by co-immunoprecipitation experiments. In addition, *in vitro* studies identified the binding region important for these interactions, and also whether the protein kinase was activated inside the complex by yeast-three hybrid and co-immunoprecipitation assays. In addition, in an agonist-dependent fashion, the protein kinase activity of c-Src involved in the dissociation of the endocytic complex in cells was demonstrated by co-immunoprecipitation. These interactions were confirmed with two approaches by depleting c-Src expression with siRNA or phosphorotioates antisense. Moreover, the impact of reducing c-Src expression on receptor internalization was measured by radioligand binding assay and confocal microscopy. It was shown that AP-2 and the receptor are trapped at the plasma membrane in c-Src-depleted cells, and this also reduced the speed and rate of AT1R internalization observed by radioligand binding assay.

II- In the work reported in Section IV, it was shown that the beta-subunit of AP-2 was tyrosine phosphorylated upon Ang II stimulation by co-immunoprecipitation experiments. In addition, using different inactive c-Src protein kinase constructs and co-immunoprecipitation experiments, the c-Src protein kinase was identified as responsible for  $\beta$ 2-adaptin phosphorylation. The tyrosine residue was identified using GST-peptides of a small region of  $\beta$ 2-adaptin and *in vitro* kinase assays. By directed mutagenesis, the potential tyrosine residues were mutated and verified by *in vitro* kinase assays in order to assess their phosphorylation status. In addition, the ability of phosphorylated  $\beta$ 2-adaptin mutants, to bind  $\beta$ arrestin with an *in vitro* phosphorylation following GST-pull down assays was determined. In living cells, the role of the tyrosine phosphorylation of  $\beta$ 2-adaptin onto  $\beta$ arrestin association was confirmed by BRET assay. Finally, in order to observe the dynamics of these interactions, confocal experiments were performed to observe both  $\beta$ arrestin and  $\beta$ 2-adaptin upon Ang II stimulation.

Section VI: Contributions to Original Research

---

BIBLIOGRAPHY

### **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

- 1. Fredriksson R, Lagerstrom MC, Lundin LG, Schioth HB 2003 The Gprotein-coupled receptors in the human genome form five main families. Phylogenetic analysis, paralogon groups, and fingerprints. Mol Pharmacol 63:1256-72
- 2. Samama P, Cotecchia S, Costa T, Lefkowitz RJ 1993 A mutation-induced activated state of the beta 2-adrenergic receptor. Extending the ternary complex model. J Biol Chem 268:4625-36
- 3. Wickman K, Clapham DE 1995 Ion channel regulation by G proteins. Physiol Rev 75:865-85
- 4. **Baldwin GS** 1993 Comparison of transferrin sequences from different species. Comp Biochem Physiol B 106:203-18
- 5. Lee DK, George SR, O'Dowd BF 2002 Novel G-protein-coupled receptor genes expressed in the brain: continued discovery of important therapeutic targets. Expert Opin Ther Targets 6:185-202
- 6. **Pantaloni C, Brabet P, Bilanges B, et al.** 1996 Alternative splicing in the Nterminal extracellular domain of the pituitary adenylate cyclase-activating polypeptide (PACAP) receptor modulates receptor selectivity and relative potencies of PACAP-27 and PACAP-38 in phospholipase C activation. J Biol Chem 271:22146-51
- 7. Beneken J, Tu JC, Xiao B, et al. 2000 Structure of the Homer EVH1 domainpeptide complex reveals a new twist in polyproline recognition. Neuron 26:143-54
- 8. Drews J 2004 Paul Ehrlich: magister mundi. Nat Rev Drug Discov 3:797-801
- 9. Hill SJ 2006 G-protein-coupled receptors: past, present and future. Br J Pharmacol 147 Suppl 1:S27-37
- 10. Neubig RR, Spedding M, Kenakin T, Christopoulos A 2003 International Union of Pharmacology Committee on Receptor Nomenclature and Drug Classification. XXXVIII. Update on terms and symbols in quantitative pharmacology. Pharmacol Rev 55:597-606
- 11. Kenakin T 2004 Efficacy as a vector: the relative prevalence and paucity of inverse agonism. Mol Pharmacol 65:2-11
- 12. Robison GA, Sutherland EW 1971 Cyclic AMP and the function of eukaryotic cells: an introduction. Ann N Y Acad Sci 185:5-9
- 13. Rodbell M, Birnbaumer L, Pohl SL 1970 Adenyl cyclase in fat cells. 3. Stimulation by secretin and the effects of trypsin on the receptors for lipolytic hormones. J Biol Chem 245:718-22
- 14. **Rodbell M** 1970 The fat cell in mid-term: its past and future. Horm Metab Res 2:Suppl 2:1-4
- 15. Rodbell M, Birnbaumer L, Pohl SL, Krans HM 1970 [Properties of the adenyl cyclase systems in liver and adipose cells: the mode of action of hormones]. Acta Diabetol Lat 7 Suppl 1:9-63
- 16. Rodbell M, Birnbaumer L, Pohl SL, Krans HM 1971 The glucagonsensitive adenyl cyclase system in plasma membranes of rat liver. V. An

obligatory role of guanylnucleotides in glucagon action. J Biol Chem 246:1877-82

- Rodbell M, Lin MC, Salomon Y 1974 Evidence for interdependent action of glucagon and nucleotides on the hepatic adenylate cyclase system. J Biol Chem 249:59-65
- Lefkowitz RJ, Mullikin D, Caron MG 1976 Regulation of beta-adrenergic receptors by guanyl-5'-yl imidodiphosphate and other purine nucleotides. J Biol Chem 251:4686-92
- 19. **Maguire ME, Van Arsdale PM, Gilman AG** 1976 An agonist-specific effect of guanine nucleotides on binding to the beta adrenergic receptor. Mol Pharmacol 12:335-9
- 20. Gilman AG 1987 G proteins: transducers of receptor-generated signals. Annu Rev Biochem 56:615-49
- 21. Hamm HE 2001 How activated receptors couple to G proteins. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98:4819-21
- 22. **Premont RT** 1994 Identification of adenylyl cyclases by amplification using degenerate primers. Methods Enzymol 238:116-27
- 23. Gill DM, Meren R 1978 ADP-ribosylation of membrane proteins catalyzed by cholera toxin: basis of the activation of adenylate cyclase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 75:3050-4
- 24. Ulloa-Aguirre A, Stanislaus D, Janovick JA, Conn PM 1999 Structureactivity relationships of G protein-coupled receptors. Arch Med Res 30:420-35
- 25. Kaslow HR, Lim LK, Moss J, Lesikar DD 1987 Structure-activity analysis of the activation of pertussis toxin. Biochemistry 26:123-7
- 26. **Rhee SG** 2001 Regulation of phosphoinositide-specific phospholipase C. Annu Rev Biochem 70:281-312
- 27. Jiang Y, Ma W, Wan Y, Kozasa T, Hattori S, Huang XY 1998 The G protein G alpha12 stimulates Bruton's tyrosine kinase and a rasGAP through a conserved PH/BM domain. Nature 395:808-13
- 28. Sah VP, Seasholtz TM, Sagi SA, Brown JH 2000 The role of Rho in G protein-coupled receptor signal transduction. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 40:459-89
- 29. Iniguez-Lluhi J, Kleuss C, Gilman AG 1993 The importance of G-protein beta lambda subunits. Trends Cell Biol 3:230-6
- 30. Neves SR, Ram PT, Iyengar R 2002 G protein pathways. Science 296:1636-9
- 31. **Touhara K, Inglese J, Pitcher JA, Shaw G, Lefkowitz RJ** 1994 Binding of G protein beta gamma-subunits to pleckstrin homology domains. J Biol Chem 269:10217-20
- 32. Akgoz M, Kalyanaraman V, Gautam N 2004 Receptor-mediated reversible translocation of the G protein betagamma complex from the plasma membrane to the Golgi complex. J Biol Chem 279:51541-4
- 33. Kino T, Tiulpakov A, Ichijo T, Chheng L, Kozasa T, Chrousos GP 2005 G protein beta interacts with the glucocorticoid receptor and suppresses its transcriptional activity in the nucleus. J Cell Biol 169:885-96
- 34. Ferguson SS 2001 Evolving concepts in G protein-coupled receptor endocytosis: the role in receptor desensitization and signaling. Pharmacol Rev 53:1-24

- 35. Hausdorff WP, Caron MG, Lefkowitz RJ 1990 Turning off the signal: desensitization of beta-adrenergic receptor function. Faseb J 4:2881-9
- 36. Sibley DR, Strasser RH, Benovic JL, Daniel K, Lefkowitz RJ 1986 Phosphorylation/dephosphorylation of the beta-adrenergic receptor regulates its functional coupling to adenylate cyclase and subcellular distribution. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 83:9408-12
- 37. Mestek A, Hurley JH, Bye LS, et al. 1995 The human mu opioid receptor: modulation of functional desensitization by calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase and protein kinase C. J Neurosci 15:2396-406
- 38. **Diviani D, Lattion AL, Cotecchia S** 1997 Characterization of the phosphorylation sites involved in G protein-coupled receptor kinase- and protein kinase C-mediated desensitization of the alpha1B-adrenergic receptor. J Biol Chem 272:28712-9
- 39. Qiu Y, Law PY, Loh HH 2003 Mu-opioid receptor desensitization: role of receptor phosphorylation, internalization, and representation. J Biol Chem 278:36733-9
- 40. Benovic JL, DeBlasi A, Stone WC, Caron MG, Lefkowitz RJ 1989 Betaadrenergic receptor kinase: primary structure delineates a multigene family. Science 246:235-40
- 41. Freedman NJ, Liggett SB, Drachman DE, Pei G, Caron MG, Lefkowitz RJ 1995 Phosphorylation and desensitization of the human beta 1-adrenergic receptor. Involvement of G protein-coupled receptor kinases and cAMPdependent protein kinase. J Biol Chem 270:17953-61
- 42. Pierce KL, Premont RT, Lefkowitz RJ 2002 Seven-transmembrane receptors. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 3:639-50
- 43. Daaka Y, Luttrell LM, Lefkowitz RJ 1997 Switching of the coupling of the beta2-adrenergic receptor to different G proteins by protein kinase A. Nature 390:88-91
- 44. Lawler OA, Miggin SM, Kinsella BT 2001 Protein kinase A-mediated phosphorylation of serine 357 of the mouse prostacyclin receptor regulates its coupling to G(s)-, to G(i)-, and to G(q)-coupled effector signaling. J Biol Chem 276:33596-607
- 45. Wilden U, Kuhn H 1982 Light-dependent phosphorylation of rhodopsin: number of phosphorylation sites. Biochemistry 21:3014-22
- 46. Stadel JM, Nambi P, Shorr RG, Sawyer DF, Caron MG, Lefkowitz RJ 1983 Catecholamine-induced desensitization of turkey erythrocyte adenylate cyclase is associated with phosphorylation of the beta-adrenergic receptor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 80:3173-7
- 47. Shichi H, Somers RL 1978 Light-dependent phosphorylation of rhodopsin. Purification and properties of rhodopsin kinase. J Biol Chem 253:7040-6
- 48. Benovic JL, Strasser RH, Caron MG, Lefkowitz RJ 1986 Beta-adrenergic receptor kinase: identification of a novel protein kinase that phosphorylates the agonist-occupied form of the receptor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 83:2797-801
- 49. Hausdorff WP, Lohse MJ, Bouvier M, Liggett SB, Caron MG, Lefkowitz RJ 1990 Two kinases mediate agonist-dependent phosphorylation and desensitization of the beta 2-adrenergic receptor. Symp Soc Exp Biol 44:225-40

- 50. **Premont RT, Inglese J, Lefkowitz RJ** 1995 Protein kinases that phosphorylate activated G protein-coupled receptors. Faseb J 9:175-82
- 51. Chen CY, Dion SB, Kim CM, Benovic JL 1993 Beta-adrenergic receptor kinase. Agonist-dependent receptor binding promotes kinase activation. J Biol Chem 268:7825-31
- 52. Sterne-Marr R, Benovic JL 1995 Regulation of G protein-coupled receptors by receptor kinases and arrestins. Vitam Horm 51:193-234
- 53. Lodowski DT, Pitcher JA, Capel WD, Lefkowitz RJ, Tesmer JJ 2003 Keeping G proteins at bay: a complex between G protein-coupled receptor kinase 2 and Gbetagamma. Science 300:1256-62
- 54. **Premont RT, Macrae AD, Stoffel RH, et al.** 1996 Characterization of the G protein-coupled receptor kinase GRK4. Identification of four splice variants. J Biol Chem 271:6403-10
- 55. Pitcher JA, Freedman NJ, Lefkowitz RJ 1998 G protein-coupled receptor kinases. Annu Rev Biochem 67:653-92
- 56. Willets JM, Challiss RA, Nahorski SR 2003 Non-visual GRKs: are we seeing the whole picture? Trends Pharmacol Sci 24:626-33
- 57. Kim J, Ahn S, Ren XR, et al. 2005 Functional antagonism of different G protein-coupled receptor kinases for {beta}-arrestin-mediated angiotensin II receptor signaling. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102:1442-7
- 58. Ren XR, Reiter E, Ahn S, Kim J, Chen W, Lefkowitz RJ 2005 Different G protein-coupled receptor kinases govern G protein and beta-arrestin-mediated signaling of V2 vasopressin receptor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102:1448-53
- 59. Winstel R, Freund S, Krasel C, Hoppe E, Lohse MJ 1996 Protein kinase cross-talk: membrane targeting of the beta-adrenergic receptor kinase by protein kinase C. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93:2105-9
- 60. Cong M, Perry SJ, Lin FT, et al. 2001 Regulation of membrane targeting of the G protein-coupled receptor kinase 2 by protein kinase A and its anchoring protein AKAP79. J Biol Chem 276:15192-9
- 61. Inglese J, Glickman JF, Lorenz W, Caron MG, Lefkowitz RJ 1992 Isoprenylation of a protein kinase. Requirement of farnesylation/alpha-carboxyl methylation for full enzymatic activity of rhodopsin kinase. J Biol Chem 267:1422-5
- 62. **Iacovelli L, Sallese M, Mariggio S, de Blasi A** 1999 Regulation of G-proteincoupled receptor kinase subtypes by calcium sensor proteins. Faseb J 13:1-8
- 63. **Tamanoi F, Gau CL, Jiang C, Edamatsu H, Kato-Stankiewicz J** 2001 Protein farnesylation in mammalian cells: effects of farnesyltransferase inhibitors on cancer cells. Cell Mol Life Sci 58:1636-49
- 64. **Pitcher JA, Inglese J, Higgins JB, et al.** 1992 Role of beta gamma subunits of G proteins in targeting the beta-adrenergic receptor kinase to membrane-bound receptors. Science 257:1264-7
- 65. **Pitcher JA, Touhara K, Payne ES, Lefkowitz RJ** 1995 Pleckstrin homology domain-mediated membrane association and activation of the beta-adrenergic receptor kinase requires coordinate interaction with G beta gamma subunits and lipid. J Biol Chem 270:11707-10
- 66. Haslam RJ, Koide HB, Hemmings BA 1993 Pleckstrin domain homology. Nature 363:309-10

- 67. **Pitcher JA, Tesmer JJ, Freeman JL, Capel WD, Stone WC, Lefkowitz RJ** 1999 Feedback inhibition of G protein-coupled receptor kinase 2 (GRK2) activity by extracellular signal-regulated kinases. J Biol Chem 274:34531-4
- 68. Chuang TT, LeVine H, 3rd, De Blasi A 1995 Phosphorylation and activation of beta-adrenergic receptor kinase by protein kinase C. J Biol Chem 270:18660-5
- 69. Penela P, Elorza A, Sarnago S, Mayor F, Jr. 2001 Beta-arrestin- and c-Srcdependent degradation of G-protein-coupled receptor kinase 2. Embo J 20:5129-38
- 70. Elorza A, Penela P, Sarnago S, Mayor F, Jr. 2003 MAPK-dependent degradation of G protein-coupled receptor kinase 2. J Biol Chem 278:29164-73
- 71. Stoffel RH, Inglese J, Macrae AD, Lefkowitz RJ, Premont RT 1998 Palmitoylation increases the kinase activity of the G protein-coupled receptor kinase, GRK6. Biochemistry 37:16053-9
- 72. Chuang TT, Paolucci L, De Blasi A 1996 Inhibition of G protein-coupled receptor kinase subtypes by Ca2+/calmodulin. J Biol Chem 271:28691-6
- 73. Wilden U, Hall SW, Kuhn H 1986 Phosphodiesterase activation by photoexcited rhodopsin is quenched when rhodopsin is phosphorylated and binds the intrinsic 48-kDa protein of rod outer segments. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 83:1174-8
- 74. **Zuckerman R, Cheasty JE** 1986 A 48 kDa protein arrests cGMP phosphodiesterase activation in retinal rod disk membranes. FEBS Lett 207:35-41
- 75. Oakley RH, Laporte SA, Holt JA, Barak LS, Caron MG 1999 Association of beta-arrestin with G protein-coupled receptors during clathrin-mediated endocytosis dictates the profile of receptor resensitization. J Biol Chem 274:32248-57
- 76. Qian H, Pipolo L, Thomas WG 2001 Association of beta-Arrestin 1 with the type 1A angiotensin II receptor involves phosphorylation of the receptor carboxyl terminus and correlates with receptor internalization. Mol Endocrinol 15:1706-19
- 77. Pals-Rylaarsdam R, Gurevich VV, Lee KB, Ptasienski JA, Benovic JL, Hosey MM 1997 Internalization of the m2 muscarinic acetylcholine receptor. Arrestin-independent and -dependent pathways. J Biol Chem 272:23682-9
- 78. Vishnivetskiy SA, Paz CL, Schubert C, Hirsch JA, Sigler PB, Gurevich VV 1999 How does arrestin respond to the phosphorylated state of rhodopsin? J Biol Chem 274:11451-4
- 79. Lohse MJ, Benovic JL, Codina J, Caron MG, Lefkowitz RJ 1990 beta-Arrestin: a protein that regulates beta-adrenergic receptor function. Science 248:1547-50
- 80. Gurevich VV, Dion SB, Onorato JJ, et al. 1995 Arrestin interactions with G protein-coupled receptors. Direct binding studies of wild type and mutant arrestins with rhodopsin, beta 2-adrenergic, and m2 muscarinic cholinergic receptors. J Biol Chem 270:720-31
- 81. Attramadal H, Arriza JL, Aoki C, et al. 1992 Beta-arrestin2, a novel member of the arrestin/beta-arrestin gene family. J Biol Chem 267:17882-90

- Krupnick JG, Benovic JL 1998 The role of receptor kinases and arrestins in G protein-coupled receptor regulation. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 38:289-319
- Smith WC, Milam AH, Dugger D, Arendt A, Hargrave PA, Palczewski K 1994 A splice variant of arrestin. Molecular cloning and localization in bovine retina. J Biol Chem 269:15407-10
- 84. Sterne-Marr R, Gurevich VV, Goldsmith P, et al. 1993 Polypeptide variants of beta-arrestin and arrestin3. J Biol Chem 268:15640-8
- 85. Scott MG, Le Rouzic E, Perianin A, et al. 2002 Differential nucleocytoplasmic shuttling of beta-arrestins. Characterization of a leucine-rich nuclear export signal in beta-arrestin2. J Biol Chem 277:37693-701
- 86. Wang P, Wu Y, Ge X, Ma L, Pei G 2003 Subcellular localization of betaarrestins is determined by their intact N domain and the nuclear export signal at the C terminus. J Biol Chem 278:11648-53
- 87. Kohout TA, Lin FS, Perry SJ, Conner DA, Lefkowitz RJ 2001 beta-Arrestin 1 and 2 differentially regulate heptahelical receptor signaling and trafficking. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98:1601-6
- Wang P, Gao H, Ni Y, et al. 2003 Beta-arrestin 2 functions as a G-proteincoupled receptor-activated regulator of oncoprotein Mdm2. J Biol Chem 278:6363-70
- 89. Goodman OB, Jr., Krupnick JG, Santini F, et al. 1996 Beta-arrestin acts as a clathrin adaptor in endocytosis of the beta2-adrenergic receptor. Nature 383:447-50
- 90. Laporte SA, Oakley RH, Holt JA, Barak LS, Caron MG 2000 The interaction of beta-arrestin with the AP-2 adaptor is required for the clustering of beta 2-adrenergic receptor into clathrin-coated pits. J Biol Chem 275:23120-6
- 91. Laporte SA, Oakley RH, Zhang J, et al. 1999 The beta2-adrenergic receptor/betaarrestin complex recruits the clathrin adaptor AP-2 during endocytosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96:3712-7
- 92. McDonald PH, Cote NL, Lin FT, Premont RT, Pitcher JA, Lefkowitz RJ 1999 Identification of NSF as a beta-arrestin1-binding protein. Implications for beta2-adrenergic receptor regulation. J Biol Chem 274:10677-80
- 93. Claing A, Chen W, Miller WE, et al. 2001 beta-Arrestin-mediated ADPribosylation factor 6 activation and beta 2-adrenergic receptor endocytosis. J Biol Chem 276:42509-13
- 94. Shenoy SK, McDonald PH, Kohout TA, Lefkowitz RJ 2001 Regulation of receptor fate by ubiquitination of activated beta 2-adrenergic receptor and betaarrestin. Science 294:1307-13
- 95. Storez H, Scott MG, Issafras H, et al. 2005 Homo- and heterooligomerization of beta-arrestins in living cells. J Biol Chem 280:40210-5
- 96. Miller WE, Maudsley S, Ahn S, Khan KD, Luttrell LM, Lefkowitz RJ 2000 beta-arrestin1 interacts with the catalytic domain of the tyrosine kinase c-SRC. Role of beta-arrestin1-dependent targeting of c-SRC in receptor endocytosis. J Biol Chem 275:11312-9

- 97. Luttrell LM, Ferguson SS, Daaka Y, et al. 1999 Beta-arrestin-dependent formation of beta2 adrenergic receptor-Src protein kinase complexes. Science 283:655-61
- 98. Yasuda J, Whitmarsh AJ, Cavanagh J, Sharma M, Davis RJ 1999 The JIP group of mitogen-activated protein kinase scaffold proteins. Mol Cell Biol 19:7245-54
- 99. Willoughby EA, Collins MK 2005 Dynamic interaction between the dual specificity phosphatase MKP7 and the JNK3 scaffold protein beta-arrestin 2. J Biol Chem 280:25651-8
- 100. Acharya U, Patel S, Koundakjian E, Nagashima K, Han X, Acharya JK 2003 Modulating sphingolipid biosynthetic pathway rescues photoreceptor degeneration. Science 299:1740-3
- 101. Shenoy SK, Lefkowitz RJ 2003 Trafficking patterns of beta-arrestin and G protein-coupled receptors determined by the kinetics of beta-arrestin deubiquitination. J Biol Chem 278:14498-506
- 102. Chen W, Ren XR, Nelson CD, et al. 2004 Activity-dependent internalization of smoothened mediated by beta-arrestin 2 and GRK2. Science 306:2257-60
- 103. Wilbanks AM, Fralish GB, Kirby ML, Barak LS, Li YX, Caron MG 2004 Beta-arrestin 2 regulates zebrafish development through the hedgehog signaling pathway. Science 306:2264-7
- 104. Kim YM, Benovic JL 2002 Differential roles of arrestin-2 interaction with clathrin and adaptor protein 2 in G protein-coupled receptor trafficking. J Biol Chem 277:30760-8
- 105. Krupnick JG, Goodman OB, Jr., Keen JH, Benovic JL 1997 Arrestin/clathrin interaction. Localization of the clathrin binding domain of nonvisual arrestins to the carboxy terminus. J Biol Chem 272:15011-6
- 106. Gaidarov I, Krupnick JG, Falck JR, Benovic JL, Keen JH 1999 Arrestin function in G protein-coupled receptor endocytosis requires phosphoinositide binding. Embo J 18:871-81
- 107. Hupfeld CJ, Resnik JL, Ugi S, Olefsky JM 2005 Insulin-induced betaarrestin1 Ser-412 phosphorylation is a mechanism for desensitization of ERK activation by Galphai-coupled receptors. J Biol Chem 280:1016-23
- 108. Perry SJ, Baillie GS, Kohout TA, et al. 2002 Targeting of cyclic AMP degradation to beta 2-adrenergic receptors by beta-arrestins. Science 298:834-6
- 109. Gao H, Sun Y, Wu Y, et al. 2004 Identification of beta-arrestin2 as a G protein-coupled receptor-stimulated regulator of NF-kappaB pathways. Mol Cell 14:303-17
- 110. Witherow DS, Garrison TR, Miller WE, Lefkowitz RJ 2004 beta-Arrestin inhibits NF-kappaB activity by means of its interaction with the NF-kappaB inhibitor IkappaBalpha. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101:8603-7
- 111. **Barlic J, Andrews JD, Kelvin AA, et al.** 2000 Regulation of tyrosine kinase activation and granule release through beta-arrestin by CXCRI. Nat Immunol 1:227-33
- 112. Imamura T, Huang J, Dalle S, et al. 2001 beta -Arrestin-mediated recruitment of the Src family kinase Yes mediates endothelin-1-stimulated glucose transport. J Biol Chem 276:43663-7

- 113. Luttrell LM, Roudabush FL, Choy EW, et al. 2001 Activation and targeting of extracellular signal-regulated kinases by beta-arrestin scaffolds. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98:2449-54
- 114. DeFea KA, Zalevsky J, Thoma MS, Dery O, Mullins RD, Bunnett NW 2000 beta-arrestin-dependent endocytosis of proteinase-activated receptor 2 is required for intracellular targeting of activated ERK1/2. J Cell Biol 148:1267-81
- 115. Barnes WG, Reiter E, Violin JD, Ren XR, Milligan G, Lefkowitz RJ 2005 beta-Arrestin 1 and Galphaq/11 coordinately activate RhoA and stress fiber formation following receptor stimulation. J Biol Chem 280:8041-50
- 116. Bhattacharya M, Anborgh PH, Babwah AV, et al. 2002 Beta-arrestins regulate a Ral-GDS Ral effector pathway that mediates cytoskeletal reorganization. Nat Cell Biol 4:547-55
- 117. Kim KM, Gainetdinov RR, Laporte SA, Caron MG, Barak LS 2005 G protein-coupled receptor kinase regulates dopamine D3 receptor signaling by modulating the stability of a receptor-filamin-beta-arrestin complex. A case of autoreceptor regulation. J Biol Chem 280:12774-80
- 118. Hanson SM, Francis DJ, Vishnivetskiy SA, Klug CS, Gurevich VV 2006 Visual arrestin binding to microtubules involves a distinct conformational change. J Biol Chem 281:9765-72
- 119. Luttrell LM, Lefkowitz RJ 2002 The role of beta-arrestins in the termination and transduction of G-protein-coupled receptor signals. J Cell Sci 115:455-65
- 120. Barak LS, Ferguson SS, Zhang J, Caron MG 1997 A beta-arrestin/green fluorescent protein biosensor for detecting G protein-coupled receptor activation. J Biol Chem 272:27497-500
- 121. Oakley RH, Laporte SA, Holt JA, Caron MG, Barak LS 2000 Differential affinities of visual arrestin, beta arrestin1, and beta arrestin2 for G proteincoupled receptors delineate two major classes of receptors. J Biol Chem 275:17201-10
- 122. Oakley RH, Laporte SA, Holt JA, Barak LS, Caron MG 2001 Molecular determinants underlying the formation of stable intracellular G protein-coupled receptor-beta-arrestin complexes after receptor endocytosis\*. J Biol Chem 276:19452-60
- 123. McConalogue K, Dery O, Lovett M, et al. 1999 Substance P-induced trafficking of beta-arrestins. The role of beta-arrestins in endocytosis of the neurokinin-1 receptor. J Biol Chem 274:16257-68
- 124. Gesty-Palmer D, Shewy HE, Kohout TA, Luttrell LM 2005 beta-Arrestin 2 expression determines the transcriptional response to lysophosphatidic acid stimulation in murine embryo fibroblasts. J Biol Chem 280:32157-67
- 125. Jala VR, Shao WH, Haribabu B 2005 Phosphorylation-independent betaarrestin translocation and internalization of leukotriene B4 receptors. J Biol Chem 280:4880-7
- 126. Evans NA, Groarke DA, Warrack J, et al. 2001 Visualizing differences in ligand-induced beta-arrestin-GFP interactions and trafficking between three recently characterized G protein-coupled receptors. J Neurochem 77:476-85

- 127. Simaan M, Bedard-Goulet S, Fessart D, Gratton JP, Laporte SA 2005 Dissociation of beta-arrestin from internalized bradykinin B2 receptor is necessary for receptor recycling and resensitization. Cell Signal 17:1074-83
- 128. Conner DA, Mathier MA, Mortensen RM, et al. 1997 beta-Arrestin1 knockout mice appear normal but demonstrate altered cardiac responses to beta-adrenergic stimulation. Circ Res 81:1021-6
- 129. Bohn LM, Lefkowitz RJ, Gainetdinov RR, Peppel K, Caron MG, Lin FT 1999 Enhanced morphine analgesia in mice lacking beta-arrestin 2. Science 286:2495-8
- 130. Roman G, He J, Davis RL 2000 kurtz, a novel nonvisual arrestin, is an essential neural gene in Drosophila. Genetics 155:1281-95
- 131. Elbashir SM, Harborth J, Lendeckel W, Yalcin A, Weber K, Tuschl T 2001 Duplexes of 21-nucleotide RNAs mediate RNA interference in cultured mammalian cells. Nature 411:494-8
- 132. Mundell SJ, Loudon RP, Benovic JL 1999 Characterization of G proteincoupled receptor regulation in antisense mRNA-expressing cells with reduced arrestin levels. Biochemistry 38:8723-32
- 133. Ahn S, Nelson CD, Garrison TR, Miller WE, Lefkowitz RJ 2003 Desensitization, internalization, and signaling functions of beta-arrestins demonstrated by RNA interference. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100:1740-4
- 134. Claing A, Laporte SA, Caron MG, Lefkowitz RJ 2002 Endocytosis of G protein-coupled receptors: roles of G protein-coupled receptor kinases and beta-arrestin proteins. Prog Neurobiol 66:61-79
- 135. Shih W, Gallusser A, Kirchhausen T 1995 A clathrin-binding site in the hinge of the beta 2 chain of mammalian AP-2 complexes. J Biol Chem 270:31083-90
- 136. **Traub LM** 2003 Sorting it out: AP-2 and alternate clathrin adaptors in endocytic cargo selection. J Cell Biol 163:203-8
- 137. Fotin A, Cheng Y, Sliz P, et al. 2004 Molecular model for a complete clathrin lattice from electron cryomicroscopy. Nature 432:573-9
- 138. Kirchhausen T, Bonifacino JS, Riezman H 1997 Linking cargo to vesicle formation: receptor tail interactions with coat proteins. Curr Opin Cell Biol 9:488-95
- 139. Slepnev VI, De Camilli P 2000 Accessory factors in clathrin-dependent synaptic vesicle endocytosis. Nat Rev Neurosci 1:161-72
- 140. Peden AA, Oorschot V, Hesser BA, Austin CD, Scheller RH, Klumperman J 2004 Localization of the AP-3 adaptor complex defines a novel endosomal exit site for lysosomal membrane proteins. J Cell Biol 164:1065-76
- 141. **Owen DJ, Evans PR** 1998 A structural explanation for the recognition of tyrosine-based endocytotic signals. Science 282:1327-32
- 142. **Rapoport I, Chen YC, Cupers P, Shoelson SE, Kirchhausen T** 1998 Dileucine-based sorting signals bind to the beta chain of AP-1 at a site distinct and regulated differently from the tyrosine-based motif-binding site. Embo J 17:2148-55
- 143. Mishra SK, Hawryluk MJ, Brett TJ, et al. 2004 Dual engagement regulation of protein interactions with the AP-2 adaptor alpha appendage. J Biol Chem 279:46191-203

- 144. Iannolo G, Salcini AE, Gaidarov I, et al. 1997 Mapping of the molecular determinants involved in the interaction between eps15 and AP-2. Cancer Res 57:240-5
- 145. Benmerah A, Begue B, Dautry-Varsat A, Cerf-Bensussan N 1996 The ear of alpha-adaptin interacts with the COOH-terminal domain of the Eps 15 protein. J Biol Chem 271:12111-6
- 146. Mishra SK, Agostinelli NR, Brett TJ, Mizukami I, Ross TS, Traub LM 2001 Clathrin- and AP-2-binding sites in HIP1 uncover a general assembly role for endocytic accessory proteins. J Biol Chem 276:46230-6
- 147. Collins BM, McCoy AJ, Kent HM, Evans PR, Owen DJ 2002 Molecular architecture and functional model of the endocytic AP2 complex. Cell 109:523-35
- 148. Wang LH, Sudhof TC, Anderson RG 1995 The appendage domain of alphaadaptin is a high affinity binding site for dynamin. J Biol Chem 270:10079-83
- 149. Goodman OB, Jr., Keen JH 1995 The alpha chain of the AP-2 adaptor is a clathrin binding subunit. J Biol Chem 270:23768-73
- 150. Lundmark R, Carlsson SR 2003 Sorting nexin 9 participates in clathrinmediated endocytosis through interactions with the core components. J Biol Chem 278:46772-81
- 151. Morris SM, Cooper JA 2001 Disabled-2 colocalizes with the LDLR in clathrin-coated pits and interacts with AP-2. Traffic 2:111-23
- 152. Laporte SA, Miller WE, Kim KM, Caron MG 2002 beta-Arrestin/AP-2 interaction in G protein-coupled receptor internalization: identification of a beta-arrestin binging site in beta 2-adaptin. J Biol Chem 277:9247-54
- 153. Owen DJ, Vallis Y, Pearse BM, McMahon HT, Evans PR 2000 The structure and function of the beta 2-adaptin appendage domain. Embo J 19:4216-27
- 154. Mishra SK, Keyel PA, Edeling MA, Dupin AL, Owen DJ, Traub LM 2005 Functional dissection of an AP-2 beta2 appendage-binding sequence within the autosomal recessive hypercholesterolemia protein. J Biol Chem 280:19270-80
- 155. Ohno H, Stewart J, Fournier MC, et al. 1995 Interaction of tyrosine-based sorting signals with clathrin-associated proteins. Science 269:1872-5
- 156. Sorkina T, Bild A, Tebar F, Sorkin A 1999 Clathrin, adaptors and eps15 in endosomes containing activated epidermal growth factor receptors. J Cell Sci 112 (Pt 3):317-27
- 157. Ricotta D, Conner SD, Schmid SL, von Figura K, Honing S 2002 Phosphorylation of the AP2 mu subunit by AAK1 mediates high affinity binding to membrane protein sorting signals. J Cell Biol 156:791-5
- 158. **Conner SD, Schmid SL** 2002 Identification of an adaptor-associated kinase, AAK1, as a regulator of clathrin-mediated endocytosis. J Cell Biol 156:921-9
- 159. **Diviani D, Lattion AL, Abuin L, Staub O, Cotecchia S** 2003 The adaptor complex 2 directly interacts with the alpha 1b-adrenergic receptor and plays a role in receptor endocytosis. J Biol Chem 278:19331-40
- 160. **Trejo J, Coughlin SR** 1999 The cytoplasmic tails of protease-activated receptor-1 and substance P receptor specify sorting to lysosomes versus recycling. J Biol Chem 274:2216-24

- 161. Conner SD, Schmid SL 2003 Differential requirements for AP-2 in clathrinmediated endocytosis. J Cell Biol 162:773-9
- Kirchhausen T 1999 Adaptors for clathrin-mediated traffic. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 15:705-32
- 163. Motley A, Bright NA, Seaman MN, Robinson MS 2003 Clathrin-mediated endocytosis in AP-2-depleted cells. J Cell Biol 162:909-18
- 164. Hinrichsen L, Harborth J, Andrees L, Weber K, Ungewickell EJ 2003 Effect of clathrin heavy chain- and alpha-adaptin-specific small inhibitory RNAs on endocytic accessory proteins and receptor trafficking in HeLa cells. J Biol Chem 278:45160-70
- 165. Luttrell LM, Hawes BE, van Biesen T, Luttrell DK, Lansing TJ, Lefkowitz RJ 1996 Role of c-Src tyrosine kinase in G protein-coupled receptor- and Gbetagamma subunit-mediated activation of mitogen-activated protein kinases. J Biol Chem 271:19443-50
- 166. Chen YH, Pouyssegur J, Courtneidge SA, Van Obberghen-Schilling E 1994 Activation of Src family kinase activity by the G protein-coupled thrombin receptor in growth-responsive fibroblasts. J Biol Chem 269:27372-7
- 167. Simonson MS, Herman WH 1993 Protein kinase C and protein tyrosine kinase activity contribute to mitogenic signaling by endothelin-1. Cross-talk between G protein-coupled receptors and pp60c-src. J Biol Chem 268:9347-57
- 168. Schieffer B, Paxton WG, Chai Q, Marrero MB, Bernstein KE 1996 Angiotensin II controls p21ras activity via pp60c-src. J Biol Chem 271:10329-33
- 169. Ptasznik A, Traynor-Kaplan A, Bokoch GM 1995 G protein-coupled chemoattractant receptors regulate Lyn tyrosine kinase.Shc adapter protein signaling complexes. J Biol Chem 270:19969-73
- 170. Ahn S, Maudsley S, Luttrell LM, Lefkowitz RJ, Daaka Y 1999 Srcmediated tyrosine phosphorylation of dynamin is required for beta2-adrenergic receptor internalization and mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling. J Biol Chem 274:1185-8
- 171. Fessart D, Simaan M, Laporte SA 2005 c-Src regulates clathrin adapter protein 2 interaction with beta-arrestin and the angiotensin II type 1 receptor during clathrin- mediated internalization. Mol Endocrinol 19:491-503
- 172. Brown MT, Cooper JA 1996 Regulation, substrates and functions of src. Biochim Biophys Acta 1287:121-49
- 173. Xu W, Doshi A, Lei M, Eck MJ, Harrison SC 1999 Crystal structures of c-Src reveal features of its autoinhibitory mechanism. Mol Cell 3:629-38
- 174. Roskoski R, Jr. 2004 Src protein-tyrosine kinase structure and regulation. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 324:1155-64
- 175. Wilde A, Beattie EC, Lem L, et al. 1999 EGF receptor signaling stimulates SRC kinase phosphorylation of clathrin, influencing clathrin redistribution and EGF uptake. Cell 96:677-87
- 176. Li S, Seitz R, Lisanti MP 1996 Phosphorylation of caveolin by src tyrosine kinases. The alpha-isoform of caveolin is selectively phosphorylated by v-Src in vivo. J Biol Chem 271:3863-8
- 177. Fan G, Shumay E, Malbon CC, Wang H 2001 c-Src tyrosine kinase binds the beta 2-adrenergic receptor via phospho-Tyr-350, phosphorylates G-protein-

linked receptor kinase 2, and mediates agonist-induced receptor desensitization. J Biol Chem 276:13240-7

- 178. Paxton WG, Marrero MB, Klein JD, Delafontaine P, Berk BC, Bernstein KE 1994 The angiotensin II AT1 receptor is tyrosine and serine phosphorylated and can serve as a substrate for the src family of tyrosine kinases. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 200:260-7
- 179. Brown MT, Andrade J, Radhakrishna H, Donaldson JG, Cooper JA, Randazzo PA 1998 ASAP1, a phospholipid-dependent arf GTPase-activating protein that associates with and is phosphorylated by Src. Mol Cell Biol 18:7038-51
- 180. Huang JJ, Sun Y, Huang XY 2004 Distinct roles for Src tyrosine kinase in beta2-adrenergic receptor signaling to MAPK and in receptor internalization. J Biol Chem
- 181. Zhang J, Barak LS, Winkler KE, Caron MG, Ferguson SS 1997 A central role for beta-arrestins and clathrin-coated vesicle-mediated endocytosis in beta2-adrenergic receptor resensitization. Differential regulation of receptor resensitization in two distinct cell types. J Biol Chem 272:27005-14
- 182. Scott MG, Benmerah A, Muntaner O, Marullo S 2002 Recruitment of activated G protein-coupled receptors to pre-existing clathrin-coated pits in living cells. J Biol Chem 277:3552-9
- 183. Santini F, Gaidarov I, Keen JH 2002 G protein-coupled receptor/arrestin3 modulation of the endocytic machinery. J Cell Biol 156:665-76
- 184. Damke H, Baba T, Warnock DE, Schmid SL 1994 Induction of mutant dynamin specifically blocks endocytic coated vesicle formation. J Cell Biol 127:915-34
- 185. Poodry CA, Hall L, Suzuki DT 1973 Developmental properties of Shibire: a pleiotropic mutation affecting larval and adult locomotion and development. Dev Biol 32:373-86
- 186. Kosaka T, Ikeda K 1983 Possible temperature-dependent blockage of synaptic vesicle recycling induced by a single gene mutation in Drosophila. J Neurobiol 14:207-25
- 187. van der Bliek AM, Meyerowitz EM 1991 Dynamin-like protein encoded by the Drosophila shibire gene associated with vesicular traffic. Nature 351:411-4
- 188. Chen MS, Obar RA, Schroeder CC, et al. 1991 Multiple forms of dynamin are encoded by shibire, a Drosophila gene involved in endocytosis. Nature 351:583-6
- 189. Schmid SL, McNiven MA, De Camilli P 1998 Dynamin and its partners: a progress report. Curr Opin Cell Biol 10:504-12
- 190. **Praefcke GJ, McMahon HT** 2004 The dynamin superfamily: universal membrane tubulation and fission molecules? Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 5:133-47
- 191. Achiriloaie M, Barylko B, Albanesi JP 1999 Essential role of the dynamin pleckstrin homology domain in receptor-mediated endocytosis. Mol Cell Biol 19:1410-5
- 192. Lin HC, Gilman AG 1996 Regulation of dynamin I GTPase activity by G protein betagamma subunits and phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate. J Biol Chem 271:27979-82

- 193. Vallis Y, Wigge P, Marks B, Evans PR, McMahon HT 1999 Importance of the pleckstrin homology domain of dynamin in clathrin-mediated endocytosis. Curr Biol 9:257-60
- 194. Muhlberg AB, Warnock DE, Schmid SL 1997 Domain structure and intramolecular regulation of dynamin GTPase. Embo J 16:6676-83
- 195. Lee KB, Pals-Rylaarsdam R, Benovic JL, Hosey MM 1998 Arrestinindependent internalization of the m1, m3, and m4 subtypes of muscarinic cholinergic receptors. J Biol Chem 273:12967-72
- 196. Paing MM, Stutts AB, Kohout TA, Lefkowitz RJ, Trejo J 2002 beta -Arrestins regulate protease-activated receptor-1 desensitization but not internalization or Down-regulation. J Biol Chem 277:1292-300
- 197. Fraile-Ramos A, Kohout TA, Waldhoer M, Marsh M 2003 Endocytosis of the viral chemokine receptor US28 does not require beta-arrestins but is dependent on the clathrin-mediated pathway. Traffic 4:243-53
- 198. Dale LB, Bhattacharya M, Seachrist JL, Anborgh PH, Ferguson SS 2001 Agonist-stimulated and tonic internalization of metabotropic glutamate receptor 1a in human embryonic kidney 293 cells: agonist-stimulated endocytosis is beta-arrestin1 isoform-specific. Mol Pharmacol 60:1243-53
- 199. Heding A, Vrecl M, Hanyaloglu AC, Sellar R, Taylor PL, Eidne KA 2000 The rat gonadotropin-releasing hormone receptor internalizes via a betaarrestin-independent, but dynamin-dependent, pathway: addition of a carboxylterminal tail confers beta-arrestin dependency. Endocrinology 141:299-306
- 200. Bhatnagar A, Willins DL, Gray JA, Woods J, Benovic JL, Roth BL 2001 The dynamin-dependent, arrestin-independent internalization of 5hydroxytryptamine 2A (5-HT2A) serotonin receptors reveals differential sorting of arrestins and 5-HT2A receptors during endocytosis. J Biol Chem 276:8269-77
- 201. Bhatnagar A, Sheffler DJ, Kroeze WK, Compton-Toth B, Roth BL 2004 Caveolin-1 interacts with 5-HT2A serotonin receptors and profoundly modulates the signaling of selected Galphaq-coupled protein receptors. J Biol Chem 279:34614-23
- 202. Head BP, Patel HH, Roth DM, et al. 2005 G-protein-coupled receptor signaling components localize in both sarcolemmal and intracellular caveolin-3-associated microdomains in adult cardiac myocytes. J Biol Chem 280:31036-44
- 203. Teixeira A, Chaverot N, Schroder C, Strosberg AD, Couraud PO, Cazaubon S 1999 Requirement of caveolae microdomains in extracellular signal-regulated kinase and focal adhesion kinase activation induced by endothelin-1 in primary astrocytes. J Neurochem 72:120-8
- 204. Henley JR, Krueger EW, Oswald BJ, McNiven MA 1998 Dynaminmediated internalization of caveolae. J Cell Biol 141:85-99
- 205. Feron O, Smith TW, Michel T, Kelly RA 1997 Dynamic targeting of the agonist-stimulated m2 muscarinic acetylcholine receptor to caveolae in cardiac myocytes. J Biol Chem 272:17744-8
- 206. Dupree P, Parton RG, Raposo G, Kurzchalia TV, Simons K 1993 Caveolae and sorting in the trans-Golgi network of epithelial cells. Embo J 12:1597-605

- 207. de Weerd WF, Leeb-Lundberg LM 1997 Bradykinin sequesters B2 bradykinin receptors and the receptor-coupled Galpha subunits Galphaq and Galphai in caveolae in DDT1 MF-2 smooth muscle cells. J Biol Chem 272:17858-66
- 208. Chun M, Liyanage UK, Lisanti MP, Lodish HF 1994 Signal transduction of a G protein-coupled receptor in caveolae: colocalization of endothelin and its receptor with caveolin. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 91:11728-32
- 209. Okamoto T, Schlegel A, Scherer PE, Lisanti MP 1998 Caveolins, a family of scaffolding proteins for organizing "preassembled signaling complexes" at the plasma membrane. J Biol Chem 273:5419-22
- 210. **Razani B, Rubin CS, Lisanti MP** 1999 Regulation of cAMP-mediated signal transduction via interaction of caveolins with the catalytic subunit of protein kinase A. J Biol Chem 274:26353-60
- 211. Roettger BF, Rentsch RU, Pinon D, et al. 1995 Dual pathways of internalization of the cholecystokinin receptor. J Cell Biol 128:1029-41
- 212. **Tsao P, Cao T, von Zastrow M** 2001 Role of endocytosis in mediating downregulation of G-protein-coupled receptors. Trends Pharmacol Sci 22:91-6
- 213. Okamoto Y, Ninomiya H, Miwa S, Masaki T 2000 Cholesterol oxidation switches the internalization pathway of endothelin receptor type A from caveolae to clathrin-coated pits in Chinese hamster ovary cells. J Biol Chem 275:6439-46
- 214. **Rapacciuolo A, Suvarna S, Barki-Harrington L, et al.** 2003 Protein kinase A and G protein-coupled receptor kinase phosphorylation mediates beta-1 adrenergic receptor endocytosis through different pathways. J Biol Chem 278:35403-11
- 215. **Pawson AJ, Maudsley SR, Lopes J, et al.** 2003 Multiple determinants for rapid agonist-induced internalization of a nonmammalian gonadotropin-releasing hormone receptor: a putative palmitoylation site and threonine doublet within the carboxyl-terminal tail Are critical. Endocrinology 144:3860-71
- 216. Walker JK, Premont RT, Barak LS, Caron MG, Shetzline MA 1999 Properties of secretin receptor internalization differ from those of the beta(2)adrenergic receptor. J Biol Chem 274:31515-23
- 217. Roseberry AG, Hosey MM 2001 Internalization of the M2 muscarinic acetylcholine receptor proceeds through an atypical pathway in HEK293 cells that is independent of clathrin and caveolae. J Cell Sci 114:739-46
- 218. Vogler O, Nolte B, Voss M, Schmidt M, Jakobs KH, van Koppen CJ 1999 Regulation of muscarinic acetylcholine receptor sequestration and function by beta-arrestin. J Biol Chem 274:12333-8
- 219. Lamb ME, De Weerd WF, Leeb-Lundberg LM 2001 Agonist-promoted trafficking of human bradykinin receptors: arrestin- and dynamin-independent sequestration of the B2 receptor and bradykinin in HEK293 cells. Biochem J 355:741-50
- 220. Gilbert TL, Bennett TA, Maestas DC, Cimino DF, Prossnitz ER 2001 Internalization of the human N-formyl peptide and C5a chemoattractant receptors occurs via clathrin-independent mechanisms. Biochemistry 40:3467-75

- 221. Mundell SJ, Matharu AL, Kelly E, Benovic JL 2000 Arrestin isoforms dictate differential kinetics of A2B adenosine receptor trafficking. Biochemistry 39:12828-36
- 222. Claing A, Perry SJ, Achiriloaie M, et al. 2000 Multiple endocytic pathways of G protein-coupled receptors delineated by GIT1 sensitivity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97:1119-24
- 223. Shenoy SK, Lefkowitz RJ 2003 Multifaceted roles of beta-arrestins in the regulation of seven-membrane-spanning receptor trafficking and signalling. Biochem J 375:503-15
- 224. Hicke L 2001 Protein regulation by monoubiquitin. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2:195-201
- 225. Marchese A, Benovic JL 2001 Agonist-promoted ubiquitination of the G protein-coupled receptor CXCR4 mediates lysosomal sorting. J Biol Chem 276:45509-12
- 226. **Tanowitz M, Von Zastrow M** 2002 Ubiquitination-independent trafficking of G protein-coupled receptors to lysosomes. J Biol Chem 277:50219-22
- 227. Martin NP, Lefkowitz RJ, Shenoy SK 2003 Regulation of V2 vasopressin receptor degradation by agonist-promoted ubiquitination. J Biol Chem 278:45954-9
- 228. Tsao PI, von Zastrow M 2000 Type-specific sorting of G protein-coupled receptors after endocytosis. J Biol Chem 275:11130-40
- 229. Anborgh PH, Seachrist JL, Dale LB, Ferguson SS 2000 Receptor/betaarrestin complex formation and the differential trafficking and resensitization of beta2-adrenergic and angiotensin II type 1A receptors. Mol Endocrinol 14:2040-53
- 230. Paasche JD, Attramadal T, Sandberg C, Johansen HK, Attramadal H 2001 Mechanisms of endothelin receptor subtype-specific targeting to distinct intracellular trafficking pathways. J Biol Chem 276:34041-50
- 231. Hanyaloglu AC, Vrecl M, Kroeger KM, et al. 2001 Casein kinase II sites in the intracellular C-terminal domain of the thyrotropin-releasing hormone receptor and chimeric gonadotropin-releasing hormone receptors contribute to beta-arrestin-dependent internalization. J Biol Chem 276:18066-74
- 232. Zhang J, Barak LS, Anborgh PH, Laporte SA, Caron MG, Ferguson SS 1999 Cellular trafficking of G protein-coupled receptor/beta-arrestin endocytic complexes. J Biol Chem 274:10999-1006
- 233. Innamorati G, Sadeghi HM, Tran NT, Birnbaumer M 1998 A serine cluster prevents recycling of the V2 vasopressin receptor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95:2222-6
- 234. Innamorati G, Le Gouill C, Balamotis M, Birnbaumer M 2001 The long and the short cycle. Alternative intracellular routes for trafficking of G-proteincoupled receptors. J Biol Chem 276:13096-103
- 235. **Thibonnier M, Plesnicher CL, Berrada K, Berti-Mattera L** 2001 Role of the human V1 vasopressin receptor COOH terminus in internalization and mitogenic signal transduction. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 281:E81-92
- 236. Hall RA, Ostedgaard LS, Premont RT, et al. 1998 A C-terminal motif found in the beta2-adrenergic receptor, P2Y1 receptor and cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator determines binding to the Na+/H+

exchanger regulatory factor family of PDZ proteins. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95:8496-501

- 237. Cao TT, Deacon HW, Reczek D, Bretscher A, von Zastrow M 1999 A kinase-regulated PDZ-domain interaction controls endocytic sorting of the beta2-adrenergic receptor. Nature 401:286-90
- 238. Hall RA, Spurney RF, Premont RT, et al. 1999 G protein-coupled receptor kinase 6A phosphorylates the Na(+)/H(+) exchanger regulatory factor via a PDZ domain-mediated interaction. J Biol Chem 274:24328-34
- 239. Cong M, Perry SJ, Hu LA, Hanson PI, Claing A, Lefkowitz RJ 2001 Binding of the beta2 adrenergic receptor to N-ethylmaleimide-sensitive factor regulates receptor recycling. J Biol Chem 276:45145-52
- 240. Sibley DR, Lefkowitz RJ 1985 Molecular mechanisms of receptor desensitization using the beta-adrenergic receptor-coupled adenylate cyclase system as a model. Nature 317:124-9
- 241. Bremnes T, Paasche JD, Mehlum A, Sandberg C, Bremnes B, Attramadal H 2000 Regulation and intracellular trafficking pathways of the endothelin receptors. J Biol Chem 275:17596-604
- 242. Benovic JL, Kuhn H, Weyand I, Codina J, Caron MG, Lefkowitz RJ 1987 Functional desensitization of the isolated beta-adrenergic receptor by the betaadrenergic receptor kinase: potential role of an analog of the retinal protein arrestin (48-kDa protein). Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 84:8879-82
- 243. Milano SK, Pace HC, Kim YM, Brenner C, Benovic JL 2002 Scaffolding functions of arrestin-2 revealed by crystal structure and mutagenesis. Biochemistry 41:3321-8
- 244. Garland AM, Grady EF, Lovett M, et al. 1996 Mechanisms of desensitization and resensitization of G protein-coupled neurokinin1 and neurokinin2 receptors. Mol Pharmacol 49:438-46
- 245. Hasbi A, Allouche S, Sichel F, et al. 2000 Internalization and recycling of delta-opioid receptor are dependent on a phosphorylation-dephosphorylation mechanism. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 293:237-47
- 246. Pippig S, Andexinger S, Lohse MJ 1995 Sequestration and recycling of beta 2-adrenergic receptors permit receptor resensitization. Mol Pharmacol 47:666-76
- 247. Pitcher JA, Payne ES, Csortos C, DePaoli-Roach AA, Lefkowitz RJ 1995 The G-protein-coupled receptor phosphatase: a protein phosphatase type 2A with a distinct subcellular distribution and substrate specificity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92:8343-7
- 248. Krueger KM, Daaka Y, Pitcher JA, Lefkowitz RJ 1997 The role of sequestration in G protein-coupled receptor resensitization. Regulation of beta2-adrenergic receptor dephosphorylation by vesicular acidification. J Biol Chem 272:5-8
- 249. Coughlin SR 1999 How the protease thrombin talks to cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96:11023-7
- 250. Shapiro MJ, Trejo J, Zeng D, Coughlin SR 1996 Role of the thrombin receptor's cytoplasmic tail in intracellular trafficking. Distinct determinants for agonist-triggered versus tonic internalization and intracellular localization. J Biol Chem 271:32874-80

- 251. Shapiro MJ, Coughlin SR 1998 Separate signals for agonist-independent and agonist-triggered trafficking of protease-activated receptor 1. J Biol Chem 273:29009-14
- 252. Pfeiffer M, Kirscht S, Stumm R, et al. 2003 Heterodimerization of substance P and mu-opioid receptors regulates receptor trafficking and resensitization. J Biol Chem 278:51630-7
- 253. Iwata K, Ito K, Fukuzaki A, Inaki K, Haga T 1999 Dynamin and rab5 regulate GRK2-dependent internalization of dopamine D2 receptors. Eur J Biochem 263:596-602
- 254. Seachrist JL, Anborgh PH, Ferguson SS 2000 beta 2-adrenergic receptor internalization, endosomal sorting, and plasma membrane recycling are regulated by rab GTPases. J Biol Chem 275:27221-8
- 255. Luttrell LM, Daaka Y, Lefkowitz RJ 1999 Regulation of tyrosine kinase cascades by G-protein-coupled receptors. Curr Opin Cell Biol 11:177-83
- 256. Tohgo A, Pierce KL, Choy EW, Lefkowitz RJ, Luttrell LM 2002 beta-Arrestin scaffolding of the ERK cascade enhances cytosolic ERK activity but inhibits ERK-mediated transcription following angiotensin AT1a receptor stimulation. J Biol Chem 277:9429-36
- 257. McDonald PH, Chow CW, Miller WE, et al. 2000 Beta-arrestin 2: a receptor-regulated MAPK scaffold for the activation of JNK3. Science 290:1574-7
- 258. Ahn S, Shenoy SK, Wei H, Lefkowitz RJ 2004 Differential kinetic and spatial patterns of beta-arrestin and G protein-mediated ERK activation by the angiotensin II receptor. J Biol Chem 279:35518-25
- 259. Tohgo A, Choy EW, Gesty-Palmer D, et al. 2003 The stability of the G protein-coupled receptor-beta-arrestin interaction determines the mechanism and functional consequence of ERK activation. J Biol Chem 278:6258-67
- 260. Ahn S, Wei H, Garrison TR, Lefkowitz RJ 2004 Reciprocal regulation of angiotensin receptor-activated extracellular signal-regulated kinases by betaarrestins 1 and 2. J Biol Chem 279:7807-11
- 261. Shenoy SK, Drake MT, Nelson CD, et al. 2005 beta -arrestin-dependent, G protein-independent ERK1/2 activation by the beta 2 adrenergic receptor. J Biol Chem
- 262. **DeFea KA, Vaughn ZD, O'Bryan EM, Nishijima D, Dery O, Bunnett NW** 2000 The proliferative and antiapoptotic effects of substance P are facilitated by formation of a beta -arrestin-dependent scaffolding complex. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97:11086-91
- 263. Girnita L, Shenoy SK, Sehat B, et al. 2005 {beta}-Arrestin is crucial for ubiquitination and down-regulation of the insulin-like growth factor-1 receptor by acting as adaptor for the MDM2 E3 ligase. J Biol Chem 280:24412-9
- 264. Mukherjee A, Veraksa A, Bauer A, Rosse C, Camonis J, Artavanis-Tsakonas S 2005 Regulation of Notch signalling by non-visual beta-arrestin. Nat Cell Biol 7:1091-101
- 265. Kang J, Shi Y, Xiang B, et al. 2005 A nuclear function of beta-arrestin1 in GPCR signaling: regulation of histone acetylation and gene transcription. Cell 123:833-47

- 266. de Gasparo M, Catt KJ, Inagami T, Wright JW, Unger T 2000 International union of pharmacology. XXIII. The angiotensin II receptors. Pharmacol Rev 52:415-72
- 267. Griendling KK, Lassegue B, Alexander RW 1996 Angiotensin receptors and their therapeutic implications. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 36:281-306
- 268. Lafayette RA, Mayer G, Park SK, Meyer TW 1992 Angiotensin II receptor blockade limits glomerular injury in rats with reduced renal mass. J Clin Invest 90:766-71
- 269. Samanen J, Cash T, Narindray D, et al. 1991 An investigation of angiotensin II agonist and antagonist analogues with 5,5-dimethylthiazolidine-4-carboxylic acid and other constrained amino acids. J Med Chem 34:3036-43
- 270. Berk BC 1999 Angiotensin II signal transduction in vascular smooth muscle: pathways activated by specific tyrosine kinases. J Am Soc Nephrol 10 Suppl 11:S62-8
- 271. Greco S, Muscella A, Elia MG, et al. 2003 Angiotensin II activates extracellular signal regulated kinases via protein kinase C and epidermal growth factor receptor in breast cancer cells. J Cell Physiol 196:370-7
- 272. Dikic I, Tokiwa G, Lev S, Courtneidge SA, Schlessinger J 1996 A role for Pyk2 and Src in linking G-protein-coupled receptors with MAP kinase activation. Nature 383:547-50
- 273. Saito Y, Berk BC 2001 Transactivation: a novel signaling pathway from angiotensin II to tyrosine kinase receptors. J Mol Cell Cardiol 33:3-7
- 274. Ali MS, Sayeski PP, Dirksen LB, Hayzer DJ, Marrero MB, Bernstein KE 1997 Dependence on the motif YIPP for the physical association of Jak2 kinase with the intracellular carboxyl tail of the angiotensin II AT1 receptor. J Biol Chem 272:23382-8
- 275. Smythe E, Warren G 1991 The mechanism of receptor-mediated endocytosis. Eur J Biochem 202:689-99
- 276. AbdAlla S, Lother H, Langer A, el Faramawy Y, Quitterer U 2004 Factor XIIIA transglutaminase crosslinks AT1 receptor dimers of monocytes at the onset of atherosclerosis. Cell 119:343-54
- 277. AbdAlla S, Lother H, Quitterer U 2000 AT1-receptor heterodimers show enhanced G-protein activation and altered receptor sequestration. Nature 407:94-8
- 278. AbdAlla S, Lother H, Abdel-tawab AM, Quitterer U 2001 The angiotensin II AT2 receptor is an AT1 receptor antagonist. J Biol Chem 276:39721-6
- 279. Barki-Harrington L, Luttrell LM, Rockman HA 2003 Dual inhibition of beta-adrenergic and angiotensin II receptors by a single antagonist: a functional role for receptor-receptor interaction in vivo. Circulation 108:1611-8
- 280. Terrillon S, Bouvier M 2004 Receptor activity-independent recruitment of betaarrestin2 reveals specific signalling modes. Embo J 23:3950-61
- 281. Thomas WG 1999 Regulation of angiotensin II type 1 (AT1) receptor function. Regul Pept 79:9-23
- 282. Hein L, Meinel L, Pratt RE, Dzau VJ, Kobilka BK 1997 Intracellular trafficking of angiotensin II and its AT1 and AT2 receptors: evidence for selective sorting of receptor and ligand. Mol Endocrinol 11:1266-77

- 283. Zhang J, Ferguson SS, Barak LS, Menard L, Caron MG 1996 Dynamin and beta-arrestin reveal distinct mechanisms for G protein-coupled receptor internalization. J Biol Chem 271:18302-5
- 284. Gaborik Z, Szaszak M, Szidonya L, et al. 2001 Beta-arrestin- and dynamindependent endocytosis of the AT1 angiotensin receptor. Mol Pharmacol 59:239-47
- 285. Conchon S, Monnot C, Teutsch B, Corvol P, Clauser E 1994 Internalization of the rat AT1a and AT1b receptors: pharmacological and functional requirements. FEBS Lett 349:365-70
- 286. Bihoreau C, Monnot C, Davies E, et al. 1993 Mutation of Asp74 of the rat angiotensin II receptor confers changes in antagonist affinities and abolishes G-protein coupling. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 90:5133-7
- 287. Laporte SA, Servant G, Richard DE, Escher E, Guillemette G, Leduc R 1996 The tyrosine within the NPXnY motif of the human angiotensin II type 1 receptor is involved in mediating signal transduction but is not essential for internalization. Mol Pharmacol 49:89-95
- 288. Thomas WG, Baker KM, Motel TJ, Thekkumkara TJ 1995 Angiotensin II receptor endocytosis involves two distinct regions of the cytoplasmic tail. A role for residues on the hydrophobic face of a putative amphipathic helix. J Biol Chem 270:22153-9
- 289. **Oppermann M, Freedman NJ, Alexander RW, Lefkowitz RJ** 1996 Phosphorylation of the type 1A angiotensin II receptor by G protein-coupled receptor kinases and protein kinase C. J Biol Chem 271:13266-72
- 290. Qian H, Pipolo L, Thomas WG 1999 Identification of protein kinase C phosphorylation sites in the angiotensin II (AT1A) receptor. Biochem J 343 Pt 3:637-44
- 291. Smith RD, Hunyady L, Olivares-Reyes JA, Mihalik B, Jayadev S, Catt KJ 1998 Agonist-induced phosphorylation of the angiotensin AT1a receptor is localized to a serine/threonine-rich region of its cytoplasmic tail. Mol Pharmacol 54:935-41
- 292. Hunyady L, Baukal AJ, Gaborik Z, et al. 2002 Differential PI 3-kinase dependence of early and late phases of recycling of the internalized AT1 angiotensin receptor. J Cell Biol 157:1211-22
- 293. Richard DE, Chretien L, Caron M, Guillemette G 1997 Stimulation of the angiotensin II type I receptor on bovine adrenal glomerulosa cells activates a temperature-sensitive internalization-recycling pathway. Mol Cell Endocrinol 129:209-18
- 294. Oliverio MI, Kim HS, Ito M, et al. 1998 Reduced growth, abnormal kidney structure, and type 2 (AT2) angiotensin receptor-mediated blood pressure regulation in mice lacking both AT1A and AT1B receptors for angiotensin II. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95:15496-501
- 295. Seta K, Nanamori M, Modrall JG, Neubig RR, Sadoshima J 2002 AT1 receptor mutant lacking heterotrimeric G protein coupling activates the Src-Ras-ERK pathway without nuclear translocation of ERKs. J Biol Chem 277:9268-77

- 296. Zhai P, Yamamoto M, Galeotti J, et al. 2005 Cardiac-specific overexpression of AT1 receptor mutant lacking Galphaq/Galphai coupling causes hypertrophy and bradycardia in transgenic mice. J Clin Invest 115:3045-3056
- 297. Huang F, Jiang X, Sorkin A 2003 Tyrosine phosphorylation of the beta2 subunit of clathrin adaptor complex AP-2 reveals the role of a di-leucine motif in the epidermal growth factor receptor trafficking. J Biol Chem 278:43411-7
- 298. Lefkowitz RJ 1998 G protein-coupled receptors. III. New roles for receptor kinases and beta-arrestins in receptor signaling and desensitization. J Biol Chem 273:18677-80
- 299. Schmid SL 1997 Clathrin-coated vesicle formation and protein sorting: an integrated process. Annu Rev Biochem 66:511-48
- 300. Slepnev VI, Ochoa GC, Butler MH, Grabs D, Camilli PD 1998 Role of phosphorylation in regulation of the assembly of endocytic coat complexes. Science 281:821-4
- 301. Chen H, Slepnev VI, Di Fiore PP, De Camilli P 1999 The interaction of epsin and Eps15 with the clathrin adaptor AP-2 is inhibited by mitotic phosphorylation and enhanced by stimulation-dependent dephosphorylation in nerve terminals. J Biol Chem 274:3257-60
- 302. Shajahan AN, Timblin BK, Sandoval R, Tiruppathi C, Malik AB, Minshall RD 2004 Role of Src-induced dynamin-2 phosphorylation in caveolae-mediated endocytosis in endothelial cells. J Biol Chem 279:20392-400
- 303. Werbonat Y, Kleutges N, Jakobs KH, van Koppen CJ 2000 Essential role of dynamin in internalization of M2 muscarinic acetylcholine and angiotensin AT1A receptors. J Biol Chem 275:21969-74
- 304. Ahn S, Kim J, Lucaveche CL, et al. 2002 Src-dependent tyrosine phosphorylation regulates dynamin self-assembly and ligand-induced endocytosis of the epidermal growth factor receptor. J Biol Chem 277:26642-51
- 305. **Turner KM, Burgoyne RD, Morgan A** 1999 Protein phosphorylation and the regulation of synaptic membrane traffic. Trends Neurosci 22:459-64
- 306. Wilde A, Brodsky FM 1996 In vivo phosphorylation of adaptors regulates their interaction with clathrin. J Cell Biol 135:635-45
- 307. Lauritsen JP, Menne C, Kastrup J, Dietrich J, Odum N, Geisler C 2000 beta2-adaptin is constitutively de-phosphorylated by serine/threonine protein phosphatase PP2A and phosphorylated by a staurosporine-sensitive kinase. Biochim Biophys Acta 1497:297-307
- 308. Wei H, Ahn S, Shenoy SK, et al. 2003 Independent beta-arrestin 2 and G protein-mediated pathways for angiotensin II activation of extracellular signal-regulated kinases 1 and 2. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100:10782-7
- 309. Holloway AC, Qian H, Pipolo L, et al. 2002 Side-chain substitutions within angiotensin II reveal different requirements for signaling, internalization, and phosphorylation of type 1A angiotensin receptors. Mol Pharmacol 61:768-77
- 310. Rappoport JZ, Taha BW, Lemeer S, Benmerah A, Simon SM 2003 The AP-2 complex is excluded from the dynamic population of plasma membraneassociated clathrin. J Biol Chem 278:47357-60

- 311. Merrifield CJ, Feldman ME, Wan L, Almers W 2002 Imaging actin and dynamin recruitment during invagination of single clathrin-coated pits. Nat Cell Biol 4:691-8
- 312. Gutkind JS 1998 The pathways connecting G protein-coupled receptors to the nucleus through divergent mitogen-activated protein kinase cascades. J Biol Chem 273:1839-42
- 313. Di Cioccio V, Strippoli R, Bizzarri C, et al. 2004 Key role of proline-rich tyrosine kinase 2 in interleukin-8 (CXCL8/IL-8)-mediated human neutrophil chemotaxis. Immunology 111:407-15
- 314. Ge L, Ly Y, Hollenberg M, DeFea K 2003 A beta-arrestin-dependent scaffold is associated with prolonged MAPK activation in pseudopodia during proteaseactivated receptor-2-induced chemotaxis. J Biol Chem 278:34418-26
- 315. Fong AM, Premont RT, Richardson RM, Yu YR, Lefkowitz RJ, Patel DD 2002 Defective lymphocyte chemotaxis in beta-arrestin2- and GRK6-deficient mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99:7478-83
- 316. Revankar CM, Vines CM, Cimino DF, Prossnitz ER 2004 Arrestins block G protein-coupled receptor-mediated apoptosis. J Biol Chem 279:24578-84
- 317. Duchene J, Schanstra JP, Pecher C, et al. 2002 A novel protein-protein interaction between a G protein-coupled receptor and the phosphatase SHP-2 is involved in bradykinin-induced inhibition of cell proliferation. J Biol Chem 277:40375-83
- 318. Beaulieu JM, Sotnikova TD, Marion S, Lefkowitz RJ, Gainetdinov RR, Caron MG 2005 An Akt/beta-arrestin 2/PP2A signaling complex mediates dopaminergic neurotransmission and behavior. Cell 122:261-73
- 319. Marrero MB, Venema VJ, Ju H, Eaton DC, Venema RC 1998 Regulation of angiotensin II-induced JAK2 tyrosine phosphorylation: roles of SHP-1 and SHP-2. Am J Physiol 275:C1216-23
- 320. Wang Y, Botvinick EL, Zhao Y, et al. 2005 Visualizing the mechanical activation of Src. Nature 434:1040-5
- 321. Gales C, Rebois RV, Hogue M, et al. 2005 Real-time monitoring of receptor and G-protein interactions in living cells. Nat Methods 2:177-84
- 322. Ghosh P, Kornfeld S 2003 AP-1 binding to sorting signals and release from clathrin-coated vesicles is regulated by phosphorylation. J Cell Biol 160:699-708
- 323. Lin FT, Chen W, Shenoy S, Cong M, Exum ST, Lefkowitz RJ 2002 Phosphorylation of beta-arrestin2 regulates its function in internalization of beta(2)-adrenergic receptors. Biochemistry 41:10692-9
- 324. **Toshima J, Toshima JY, Martin AC, Drubin DG** 2005 Phosphoregulation of Arp2/3-dependent actin assembly during receptor-mediated endocytosis. Nat Cell Biol 7:246-54
- 325. Roth MG 2004 Phosphoinositides in constitutive membrane traffic. Physiol Rev 84:699-730
- 326. McGlade CJ, Ellis C, Reedijk M, et al. 1992 SH2 domains of the p85 alpha subunit of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase regulate binding to growth factor receptors. Mol Cell Biol 12:991-7
- 327. Escobedo JA, Kaplan DR, Kavanaugh WM, Turck CW, Williams LT 1991 A phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase binds to platelet-derived growth factor

receptors through a specific receptor sequence containing phosphotyrosine. Mol Cell Biol 11:1125-32

- 328. Hu P, Margolis B, Skolnik EY, Lammers R, Ullrich A, Schlessinger J 1992 Interaction of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase-associated p85 with epidermal growth factor and platelet-derived growth factor receptors. Mol Cell Biol 12:981-90
- 329. Reedijk M, Liu X, van der Geer P, et al. 1992 Tyr721 regulates specific binding of the CSF-1 receptor kinase insert to PI 3'-kinase SH2 domains: a model for SH2-mediated receptor-target interactions. Embo J 11:1365-72
- 330. Backer JM, Myers MG, Jr., Shoelson SE, et al. 1992 Phosphatidylinositol 3'kinase is activated by association with IRS-1 during insulin stimulation. Embo J 11:3469-79
- 331. Naga Prasad SV, Jayatilleke A, Madamanchi A, Rockman HA 2005 Protein kinase activity of phosphoinositide 3-kinase regulates beta-adrenergic receptor endocytosis. Nat Cell Biol 7:785-96
- 332. Pelkmans L, Fava E, Grabner H, et al. 2005 Genome-wide analysis of human kinases in clathrin- and caveolae/raft-mediated endocytosis. Nature 436:78-86

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The work on this thesis has been an inspiring, often exciting, sometimes challenging, but always interesting experience. It has been made possible by many other people, who have supported me. I would like to thank all those people who made this thesis possible and an enjoyable experience for me.

First of all I wish to express my deepest gratitude to my supervisor, Dr. Stéphane A. Laporte, who has given me the chance to participate in several interesting research projects and attend various conferences. He has supported me with his encouragement and many fruitful discussions. I would like also to express my gratitude to Dr. Laporte, for all his help, guidance, advice, criticism and insight throughout my Ph.D. studies. His lab has provided me an excellent environment to complete my work for which I am grateful.

I am deeply indebted to my advisor, Dr. Jean-Jacques Lebrun, for his constant support. Without his help, this work would not be possible. My thanks go also to the members of my thesis committee, namely: Dr. Louise Larose, Dr. Hans Zingg and Dr. Jean-Jacques Lebrun for helpful discussions, suggestions, comments and support.

I am grateful to the members of the Hormone and Cancer Research Unit, past and present for their support, especially to Dr. Bernard Turcotte, Dr. Hans Zingg, Dr. Jeanjacques Lebrun and Dr. Christian Rocheleau for their valuable help and scientific discussions; the members of the laboratory of Dr. Jean-jacques Lebrun; the members of the laboratory of Dr. Bernard Turcotte, the members of the laboratory of Dr. Hans Zingg, especially Dominic Devost, for his invaluable experience and advice, the members of the laboratory of Dr. Michel Bouvier, especially the close cooperation with Fadi Handam, and my group for their comradeship: May Simaan, Nadia Houri and Marie-Yvonne Akoume, for their precious technical supports and friendship, and my friends : Sarah McPherson and Carole Wai for their encouragement, support and discussions. I am also extremely grateful to Dr. Hugh Bennett: the chairman of the Division of Experimental Medicine, the student affairs officer Dominique Besso and the coordinator Marylin Linhares for their kindness, serenity and reliability.

I would also like to extend my most sincere thanks to the "McGill University Health Center" and the "Fonds pour la Recherche en Santé du Québec" for their financial support.

Finally, I would like to express my deepest gratitude for the constant support, understanding and love that I received from Frédéric Delom who patiently proofread this entire thesis. And also to my family to whom I dedicate this thesis, especially to my mother, my father and my brother whose unconditional support have played a major role in helping me to achieve this thesis...

### INDEX

---

Abstract	ii
Acknowledgement	193
Appendices	196
Abbreviations	vii
Adaptor clathrin protein	24
Angiotensin II type 1 receptor	44
Arrestins	16
Bibliography for sections I and V	170
Clathrin	24
Connecting text for Section III	59
Connecting text for Section IV	103
Contribution of authors	iv
Contributions to Original Research	167
Dedication	i
Desensitization	11
Down-regulation	11
Dynamin	32
Endocytosis	11
Future perspectives	163
Gβγ pathway	9
G <sub>12/13</sub> pathway	9
G <sub>i</sub> pathway	8
G <sub>q</sub> pathway	9
G <sub>s</sub> pathway	8
GPCR.	2
GRK	13
Heterologous desensitization	12
Homologous desensitization	12
Internalization	23
List of Figures and tables	xv
Rational and Objectives	54
Résumé	iii
References for section III	83
References for section IV	125
Section I: Literature review	1
Section III: Manuscript 1	60
Section IV: Manuscript 2	104
Section V: Discussion and conclusions	145
Src	30
Table of Contents	xi

APPENDICES

--

# c-Src Regulates Clathrin Adapter Protein 2 Interaction with $\beta$ -Arrestin and the Angiotensin II Type 1 Receptor during Clathrin-Mediated Internalization

Delphine Fessart, May Simaan, and Stéphane A. Laporte

Hormones and Cancer Research Unit, Department of Medicine, McGill University, Montréal, Québec, Canada H3A 1A1

β-Arrestins are multifunctional adapters involved in the internalization and signaling of G proteincoupled receptors (GPCRs). They target receptors to clathrin-coated pits (CCPs) through binding with clathrin and clathrin adapter 2 (AP-2) complex. They also act as transducers of signaling by recruiting c-Src kinase to certain GPCRs. Here we sought to determine whether c-Src regulates the recruitment of AP-2 to *β*-arrestin and the angiotensin II (Ang II) type 1 receptor (AT1R) during internalization. We show that the agonist stimulation of native AT1R in vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs) induces the formation of an endogenous complex containing c-Src,  $\beta$ -arrestins and AP-2. In vitro studies using coimmunoprecipitation experiments and a yeast three-hybrid assay reveal that c-Src stabilizes the agonist-independent association between  $\beta$ -arrestin2 and the  $\beta$ -subunit of AP-2 independently of the kinase activity of c-Src. However, although c-Src expression promoted the rapid dissociation of AP-2 from both *B*-arrestin and AT1R after receptor stimulation, a kinase-inactive mutant of c-Src failed to induce the dissociation of AP-2 from the agonist-occupied receptor. Thus, the consequence of c-Src in regulating the dissociation of AP-2 from the receptor was also examined on the internalization of AT1R by depleting c-Src in human embryonic kidney (HEK) 293 cells using a small interfering RNA strategy. Experiments in c-Src depleted cells reveal that AT1R remained mostly colocalized with AP-2 at the plasma membrane after Ang II stimulation, consistent with the observed delay in receptor internalization. Moreover, coimmunoprecipitation experiments in c-Src depleted HEK 293 cells and VSMCs showed an increased association of AP-2 to the agonistoccupied AT1R and  $\beta$ -arrestin, respectively. Together, our results support a role for c-Src in regulating the dissociation of AP-2 from agonistoccupied AT1R and B-arrestin during the clathrinmediated internalization of receptors and suggest a novel function for c-Src kinase in the internalization of AT1R. (Molecular Endocrinology 19: 491-503, 2005)

G PROTEIN-COUPLED RECEPTORS (GPCRs) are integral membrane proteins that are responsible for controlling an array of physiological responses such as phototransduction, olfaction, neurotransmission, vascular tone, cardiac output, and pain. The intensity and the duration of a response are dependent on the balance that exists between mechanisms that

regulate the coupling of the receptors to their downstream effectors and those that terminate the signaling. Mechanisms that rapidly turn off signaling include desensitization, whereby receptors become refractory to subsequent stimuli, and internalization, where receptors are removed from the plasma membrane (a process also referred to as sequestration or endocytosis) (1, 2). Internalization of GPCRs can lead to the reestablishment of the cellular response by the recycling of receptors to the plasma membrane, or the prevention of further signaling by targeting receptors for degradation.

Homologous desensitization and internalization of receptors involve common and distinct steps. Agonist stimulation of GPCRs promotes the phosphorylation of receptors by GPCR kinases (GRKs), and the recruitment of nonvisual arrestin proteins ( $\beta$ -arrestin1 and  $\beta$ -arrestin2) to the phosphorylated receptors (1).  $\beta$ -Arrestins bind to the agonist-occupied GPCR to prevent second-messenger signaling and act as adapters to target desensitized receptors to clathrin-coated vesicles (CCVs) at the plasma membrane (*i.e.* clathrin-

First Published Online October 21, 2004

Abbreviations: AD, Activation domain; AP-1/2, clathrin adapter protein 1 and 2; Ang II, angiotensin II; AS-1, antisense DNA for c-Src; AT1R, angiotensin II type 1 receptor;  $\beta$ 2AR,  $\beta$ 2-adrenergic receptor; CCP, clathrin-coated pit; CCV, clathrin-coated vesicle; CTL-1, control antisense DNA; DBD, DNA binding domain; EGFR, epidermal growth factor receptor; GAPDH, glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase; GFP, green fluorescent protein; GPCR, G protein-coupled receptor; GRK, G protein-coupled receptor kinase; HA, hemagglutinin; HEK, human embryonic kidney; siRNA, small interfering RNA; SDS, sodium dodecyl sulfate; VSMC, vascular smooth muscle cell.

Molecular Endocrinology is published monthly by The Endocrine Society (http://www.endo-society.org), the foremost professional society serving the endocrine community.
coated pits; CCPs) for internalization (3, 4). The involvement of  $\beta$ -arrestins in the internalization of the  $\beta$ 2-adrenergic receptor ( $\beta$ 2AR) and the angiotensin II (Ang II) type 1 receptor (AT1R) has been demonstrated using different approaches, and more recently by gene disruption and posttranscriptional silencing of  $\beta$ arrestins (5, 6). In the case of the  $\beta$ 2AR,  $\beta$ -arrestins are believed to link the agonist-occupied receptors to CCPs by interacting through their C-terminal domains with both clathrin and the  $\beta$ -subunit of the heterotetrameric adapter AP-2 complex (β2-adaptin) (7-10). Many studies indicate that AT1R can internalize via CCVs in both heterologous and endogenous systems (11-15), but the underlying mechanisms regulating  $\beta$ -arrestin-mediated endocytosis of AT1R and other GPCRs still remain poorly understood.

In addition to their roles in GPCR desensitization and internalization, recent evidence indicates that  $\beta$ -arrestins can also participate in receptor signaling by functioning as adapters for the recruitment of signaling molecules to agonist-occupied receptors (16). For instance,  $\beta$ -arrestins have been shown to recruit the nonreceptor tyrosine kinase c-Src to the  $\beta$ 2AR (17) and the neurokinin-1 receptor (18). The  $\beta$ -arrestinmediated recruitment of c-Src to the agonist-occupied  $\beta$ 2AR regulates the function of the endocytic protein dynamin, a GTPase involved in the fission of CCPs from the plasma membrane (8, 17). Given the dual adapter role for  $\beta$ -arrestins in the internalization and signaling of GPCRs, we hypothesize that c-Src could also regulate the recruitment of other endocytic proteins like AP-2 to the agonist-induced AT1R/β-arrestin complex, and consequently impact the early steps of receptor internalization.

## RESULTS

# Ang II Promotes the Formation of an Endogenous Complex Containing c-Src, $\beta$ -Arrestin, and AP-2

We have previously shown that the internalization of certain GPCRs, via the clathrin pathway, requires the recruitment of  $\beta$ -arrestin to the receptor, and the interaction of  $\beta$ -arrestin with the heterotetrameric AP-2 complex (via its *β*-subunit, *i.e. β*2-adaptin) (9). More recently, it has been suggested by different groups that β-arrestins act as signaling adapters for the recruitment of c-Src family kinases to some GPCRs (17-19). To determine whether c-Src could participate in the association between  $\beta$ -arrestin and AP-2, we first examined in an endogenous system, whether the agonist stimulation of AT1R promoted the formation of a complex containing c-Src,  $\beta$ -arrestin, and AP-2. Vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs) expressing endogenous AT1R (around 100 fmol/mg of total protein as estimated by radioligand binding experiments; data not shown) were serum starved for 12 h and then either left untreated or treated with Ang II for 5 min at 37 C. Cells were then solubilized and endogenous c-Src was immunoprecipitated. Interacting proteins in the complex were identified by Western blot analysis using antibodies against the  $\alpha$ -subunit of AP-2 and  $\beta$ -arrestin (Fig. 1). Results show that, in the absence of agonist stimulation, little  $\beta$ -arrestin and no AP-2 complex were detected in the c-Src immunoprecipitates. However, after agonist stimulation of native AT1R, a robust association of both  $\beta$ -arrestin and AP-2 was observed with c-Src. These results show that the agonist stimulation of AT1R in a native system like VSMCs promotes the formation of an endogenous complex including c-Src,  $\beta$ -arrestin, and AP-2.

# c-Src Increases the Association between $\beta$ -Arrestin and $\beta$ 2-Adaptin Independently of Its Kinase Activity

The Ang II-mediated formation of a complex containing B-arrestin, AP-2, and c-Src in VSMCs, and the recent demonstration that c-Src and B-arrestin associate with each other when overexpressed in COS-7 cells (20), suggest that c-Src is involved in stabilizing the association between  $\beta$ -arrestin and AP-2. We therefore reasoned that, by increasing the expression of c-Src in cells, we could induce the agonist-independent association between  $\beta$ -arrestin and AP-2. To test this possibility, COS-7 cells were transfected with Flag-tagged *B*-arrestin2 and increasing amounts of hemagglutinin (HA)-tagged c-Src, and the level of endogenous AP-2 (as assessed by the presence of  $\beta$ -subunit of the AP-2 complex, *i.e.*  $\beta$ 2-adaptin) in the β-arrestin immunoprecipitates was identified by Western blot analysis (Fig. 2A). In the absence of c-Src overexpression (Fig. 2A, lane 1), no B2-adaptin was detected in the  $\beta$ -arrestin immunocomplex. However, increasing the expression of c-Src resulted in the increased formation of a  $\beta$ -arrestin/AP-2 complex. We next examined whether this c-Src-mediated GPCRindependent association between  $\beta$ -arrestin2 and AP-2 was dependent on the kinase activity of c-Src.



Fig. 1. Ang II Promotes the Formation of an Endogenous Complex Containing c-Src,  $\beta$ -Arrestin, and AP-2

VSMCs were left untreated (-) or treated (+) with Ang II (100 nM) for 5 min at 37 C after serum starvation overnight. Endogenous c-Src was immunoprecipitated (IP) with the GD11 antibody, and proteins in the complex were detected by Western blot using c-Src (SRC2, Santa Cruz Biotechnology),  $\beta$ -arrestins (A1CT), and the  $\alpha$ -subunit of AP-2 (BD Transduction Laboratories) antibodies as described in *Materials and Methods*. Also presented are blots from whole cell extracts (Total, *right panel*) probed with the same antibodies. Blots are representative of three independent experiments.



Fig. 2. c-Src Overexpression Increases the Association between  $\beta$ -Arrestin and AP-2 Independently of the c-Src Kinase Activity

A, COS-7 cells were transiently transfected with Flag-βarrestin2 and increasing amounts of HA-c-Src. β-Arrestin was immunoprecipitated (IP) with Flag antibody (Sigma) and the amount of endogenous AP-2, as assessed by the presence of β2-adaptin in the β-arrestin immunoprecipitates was analyzed by Western blot using a ß2-adaptin (BD Transduction Laboratories) antibody. Whole cell extracts (Total) were also blotted for detecting the level of c-Src expression using the HA (Santa Cruz Biotechnology) and β2-adaptin (BD Transduction Laboratories) antibodies. B, COS-7 cells were transfected with Flag-β-arrestin2, β2-adaptin and pcDNA3.1 (Mock) and either HA-c-Src, HA-c-Src-Y530F or HA-c-Src-K298R. Whole cell extracts (Total) were analyzed by Western blot (WB) with the antiphosphotyrosine (P-Tyr) antibody 4G10 (Upstate Biotechnology). C, Cells were transfected as in (B), and Flag-*β*-arrestin was IP with the Flag antibody (Sigma), and complexes were analyzed by Western blot for the detection of β-arrestin, β2-adaptin, and c-Src expression using the antibodies against Flag (Sigma), B2-adaptin (BD Transduction Laboratories), and HA (Santa Cruz Biotechnology), respectively. Whole cell extracts (Total) were also blotted with anti-HA (Santa Cruz Biotechnology) and anti-β2-adaptin (BD Transduction Laboratories) antibodies, for detection of the different c-Src constructs and the p2-adaptin, respectively. Data are representative of at least three independent experiments.

To this end, we overexpressed  $\beta$ -arrestin2-Flag and  $\beta$ 2-adaptin in COS-7 cells with either wild-type c-Src or a mutant that mimics the activated form of c-Src (c-Src-Y530F) or the kinase dead c-Src-K298R (Fig. 2, B and C), and assessed the ability of the different c-Src constructs to promote the association between  $\beta$ 2-adaptin and  $\beta$ -arrestin. We first determined the relative level of kinase activity of the different c-Src

constructs by probing the total lysates from cells expressing wild-type and c-Src mutants using an antiphosphotyrosine antibody (Fig. 2B). The expression of wild-type c-Src and c-Src-Y530F had similar effects on the pattern of protein phosphorylation, whereas almost no phosphorylation of proteins was detected in cells overexpressing c-Src-K298R, suggesting that at the levels of c-Src and c-Src-Y530F expression, both kinases had a similar activity in cells. Subsequently, these different constructs were overexpressed in COS-7 cells, and the amounts of AP-2 and c-Src associated to the immunopurified *B*-arrestin2 complexes were analyzed. Although we found that all c-Src constructs were able to associate with  $\beta$ -arrestin2, only wild type c-Src and the K298R mutant promoted the formation of a ternary complex that included  $\beta$ 2adaptin and  $\beta$ -arrestin (Fig. 2C). These results imply that the kinase activity of c-Src is not required to promote the agonist-independent association of AP-2 with *B*-arrestin2.

To verify that c-Src directly contributed to the formation of a ternary complex with  $\beta$ -arrestin2 and  $\beta$ 2adaptin, and also to confirm that this complex formation is independent of c-Src kinase activity, we used a modification of the yeast two-hybrid system (yeast three-hybrid). We have previously shown using a similar assay that the interaction between *B*-arrestin2 and β2-adaptin could be detected (8, 9). We expressed β-arrestin2 fused to the DNA binding domain (DBD) of GAL4 and  $\beta$ 2-adaptin fused to the activation domain (AD) of GAL4, and assessed the effect of c-Src expression on the transactivation of the auxotrophic HIS3 and the reporter lacZ genes (Fig. 3C). The expression vectors for *B*-arrestin2 and the *B*2-adaptin were cotransformed into yeast strain PJ69-4a with the empty vector p426-ADH or with the p426-ADH-c-Src mutant (c-Src-G2A, -Y416F, -Y527F). This mutant lacks the myristoylation site, to reduce its membrane association, and is mutated on tyrosines 416 and 527 to prevent tyrosine phosphorylation, and hence the activation of c-Src (21). Yeasts were transformed with the expression vector for  $\beta$ -arrestin2 alone (Fig. 3A, lane A), or with  $\beta$ 2-adaptin (lane B), c-Src (lane C) or β2-adaptin and c-Src together (lane D). Cells were serially diluted and spotted onto plates lacking leucine, tryptophan, and uracil supplemented or not with histidine (Fig. 3A, left and right panels). As shown here, the overexpression of  $\beta$ -arrestin2 and  $\beta$ 2-adaptin is sufficient to induce yeast growth on selective media lacking histidine (Fig. 3A, right panel, lane B). The expression of c-Src with both *β*-arrestin2 and *β*2adaptin promoted the faster growth of yeasts (Fig. 3A, right panel, compare lanes D and B), suggesting that c-Src stabilizes the  $\beta$ -arrestin/ $\beta$ 2-adaptin interaction. We also quantified the interaction between  $\beta$ -arrestin2 sults show that expression of c-Src with  $\beta$ -arrestin2 and B2-adaptin induced a 2- and 4-fold increase in the β-galactosidase activity as compared with yeasts expressing *β*-arrestin and *β*2-adaptin, or yeasts express-



Fig. 3. c-Src Increases the Interaction between  $\beta$ -Arrestin and  $\beta$ 2-Adaptin in Yeast

A, DNA encoding the hybrid protein *β*-arrestin2 (GAL4 DBD-Barr2) was transformed in the yeast strain PJ69-4a alone (lane A), or with the hybrid protein ß2-adaptin (GAL4 AD β2-Ad) (lane B), c-Src (lane C), or β2-adaptin and c-Src together (lane D) as described in Materials and Methods. Transformants were serially diluted (at an A<sub>600</sub> of 0.1, 0.002, 0.004, respectively) and 10 µl of cell suspension were spotted onto selective medium lacking leucine, tryptophan and uracil (-Leu/-Trp/-Ura), or lacking leucine, tryptophan, uracil and histidine (-Leu/-Trp/-Ura/-His). Protein-protein interaction was assessed for histidine complementation in presence of 2.5 mm 3-AT (A) and for  $\beta$ -galactosidase activity (B). β-Galactosidase activity is expressed as Miller units as described in Materials and Methods, and represents the mean ± SEM of three independent transformations in triplicates. C, Schematic representation of ternary complex formation between the two hybrid proteins,  $\beta$ -arrestin2 and β2-adaptin, and the bridge protein c-Src. Results show that the expression of c-Src with the two-hybrid proteins (column D) increases the  $\beta$ -galactosidase activity by 4- and 2-fold as compared with conditions when *β*-arrestin2 and c-Src (column C), or β-arrestin2 and β2-adaptin (column B) were expressed together. B2-Adaptin expression alone or with c-Src did not increase significantly the  $\beta$ -galactosidase activity as compared with conditions expressing  $\beta$ -arrestin2 and c-Src (data not shown). \*\*, P < 0.01; \*\*\*, P < 0.001 determined by one-way ANOVA, and was considered highly significant.

ing  $\beta$ -arrestin and c-Src, respectively (Fig. 3B, D vs. B and D vs. C, respectively). These results indicate that the expression of c-Src in yeast stabilizes the ternary complex containing  $\beta$ -arrestin2 and  $\beta$ 2-adaptin. As expected, we did not find that the expression of the c-Src mutant increased the tyrosine phosphorylation of total yeast protein (data not shown). Altogether, these results demonstrate that the interaction between  $\beta$ -arrestin and  $\beta$ 2-adaptin can be stabilized in the presence of c-Src, and support our previous observations that the kinase activity of c-Src is not necessary to induce the agonist-independent formation of the complex.

# The c-Src-Mediated Formation of a $\beta$ -Arrestin/ AP-2 Complex Requires an Intact $\beta$ 2-Adaptin Binding Domain on $\beta$ -Arrestin

We have previously shown that *β*2-adaptin binds directly *β*-arrestin2 through a critical arginine residue (R396) present in the C-terminal domain of  $\beta$ -arrestin (8). This region also contains a motif for the binding of clathrin (LIEF, residues 374-377) (7-9, 22). Therefore, we used different  $\beta$ -arrestin2 mutants impaired in  $\beta$ 2adaptin binding (Barr2 R396A), impaired in both clathrin and  $\beta$ 2-adaptin binding (where the hydrophobic residues of LIEF motif were substituted for alanines, Barr2-R396A,-AAEA) or a truncated form of β-arrestin2 lacking both sites (Barr2-T372), and assessed the ability of c-Src to promote the agonist-independent binding of  $\beta$ 2-adaptin to the different  $\beta$ -arrestin mutants. COS-7 cells were transfected with either Flagtagged β-arrestin2 or mutants, with or without HA-c-Src, and the amount of endogenous AP-2 in the β-arrestin immunoprecipitates was determined by Western blot analysis (Fig. 4). As previously observed and shown here, the overexpression of HA-c-Src induced the association of AP-2 with  $\beta$ -arrestin2 (Figs. 2 and 4). However, c-Src failed to promote the robust association of AP-2 to the different *β*-arrestin2 mutants as compared with wild-type  $\beta$ -arrestin2 (Fig. 4). These results demonstrate that the c-Src-induced formation of a β-arrestin/AP-2 complex requires an intact β2-adaptin binding site on β-arrestin2 C-terminal domain.

# The Kinase Activity of c-Src Is Required to Promote the Dissociation of AP-2 from $\beta$ -Arrestin2 and Agonist-Occupied AT1R

We have previously shown for some GPCRs internalizing via CCVs, such as the  $\beta$ 2AR that the recruitment of AP-2 to  $\beta$ -arrestin and to the receptor required agonist activation (9). We therefore first verified whether the agonist stimulation of AT1R could induce the recruitment of AP-2 to β-arrestin and the receptor (Fig. 5). COS-7 or human embryonic kidney (HEK) 293 cells were used to express Flag-tagged  $\beta$ -arrestin2 and wild-type AT1R, or Flag-tagged AT1R alone. Cells were serum starved and then stimulated with Ang II for different periods of time (Fig. 5, A and B, respectively). β-Arrestin2 in COS-7 cells or AT1R in HEK 293 cells was then immunoprecipitated and the amount of endogenous AP-2 in the complexes, as detected by the presence of *β*2-adaptin, was determined by Western blot analysis (Fig. 5, A and B, Iane 1-3). In unstimulated cells, little association of AP-2 to β-arrestin and AT1R was observed, consistent with what we observed for other GPCRs (9). Stimulation of receptors induced the



Fig. 4. Effect of c-Src expression on AP-2 Association with  $\beta$ -Arrestin Mutants Lacking  $\beta$ 2-Adaptin and/or Clathrin Binding Sites

A and B, COS-7 cells were transiently transfected with either Flag-B-arrestin2 or Flag-B-arrestin2-R396A, Flag-Barrestin2-R396A/AAEA, Flag-*β*-arrestin2-T372, with or without HA-c-Src. β-Arrestin2 wild type or mutants were immunoprecipitated with an anti-Flag antibody (Sigma), and the endogenous AP-2 in the immunoprecipitates was detected by Western blot using *β*2-adaptin (BD Transduction Laboratories) antibody. Whole cell extracts (Total) were blotted with anti-HA (Santa Cruz Biotechnology) antibody for c-Src detection, and with the same anti-\beta2-adaptin antibody as described above. B, Results are expressed as the fold increase association of AP-2 with  $\beta$ -arrestin2 in presence of c-Src (+) as compared with conditions where c-Src was not overexpressed (-), and represent the mean  $\pm$  SEM of at least three independent experiments. \*, P < 0.05; \*\*, P < 0.01 as compared with wild-type  $\beta$ -arrestin determined by one-way ANOVA test.

recruitment of AP-2 to both  $\beta$ -arrestin and the receptor in a time-dependent manner reaching a maximum after 5 min of agonist treatment (Fig. 5, A and B, lanes 1–3). Association of AP-2 with  $\beta$ -arrestin was transient and the complex was lost after 15 min of agonist treatment (data not shown). The time frame of AP-2 recruitment to AT1R in HEK 293 cells (Fig. 5B) was similar to that observed for the interaction between  $\beta$ -arrestin and AP-2 in COS-7 cells (Fig. 5A) or in HEK 293 cells (data not shown). Together, these results suggest that AP-2 is recruited to the same AT1R/ $\beta$ arrestin complex. Indeed, in a different set of experiments, when the agonist-occupied AT1R was immunoprecipitated, both  $\beta$ -arrestin and AP-2 were found in the same receptor complex (data not shown).

To elucidate the mechanism by which c-Src regulates the agonist-mediated formation of this endocytic complex, we next assessed the effect of overexpressing c-Src on the association of AP-2 with β-arrestin and AT1R after receptor stimulation. When c-Src was overexpressed, AP-2 was already detected in the β-arrestin immunoprecipitates in the absence of agonist treatment, and almost amounted to levels of stimulated receptors in the condition where c-Src was not overexpressed (Fig. 5A, compare lanes 3 and 4). Aqonist stimulation did not promote further recruitment of AP-2 to  $\beta$ -arrestin but instead induced the rapid dissociation of the complex, which was complete after 5 min of agonist treatment. The overexpression of c-Src also promoted a basal association of AP-2 with AT1R. Similar to the experiment with *B*-arrestin, Ang II stimulation induced the rapid dissociation of AP-2 from the receptor (Fig. 5B). AP-2 interaction with AT1R was completely lost after 5 min of Ang II stimulation. Our data indicate that c-Src overexpression promotes the rapid dissociation of AP-2 from agonist-occupied AT1R and  $\beta$ -arrestin complexes.

To determine whether the kinase activity of c-Src is involved in regulating the dissociation of AP-2 from the agonist-stimulated receptor, we overexpressed the kinase inactive c-Src-K298R and assessed the recruitment of AP-2 to the agonist-occupied AT1R. HEK 293 cells were transfected with Flag-AT1R and c-Src-K298R, and the amount of endogenous AP-2 in the receptor immunoprecipitates was determined by Western blot analysis (Fig. 5C). The overexpression of c-Src-K298R induced a basal association of AP-2 with the receptor, similar to that observed with wild-type c-Src (compare Fig. 5, C and B). However, whereas c-Src induced the rapid dissociation of AP-2 from agonist-occupied receptor (Fig. 5B), the stimulation of AT1R in cells expressing c-Src-K298R promoted both an increased and sustained association of AP-2 with the receptor. Altogether, these results indicate that the kinase activity of c-Src promotes the dissociation of AP-2 from  $\beta$ -arrestin and AT1R only when receptors are activated by the ligand.

# Depletion of c-Src Affects the Redistribution of Agonist-Bound AT1R Inside the Cell and the Dissociation of AP-2 from the Receptor and $\beta$ -Arrestin

We next examined the effect of depleting c-Src on the agonist-mediated endocytosis of AT1R using a small interfering RNA (siRNA) strategy. HEK 293 cells were



Fig. 5. c-Src Promotes the Dissociation of AP-2 from the Agonist-Occupied AT1R and β-Arrestin COS-7 cells were transfected with AT1R and Flag-β-arrestin2 with or without c-Src (A), or HEK 293 cells were transfected with Flag-AT1R with or without c-Src and c-Src-K298R (B and C). Cells were serum-starved 12 h before being stimulated with Ang II (1 μM) for the indicated time, and β-arrestin2 (A) or AT1R (B and C) were immunoprecipitated (IP) using an anti-Flag antibody (Sigma). Immunoprecipitates were analyzed by Western blot for the detection of associated endogenous AP-2 using an antibody against β2-adaptin (BD Transduction Laboratories). Whole cell extracts (Total) were also probed for the detection of c-Src using the GD11 antibody (Upstate) and endogenous AP-2 using the BD Transduction Laboratories antibody. Data represent the relative amount of β2-adaptin found in AT1R and β-arrestin2 immunoprecipitates after agonist-stimulation of receptors after normalizing for equal amounts of β2-adaptin present in total proteins, and are the mean ± sew of three independent experiments.

transfected with HA-AT1R and siRNA for human c-Src (siRNA-c-Src), and the ability of siRNAs to silence the expression of c-Src was compared with cells transfected with the receptor and either pcDNA3.1 (Mock) or siRNA for glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) (siRNA-GAPDH) (Fig. 6A). siRNA-c-Src reduced the expression of endogenous c-Src by more than 65% and 55%, respectively, compared with either mock or the nonsilencing control siRNA-GAPDH. The silencing of c-Src showed significant selectivity and did not affect the expression of  $\beta$ 2-adaptin and AT1R (Fig. 6A, and results not shown, respectively). We next investigated using confocal microscopy, the effect of siRNA-c-Src on the early events of AT1R internalization after agonist stimulation. HEK 293 cells were transfected with HA-AT1R and green fluorescent protein (GFP)-β2-adaptin as a marker of AP-2 complex (22, 23) with or without siRNA-c-Src, and cells were labeled at 14 C for receptor detection. The redistribution of labeled-AT1R and GFP-B2-adaptin was visualized after a 5 min treatment of cells with Ang II at 37 C. In the absence of agonist, AT1R was found at the plasma membrane in punctuate structures, and little colocalization of the receptor with GFP- $\beta$ 2-adaptin was observed (Fig. 6B, upper left panel). Agonist treatment of cells for 5 min induced the rapid endocytosis of labeled-AT1R from the plasma membrane into intracellular vesicles with no noticeable redistribution of β2-adaptin fluorescence. In c-Src-depleted cells and in the absence of Ang II stimulation, AT1R was found at the plasma membrane and did not colocalize with GFP- $\beta$ 2-adaptin even though qualitatively more  $\beta$ 2adaptin fluorescence was detected at the plasma membrane. After agonist stimulation of receptors for 5



Fig. 6. Depleting c-Src in Cells Affects the Agonist-Mediated Internalization of AT1R and Its Association with AP-2

A, HEK 293 cells were transiently transfected with HA-AT1R with pcDNA3.1 (Mock), siRNA-GAPDH, or siRNA-c-Src. Seventytwo hours after transfection, total cell lysates were analyzed by Western blot for the expression of endogenous c-Src using the GD11 (Upstate) and the β2-adaptin (BD Transduction Laboratories) antibodies. B, HEK 293 cells were transfected with HA-AT1R and GFP-B2-adaptin, and either pcDNA3.1 (upper panels) or siRNA-c-Src (lower panels). Cells were serum starved for 12 h before being incubated with anti-HA antibody (12CA5, Roche) and with a secondary goat antimouse antibody conjugated to AlexaFluor 568 (Molecular Probes) as described in Materials and Methods. Cells were then washed, and were either left untreated or treated with Ang II (1 μM) for 5 min at 37 C. The distribution of HA-AT1R and GFP-β2-adaptin was visualized by confocal microscopy. For each experiment, 25 different fields containing one to two cells were analyzed. Shown are representative images of receptor immunofluorescence (red) and GFP-β2-adaptin fluorescence (green) of three independent experiments. Colocalization (yellow) of GFP-β2-adaptin with the receptor is indicated by arrows. C, HEK 293 cells were transiently transfected with HA-AT1R with either pcDNA3.1 (Mock), siRNA-c-Src, or siRNA-GAPDH. Cells were serum-starved as previously described before being stimulated with Ang II (1 µM) for 5 min. AT1R was immunoprecipitated (IP) using an anti-HA antibody (Roche), and the immunoprecipitates were analyzed by Western blot for the detection of associated AP-2 using the B2-adaptin antibody (BD Transduction Laboratories). Whole cell extracts (Total) were also probed for the expression of endogenous c-Src using the GD11 (Upstate) and the β2-adaptin (BD Transduction Laboratories) antibodies. Blots are representative of two independent experiments. D, For receptor internalization, cells were transfected with AT1R alone (III) and with either siRNA-c-Src (Δ) or siRNA-GAPDH (III). Cells were incubated with [125]-Ang II (0.11 nm) at 37 C for the different period of time, and the percent of receptor internalization was calculated as described in Materials and Methods. Data are the mean ± SEM of three to five independent experiments and were analyzed using Prism4 (GraphPad 4 Software). \*, P < 0.05 siRNA-c-Src vs. AT1R alone determined by an unpaired t test.

min, AT1R was found mainly at the plasma membrane and mostly colocalized with GFP- $\beta$ 2-adaptin (Fig. 6B, *lower right panel*). The higher incidence of AT1R colocalization with  $\beta$ 2-adaptin at the plasma membrane in c-Src-depleted cells is consistent with a role of c-Src in regulating the dissociation of AP-2 from the receptor. To verify that c-Src depletion affected the dissociation of AP-2 from AT1R, we performed coimmunoprecipitation experiments on cells that were transfected using the same conditions as for the confocal experiments (Fig. 6C). Results show that in cells with reduced c-Src expression, a robust increase in the agonist-mediated association of AP-2 with the immunopurified AT1R was observed, as compared with nondepleted cells (mock) and GAPDH-depleted cells. We also assessed the effect of reducing c-Src expression on AT1R internalization by radio-ligand binding assay using <sup>125</sup>I-AngII. As shown in Fig. 6D, agonist stimulation of HEK 293 cells expressing the AT1R alone promoted the rapid internalization of receptor-ligand complex inside the cell, which reached a maximum after only 5–10 min of agonist stimulation. The nonsilencing control siRNA-GAPDH did not affect the rate or the extent to which AT1R

internalizes. However, reducing the endogenous expression of c-Src delayed receptor endocytosis, and maximal internalization was reached only after 10–15 min of Ang II stimulation (Fig. 6D). Internalization was significantly reduced in c-Src-depleted cells as compared with nondepleted cells (AT1R alone) at 2 and 5 min of receptor stimulation ( $34 \pm 3\%$  vs.  $52 \pm 2\%$ ; and  $41 \pm 2\%$  vs.  $63 \pm 4\%$ , respectively). The half-time of AT1R internalization (the time to which 50% of receptors were internalized) in c-Src-depleted cells increased 2-fold as compared with nonsilenced cells (Fig. 6D). The delay in the initial rate of AT1R internalization observed in c-Src-depleted cells suggests that c-Src is involved in the early events of receptor internalization.

To substantiate the role of c-Src in regulating the association of AP-2 with AT1R/ $\beta$ -arrestin complexes, we depleted c-Src expression in an endogenous system like the VSMCs. Cells were first treated with control antisense DNA (CTL-1) or antisense DNA for c-Src (AS-1), and the amount of c-Src expression was assessed. As shown in Fig. 7A, AS-1 selectively decreased by more than 60% the expression of c-Src, whereas the CTL-1 had no effect on the expression of the protein. We next performed coimmunoprecipita-

tion experiment to assess the effect of reducing c-Src expression on AP-2 association with endogenous  $\beta$ -arrestin after AT1R stimulation. VSMCs transfected with either AS-1 or CTL-1 were left unstimulated or stimulated with Ang II for 5 min, and the level of AP-2 (as assessed by the presence of the  $\beta$ 2-adaptin) in the  $\beta$ -arrestin immunoprecipitates was evaluated by Western blot analysis (Fig. 7B). Ang II stimulation induced a rapid association of AP-2 with  $\beta$ -arrestin. However, the extent to which AP-2 associated with  $\beta$ -arrestin was greater in c-Src-depleted VSMCs than in control cells. All together, these results support the role of c-Src in regulating the dissociation of AP-2 from AT1R and  $\beta$ -arrestin during the internalization of receptors.

# DISCUSSION

Here we show that AP-2 is recruited to  $\beta$ -arrestin and AT1R after receptor stimulation, extending previous studies that AT1R internalizes through the clathrin pathway (11–15). More importantly, we provide evidence that c-Src regulates the binding of AP-2 to



Fig. 7. Depleting c-Src in VSMCs Increases the AnglI-Mediated AP-2 Association with  $\beta$ -Arrestin

A, VSMCs cells were transfected or left untransfected (Mock) with either antisense oligonucleotides for the rat c-Src (AS-1) or control oligonucleotides (CTL-1). Thirty-six hours after transfection, total cell lysates from VSMCs were analyzed by Western blot for the expression of endogenous c-Src using the GD11 (Upstate) and  $\beta$ 2-adaptin (BD Transduction Laboratories) antibodies. B, VSMCs were transfected with oligonucleotides for 36 h in serum-free medium as described in *Materials and Methods*. Cells were then stimulated with Ang II (1  $\mu$ M) for 5 min, and  $\beta$ -arrestin was immunoprecipitated (IP) using the A1CT antibody. Proteins in the immunoprecipitated complexes were analyzed by Western blot for the detection of associated AP-2 using the  $\beta$ 2-adaptin antibody. Whole cell extracts (Total) were also probed for the detection of endogenous c-Src using the GD11 (Upstate),  $\beta$ -arrestin (A1CT) and  $\beta$ 2-adaptin antibodies. Shown in A and B are representative blots of four independent experiments. Data were quantified and presented as the relative amount of c-Src found in cells after normalizing to the total amount of  $\beta$ 2-adaptin (A), and the fold increase over basal of the associated  $\beta$ 2-adaptin with  $\beta$ -arrestin (B). \*, P < 0.05 AS-1 vs. CTL-1 as determined by one-tail paired t test.



**Fig. 8.** Proposed Model for the Role of c-Src in the Regulation of the Interaction between AP-2, AT1R, and  $\beta$ -Arrestin during Receptor Internalization

Agonist stimulation of AT1R promotes the recruitment of a ternary complex containing c-Src, AP-2 and  $\beta$ -arrestin. The complex would then be targeted to CCPs, and the presence of multiple receptor complexes in addition to the recruitment of other endocytic proteins into the CCP would trigger the internalization of the coated vesicle. During AT1R internalization, c-Src could promote the dissociation of AP-2 from the receptor/ $\beta$ -arrestin complex to allow the recycling of AP-2 for further rounds of coat formation and AT1R targeting to CCPs. AT1R, Ang II type 1 receptor; A, agonist.

 $\beta$ -arrestin and agonist-occupied AT1R. Indeed, we demonstrate that c-Src can form a stable complex with AP-2 and  $\beta$ -arrestin, and that its kinase activity is required to promote the agonist-mediated dissociation of AP-2 from both  $\beta$ -arrestin and AT1R during receptor internalization. In support of these results is our finding that depleting c-Src expression in cells increases the binding of AP-2 with the agonist-stimulated AT1R and  $\beta$ -arrestin and prevents the rapid redistribution of the agonist-bound receptor inside the cell.

The recruitment of AP-2 to  $\beta$ -arrestin is mediated by the agonist stimulation of GPCRs (9). Interestingly, c-Src overexpression was sufficient to promote the stable association between AP-2 and *B*-arrestin, and AT1R without inducing receptor endocytosis (results not shown). This effect was independent of the kinase activity of c-Src but required the presence of an intact  $\beta$ 2-adaptin binding site on  $\beta$ -arrestin. It was recently suggested, based on the crystal structure of β-arrestin, that the activation of receptors is necessary to induce favorable conformational changes in  $\beta$ -arrestin required to unveil the  $\beta$ 2-adaptin binding site in the C-terminal domain of  $\beta$ -arrestin (24). Our results suggest that c-Src binding to *β*-arrestin induces a conformational change in  $\beta$ -arrestin allowing the agonistindependent binding of AP-2 to  $\beta$ -arrestin and AT1R. Interestingly, a mutant that mimics the activated form of c-Src (c-Src-Y530F) was unable to promote the association of AP-2 to  $\beta$ -arrestin. One explanation may be that c-Src-Y530F cannot induce the appropriate conformation in  $\beta$ -arrestin to promote the binding of  $\beta$ 2-adaptin to  $\beta$ -arrestin, even though we found that c-Src-Y530F still associated with β-arrestin. Another possibility is that this c-Src mutant, because of its potentially increased kinase activity, induces the phosphorylation of protein(s) involved in the dissociation of AP-2 from  $\beta$ -arrestin, thus preventing the formation of a ternary complex. This latter possibility raises the question of what proteins c-Src is targeting? One potential candidate is the  $\beta$ -subunit of the AP-2 complex itself. It was recently reported that EGFR activation could induce the tyrosine phosphorylation of β2-adaptin (25). Whether c-Src phosphorylates β2adaptin or other endocytic proteins after AT1R stimulation, and to what extent this phosphorylation plays a role in regulating the dissociation of AP-2 from  $\beta$ arrestin and the receptor remain to be determined.

The recruitment of signaling effectors into CCPs has been shown to affect components of the clathrin coat and to regulate the efficient agonist-dependent endocytosis of receptors. The presence of c-Src into CCPs affects coat proteins such as dynamin and clathrin (17, 26). For instance, EGFR stimulation induces the c-Srcdependent phosphorylation of dynamin and clathrin, which plays a role in EGFR endocytosis (26, 27). For GPCRs such as the  $\beta$ 2AR, the agonist-dependent binding of  $\beta$ -arrestin to receptors induces the formation of a complex containing  $\beta$ -arrestin and c-Src (28). The β-arrestin-mediated recruitment of c-Src to β2AR brings the kinase in close proximity of dynamin, and regulates the function of dynamin through phosphorvlation (17). Our results suggest another function for the *β*-arrestin-mediated recruitment of c-Src. In this paradigm, the agonist stimulation of AT1R promotes the translocation of  $\beta$ -arrestin to the receptor, and the recruitment of both c-Src and AP-2 to the AT1R (Fig. 8). The binding of c-Src to  $\beta$ -arrestin and AP-2 would then stabilize the endocytic complex and allow the receptor to be efficiently targeted to the CCP. The Ang II-mediated recruitment of c-Src into the CCP would serve to regulate the dissociation of AP-2 from  $\beta$ arrestin and may phosphorylate other proteins of the coat to ensure efficient endocytosis of AT1R. In this regard, it will be of interest to examine whether the stimulation of AT1R triggers the phosphorylation of dynamin and clathrin, and to which extent these c-Srcmediated events contribute in regulating the dissociation of AP-2 from the receptor/ $\beta$ -arrestin complex, and affect the internalization of AT1R and/or other GPCRs that internalize in a *β*-arrestin- and a clathrindependent manner.

Several lines of evidence suggest that for efficient clathrin-mediated internalization, the endocytic proteins that are recruited into CCPs for initiating endocytosis must ultimately dissociate from the internalizing vesicle (29, 30). For instance, the dissociation of AP-2 from its internalized CCV is believed to be necessary to allow the recycling of the clathrin adapter for further rounds of CCP formation and receptor internalization. Thus, preventing the dissociation of AP-2 from  $\beta$ -arrestin and/or AT1R would presumably affect the internalization of receptors. In support of this is our finding that AP-2 association with AT1R and  $\beta$ -arrestin increases when c-Src expression was reduced in cells, and that under such condition the internalization of receptors was delayed. The accumulation of AP-2 to the receptor at the plasma membrane may ultimately impede the formation of subsequent CCPs, and slow down receptor internalization. Further studies will be necessary to determine the extent to which c-Src participate in the assembly and disassembly of CCPs and the internalization of other GPCRs.

In summary, our results provide a novel function for c-Src in the formation of endocytic complexes during the internalization of AT1R. They also provide another mechanism by which  $\beta$ -arrestin, through the recruitment of signaling effectors like c-Src, can regulate the internalization of receptors through the clathrin pathway.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### Materials

Ang II was purchased from Sigma (St. Louis, MO) [<sup>125</sup>I]-Ang II (1000 Ci/mmol) was obtained from Dr. Gaétan Guillemette (Université de Sherbrooke, Québec, Canada) and prepared as previously described (31). Antibodies against  $\beta$ -adaptin and  $\alpha$ -adaptin were from BD Transduction Laboratories (BD Biosciences, Palo Alto, CA), the c-Src (SRC2) and HA rabbit antibodies were from Santa Cruz Biotechnology (Santa Cruz, CA), the mouse anti-HA clone 12CA5 was from Roche Molecular Biochemicals (Indianapolis, IN), the FLAG antibody was from Sigma, and the c-Src antibody GD11 and the antiphosphotyrosine 4G10 were from Upstate Biotechnology (Lake Placid, NY). The rabbit polyclonal  $\beta$ -arrestin antibody (A1CT) was kindly provided by Dr. Marc G. Caron (Duke University, Durham, NC).

#### **Plasmids and Constructs**

The HA-tagged c-Src and the HA-tagged c-Src-Y530F mutant were a gift from Dr. William E. Miller (University of Cincinnati, Cincinnati, OH). HA-tagged c-Src-K298R mutant was generated by PCR using the full-length HA-tagged c-Src in pcDNA3. A PCR fragment was amplified using a forward primer containing the mutation coding for the substitution K298R and a BamHI restriction site, and a reverse primer overlapping the Kpnl site in c-Src. The fragment was digested with BamHI and KpnI, and replaced into c-Src cut with the same enzymes. Flag-tagged  $\beta$ -arrestin R396A, and R396A/AAEA were generated by replacing an Xhol/Xbal fragment from the rat  $\beta$ -arrestin2 wild type with a PCR product containing the mutations and the Flag sequence. The truncated Flag-tagged *β*-arrestin2 (*β*arr2-T372) was generated by PCR using a similar cassette replacement strategy to insert the Flag sequence after K372 in β-arrestin. The p426-ADH-c-Src was generated by excising the avian c-Src mutant (c-Src-G2A,-Y416F,-Y527F) from the p413-Gal1 vector (kindly provided by Dr. Serge Lemay, McGill University, Québec, Canada) with BamHI and Sall, and cloning the fragment into p426-ADH (kindly provided by Dr. Bernard Turcotte, McGill University) using the same restriction sites. Green-was described elsewhere (9). All constructs were analyzed by

DNA sequencing (Service d'analyze et de synthèse d'acides nucléiques, Université Laval, Québec, Canada).

#### **Cell Culture and Transfection**

Human embryonic kidney cells (HEK 293) were grown in Eagle's MEM (Invitrogen Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA) supplemented with 10% (vol/vol) heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum (FBS, Invitrogen Life Technologies) and gentamicin (100 µg/ml, Invitrogen Life Technologies). HEK 293 cells seeded in a 100-mm dish, at a density of  $2.5 \times 10^6$  cells/dish, were transiently transfected using a conventional calcium phosphate coprecipitation method. One to 5  $\mu$ g of DNA were mixed in a solution containing 125 mm CaCl<sub>2</sub> in HEPESbuffered saline [25 mm HEPES (pH 7.4), 140 mm NaCl, 0.75 mM Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>] for 5 min, and the mixed solution was then added to cells. Green monkey kidney cells (COS-7) were grown in DMEM (Invitrogen Life Technologies) supplemented with 10% (vol/vol) heat-inactivated FBS and gentamicin (100  $\mu$ g/ml). Transient transfections of COS-7 cells seeded in 60-mm dishes (at a density of  $1 \times 10^6$  cells/dish) were performed using Lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen Life Technologies) according to the manufacturer's recommendations using a 1:3 ratio of DNA/Lipofectamine in Opti-MEM (Invitrogen Life Technologies). Twenty-four hours post transfection, HEK 293 and COS-7 cells were serum starved for 12 h in DMEM before performing the experiments. For vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs; kindly provided by Dr. Sylvain Meloche at the Université de Montréal, Québec, Canada), cells were grown in DMEM low glucose with 10% (vol/vol) heat-inactivated calf serum (Invitrogen Life Technologies) and gentamicin (100  $\mu$ g/ml), and they were serum-starved in DMEM low glucose for 12 h before performing the experiments.

#### **Immunoprecipitation and Western Blot Experiments**

HEK 293 or COS-7 cells were left untreated or treated with Ang II (100 nm) at 37 C for the indicated period of time. After agonist stimulation, the reaction was stopped on ice by washing cells with ice-cold PBS. Cells were then solubilized in P-RIPA buffer (1 ml/100 mm dish) [20 mm Tris-HCl (pH 7.4), 150 mм NaCl, 1% Nonidet P-40 (vol/vol), 0.1% deoxycholate (wt/vol), 1 mм CaCl<sub>2</sub>] containing 0.1 mм sodium orthovanadate, 1 mm phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride, 25  $\mu$ g/ml leupeptine, 25  $\mu$ g/ml aprotinin, and 1 mm pepstatin A for 30 min at 4 C. Cell lysates were centrifuged for 30 min at 21,000 imes g and the supernatants were incubated with anti-Flag (30  $\mu$ g/ ml, Sigma) or c-Src antibody (3 µg/ml, clone GD11, Upstate) with 20 µl of a 50% slurry mixture of protein A/G Sepharose beads for 2 h at 4 C. Beads were washed three times with P-RIPA, and denatured in Laemmli buffer (2×) [250 mM Tris-HCI (pH 6.8), 2% sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) (wt/vol), 10% glycerol (vol/vol), 0.01% Bromophenol Blue (wt/vol), 5%  $\beta$ -mercaptoethanol (vol/vol)]. Proteins were separated on a 10% SDS-PAGE before being transferred onto nitrocellulose membranes (Amersham Biosciences, Arlington Heights, IL). Membranes were then blocked with a solution of PBS (pH 7.4) containing 0.05% Tween 20 (vol/vol) (PBS-T) supplemented with 10% skin milk (wt/vol). Protein detection on membranes was assessed using either anti-c-Src antibody (1 µg/ml, clone GD11; or 0.2 µg/ml, SRC2), Flag antibody (2.5  $\mu$ g/ml), HA antibody (0.2  $\mu$ g/ml), phosphotyrosine antibody (0.2  $\mu$ g/ml, clone 4G10),  $\beta$ 2-adaptin antibody (0.2  $\mu$ g/ml,  $\beta$ -adaptin),  $\alpha$ -adaptin antibody (0.25  $\mu$ g/ml),  $\beta$ -arrestin antibody (diluted 1/5,000; A1CT) in PBS-T containing 1% BSA (fraction V; Sigma) (wt/vol) and 1% skin milk (wt/vol). After 1 h incubation with the different primary antibodies, membranes were washed three times in PBS-T before being incubated at room temperature with horseradish peroxidase-conjugated goat antimouse antibody (diluted 1/10,000; Sigma), or horseradish peroxidase-goat antirabbit antibody (diluted 1/10,000; Sigma) for 30 min. Immunoreactivity was visualized by enhanced chemiluminescence according to the manufacturer's instructions (SuperSignal, Pierce, Rockford, IL).

#### Immunofluorescence Experiments

HEK 293 cells were grown on 22-mm<sup>2</sup> coverslips in six-well plates (250,000 cells/well), and transfected with GFP-B2adaptin (0.5  $\mu$ g) and HA-ATIR (1.5  $\mu$ g). For ATIR immuno-detection, cells were preincubated for 1 h at 14 C with a mouse anti-HA antibody (20 µg/ml, 12CA5), followed by incubation at 14 C for 1 h with a secondary goat antimouse antibody conjugated to AlexaFluor 568 (8 µg/ml, Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR). Labeled cells were stimulated at 37 C with 100 nm Ang II for 5 min, and fixed for 15 min at room temperature with a solution of 4% paraformaldehyde (wt/vol) in PBS. Coverslips were mounted with GelTol Aqueous Mounting Medium (IMMUNON, Thermo Shandon, Pittsburgh, PA). Confocal images of labeled cells were acquired with a Zeiss LSM-510 META laser-scanning microscope (Carl Zeiss, Jena, Germany) using a 60× oil immersion lens. GFP-β2adaptin and AlexaFluor 568-labeled receptor fluorescence was visualized using the multitrack mode with dual laser excitation (488 and 543 nm), and emission (BP 505-520 for GFP, and LP 560 for AlexaFluor 568) filter sets. Final figures were collated using Adobe Photoshop 7.0 and Illustrator 10.0 (Adobe, San Jose, CA).

#### **Three-Hybrid Assay**

Yeast two-hybrid MatchMaker System 2 (CLONTECH, BD Biosciences), was used with minor modifications to create a three-hybrid assay that allowed the detection of a ternary complex between *β*-arrestin2, *β*2-adaptin and c-Src. Constructs for GAL4-DBD  $\beta$ -arrestin2 in pAS2-1 and GAL4-AD  $\beta$ 2-adaptin in pACT-2 were described elsewhere (9). PAS2-1-β-arrestin2 and pACT-2-β2-adaptin vectors were cotransformed with the empty vector p426-ADH or the p426-ADH-c-Src into the yeast strain PJ69-4a using the poly(ethylene-glycol) (PEG)/lithium acetate method (CLON-TECH). Yeast colonies were grown on medium lacking tryptophan, leucine, and uracil for the selection of transformants expressing the bait vector (pAS2-1-\beta-arrestin2), the prey vectors (pACT-2 or pACT-2-\u00b32-adaptin), and the bridge vector with or without c-Src (p426-ADH-c-Src or p426-ADH). Protein-protein interaction was assessed using the HIS3 auxotrophic complementation, and a lacZ reporter assay. For the  $\beta$ -galactosidase assay, three colonies of each transformation were selected and grown on yeast extract peptone dextrose (YPD) medium at 30 C overnight. The next day, the yeast cultures were diluted to an  $A_{600}$  of 0.2 in synthetic dropout medium lacking tryptophan, leucine, and uracil, and grown for another 7 h at 30 C. Cultures were serially diluted at an  $A_{600}$  of 0.1, 0.002, and 0.004, and 10  $\mu$ l of cell suspension were spotted onto medium lacking leucine, tryptophan, and uracil (-Leu/-Trp/-Ura) for selection of yeasts expressing the bait, the prey and the bridge vector, respectively, and selected onto medium lacking leucine, tryptophan, uracil, and histidine (-Leu/-Trp/-Ura/-His) for the detection of interactions between  $\beta$ -arrestin2 and  $\beta$ 2-adaptin. Histidine complementation was assessed in presence of 2.5 mm 3-amino-1,2,4-triazole (3-AT, Sigma). β-Galactosidase activity was measured using the ONPG assay (O-nitrophenyl  $\beta\text{-}D\text{-}galactopyranoside, CLONTECH). Briefly, yeasts were grown$ on a selective medium to an  $A_{600}$  of 0.8–1.2, and cells from a 2-ml culture were collected by centrifugation. Pelleted cells were washed with cold Z-buffer (60 mм Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, 40 mм NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, 100 mm KCl, 1 mm MgSO<sub>4</sub>, and 30 mm β-mercaptoethanol, at pH 7.0), and vigorously resuspended in 800  $\mu l$  of Z-buffer containing 0.1% SDS (wt/vol) and 0.5% CHCl<sub>3</sub> (vol/ vol). Colorimetric reaction was started at 30 C by adding 160  $\mu I$  of ONPG (4 mg/ml) to permeabilized cells. The reaction was stopped with 400  $\mu l$  of Na2CO3 (1 M) when yellow coloration started to appear. The activity was measured at  $A_{420}$  and Miller units were calculated from the equation [Units =  $1000 \times (A_{420}/$  volume of cells assayed  $\times$  time of run  $\times A_{600}$ ].

#### **SiRNA and Antisense Experiments**

All double-stranded siRNAs were synthesized using the Silencer siRNA kit (Ambion, Austin, TX) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Twenty-one-oligomer corresponding to the sense and antisense sequences of the human c-Src mRNA were screened for unique sequence in the National Center for Biotechnology Information database by using the basic local alignment and search tool algorithm (accession no. BC011566). The target mRNA identified for c-Src is 5'-AAG CAC UAC AAG AUC CGC AAG-3', and corresponded to the position 607–628 (relative to the start codon) of c-Src. An extension that corresponded to the T7 promoter primer sequence (5'-CCT GTC TCT-3') was added at the 3' end of the sense and antisense sequence. Control siRNA sense and antisense oligonucleotides for GAPDH were provided in the kit.

For AT1R immunoprecipitation experiments, HEK 293 cells were seeded at a density of 400,000 cells/well in six-well plates, and transfected with Lipofectamine 2000. Briefly, pcDNA3.1 encoding the HA-AT1R (0.375 µg/well) was added with pcDNA3.1 (0.375 µg/well), siRNA-GAPDH (0.375 µg/well) or siRNA-c-Src (0.375 µg/well) and mixed with Lipofectamine 2000 (using a ratio of DNA/Lipofectamine of 1:2) in Opti-MEM. Complexes of DNA/Lipofectamine were added to cells in MEM without serum, and transfection was carried out for 12 h. The next day, media was replaced with complete MEM medium supplemented with 10% FBS (vol/vol) and gentamicin (100 µg/ml).

For immunofluorescence experiments, cells were seeded in six-well plates, at a density of 300,000 cells/well, and transfected with HA-AT1R (0.25  $\mu$ g/well) and GFP- $\beta$ 2-adaptin (0.125  $\mu$ g/well) with or without siRNA-c-Src (0.375  $\mu$ g/ well) using the same DNA/Lipofectamine ratio as described above.

For AT1R internalization experiments, HEK 293 cells were seeded at a density of 70,000 cells/well in 24-well plates, and transfected with Lipofectamine 2000 as described above using the same DNA/Lipofectamine ratio. Briefly, pcDNA3.1 encoding the HA-AT1R (0.125  $\mu$ g/well) was added with pcDNA3.1 (0.5  $\mu$ g/well), siRNA-GAPDH (0.5  $\mu$ g/well) or siRNA-c-Src (0.5  $\mu$ g/well) and mixed with Lipofectamine 2000 in Opti-MEM. Transfection was carried out for 12 h before replacing the medium with complete MEM supplemented with 10% FBS (vol/vol) and gentamicin (100  $\mu$ g/ml) and performing the experiment 72 h post transfection.

For experiments depleting c-Src in VSMCs, an antisense oligonucleotide strategy was used. Control scramble phosphorothioate (CTL-1, 5'-GTC TTA GCC GGG ATC CGC TA-3') and antisense oligonucleotides complementary to the sequence of the rat c-Src mRNA (AS-1, 5'-TT GCT CTT GTT GCT GCC CAT-3', accession number NM\_031977) were designed and synthesized by Alpha DNA (Montreal, Québec, Canada). VSMCs were seeded at a density of  $2 \times 10^6$  cells in 10-cm dishes and transfected with antisense DNAs using Lipofectamine 2000 as described previously. Briefly, c-Src AS-1 (1.2-6.0 µg, representing a final concentration of 50-250 nм in 4 ml) or CTL-1 (1.2–2.4 µg; 50–100 nм in 4 ml) were mixed using a ratio of oligonucleotide/Lipofectamine of 1:2 in Opti-MEM. Complexes were added to cells in DMEM (Invitrogen Life Technologies) without serum and transfection was carried out for 36 h before performing the experiments.

#### Internalization Assay

Receptor internalization was performed as described previously with minor modifications (31). Briefly, HEK 293 cells

seeded in 24-well plates were transfected with HA-AT1R with or without siRNAs. Thirty-six hours post transfection cells were incubated at 37 C in DMEM containing 20 mm HEPES (pH 7.4), 0.1 mg/ml Bacitracin (Sigma) and 0.2% BSA (wt/vol), in presence of 0.11 nm of [1251]-Ang II for the indicated period of time. Incubation was stopped on ice by rapidly washing the cells three times with either ice-cold PBS to remove the unbound Ang II or ice-cold acid buffer [0.2 N acetic acid (pH 3.5), 150 mm NaCl] to remove both the unbound and the cell surface receptor-bound agonist. Cells were then solubilized in 0.5N NaOH, 0.05% SDS (wt/vol), and the radioligand content was evaluated by y-counting. Percent of receptor internalization was calculated from the ratio of acid-resistant binding over total binding (PBS wash). Data were analyzed by nonlinear regression using Prism4 (GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA).

#### **Data Analysis**

Intensity of the signals from Western blots was determined by densitometric analysis using Alpha Innotech Fluorochem imaging system (Packard Canberra, Montréal, Québec, Canada) and was represented as the mean  $\pm$  SEM of at least three independent experiments. For densitometry analysis of Western blot and  $\beta$ -galactosidase assay, data were analyzed statistically by one-way ANOVA followed by a Bonferroni posttest for multiple comparisons, or by one-tail *t* test for single comparison. Means were considered significantly different when *P* values were at least below 0.05.

#### Acknowledgments

We thank Drs. Stephen Ferguson and Audrey Claing for helpful discussion and comments. We are also grateful to the Claing lab for providing help with the siRNA.

Received June 16, 2004. Accepted October 15, 2004.

Address all correspondence and requests for reprints to: Dr. Stéphane Laporte, Department of Medicine, McGill University, Royal Victoria Hospital, 687 Pine Avenue West, Montréal, Québec, Canada H3A 1A1. E-mail: stephane. laporte@mcgill.ca.

This work was supported by a Canadian Institutes of Health Research Grant (MOP-49447) (to S.A.L.). M.S. holds a Fonds de Recherche en Santé du Quebec (FRSQ) fellowship. S.A.L is a recipient of a Canada Research Chair in Molecular Endocrinology.

### REFERENCES

- Lefkowitz RJ 1998 G protein-coupled receptors. III. New roles for receptor kinases and β-arrestins in receptor signaling and desensitization. J Biol Chem 273: 18677–18680
- 2. Ferguson SS 2001 Evolving concepts in G proteincoupled receptor endocytosis: the role in receptor desensitization and signaling. Pharmacol Rev 53:1-24
- Krupnick JG, Benovic JL 1998 The role of receptor kinases and arrestins in G protein-coupled receptor regulation. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 38:289–319
- Claing A, Laporte SA, Caron MG, Lefkowitz RJ 2002 Endocytosis of G protein-coupled receptors: roles of G protein-coupled receptor kinases and β-arrestin proteins. Prog Neurobiol 66:61–79
- Kohout TA, Lin FS, Perry SJ, Conner DA, Lefkowitz RJ 2001 β-Arrestin 1 and 2 differentially regulate heptaheli-

cal receptor signaling and trafficking. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 98:1601-1606

- Ahn S, Nelson CD, Garrison TR, Miller WE, Lefkowitz RJ 2003 Desensitization, internalization, and signaling functions of β-arrestins demonstrated by RNA interference. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 100:1740–1744
- Krupnick JG, Goodman Jr OB, Keen JH, Benovic JL 1997 Arrestin/clathrin interaction. Localization of the clathrin binding domain of nonvisual arrestins to the carboxy terminus. J Biol Chem 272:15011–15016
- Laporte SA, Miller WE, Kim KM, Caron MG 2002 β-Arrestin/AP-2 interaction in G protein-coupled receptor internalization: identification of a β-arrestin binging site in β 2-adaptin. J Biol Chem 277:9247–9254
- Laporte SA, Oakley RH, Zhang J, Holt JA, Ferguson SS, Caron MG, Barak LS 1999 The β2-adrenergic receptor/ βarrestin complex recruits the clathrin adaptor AP-2 during endocytosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 96:3712–3717
- Kim YM, Benovic JL 2002 Differential roles of arrestin-2 interaction with clathrin and adaptor protein 2 in G protein-coupled receptor trafficking. J Biol Chem 277: 30760–30768
- Bianchi C, Gutkowska J, De Lean A, Ballak M, Anand-Srivastava MB, Genest J, Cantin M 1986 Fate of [<sup>125</sup>I]angiotensin II in adrenal zona glomerulosa cells. Endocrinology 118:2605–2607
- Gaborik Z, Szaszak M, Szidonya L, Balla B, Paku S, Catt KJ, Clark AJ, Hunyady L 2001 β-Arrestin- and dynamindependent endocytosis of the AT1 angiotensin receptor. Mol Pharmacol 59:239–247
- Hein L, Meinel L, Pratt RE, Dzau VJ, Kobilka BK 1997 Intracellular trafficking of angiotensin II and its AT1 and AT2 receptors: evidence for selective sorting of receptor and ligand. Mol Endocrinol 11:1266–1277
- Anderson KM, Murahashi T, Dostal DE, Peach MJ 1993 Morphological and biochemical analysis of angiotensin II internalization in cultured rat aortic smooth muscle cells. Am J Physiol 264:C179–C188
- Anborgh PH, Seachrist JL, Dale LB, Ferguson SS 2000 Receptor/β-arrestin complex formation and the differential trafficking and resensitization of β2-adrenergic and angiotensin II type 1A receptors. Mol Endocrinol 14: 2040–2053
- Luttrell LM, Lefkowitz RJ 2002 The role of β-arrestins in the termination and transduction of G-protein-coupled receptor signals. J Cell Sci 115:455–465
- Ahn S, Maudsley S, Luttrell LM, Lefkowitz RJ, Daaka Y 1999 Src-mediated tyrosine phosphorylation of dynamin is required for β2-adrenergic receptor internalization and mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling. J Biol Chem 274:1185–1188
- DeFea KA, Vaughn ZD, O'Bryan EM, Nishijima D, Dery O, Bunnett NW 2000 The proliferative and antiapoptotic effects of substance P are facilitated by formation of a β-arrestin-dependent scaffolding complex. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 97:11086–11091
- 19. Barlic J, Andrews JD, Kelvin AA, Bosinger SE, DeVries ME, Xu L, Dobransky T, Feldman RD, Ferguson SS, Kelvin DJ 2000 Regulation of tyrosine kinase activation and granule release through  $\beta$ -arrestin by CXCRI. Nat Immunol 1:227–233
- Miller WE, Maudsley S, Ahn S, Khan KD, Luttrell LM, Lefkowitz RJ 2000 β-Arrestin1 interacts with the catalytic domain of the tyrosine kinase c-SRC. Role of β-arrestin1-dependent targeting of c-SRC in receptor endocytosis. J Biol Chem 275:11312–11319
- Keegan K, Cooper JA 1996 Use of the two hybrid system to detect the association of the protein-tyrosine-phosphatase, SHPTP2, with another SH2-containing protein, Grb7. Oncogene 12:1537–1544
- 22. Laporte SA, Oakley RH, Holt JA, Barak LS, Caron MG 2000 The interaction of  $\beta$ -arrestin with the AP-2 adaptor

is required for the clustering of  $\beta$  2-adrenergic receptor into clathrin-coated pits. J Biol Chem 275:23120–23126

- Rappoport JZ, Taha BW, Lemeer S, Benmerah A, Simon SM 2003 The AP-2 complex is excluded from the dynamic population of plasma membrane-associated clathrin. J Biol Chem 278:47357–47360
- 24. Han M, Gurevich VV, Vishnivetskiy SA, Sigler PB, Schubert C 2001 Crystal structure of  $\beta$ -arrestin at 1.9 A: possible mechanism of receptor binding and membrane translocation. Structure (Camb) 9:869–880
- 25. Huang F, Jiang X, Sorkin A 2003 Tyrosine phosphorylation of the β2 subunit of clathrin adaptor complex AP-2 reveals the role of a di-leucine motif in the epidermal growth factor receptor trafficking. J Biol Chem 278: 43411–43417
- Wilde A, Beattie EC, Lem L, Riethof DA, Liu SH, Mobley WC, Soriano P, Brodsky FM 1999 EGF receptor signaling stimulates SRC kinase phosphorylation of clathrin, influencing clathrin redistribution and EGF uptake. Cell 96: 677–687

- Ahn S, Kim J, Lucaveche CL, Reedy MC, Luttrell LM, Lefkowitz RJ, Daaka Y 2002 Src-dependent tyrosine phosphorylation regulates dynamin self-assembly and ligand-induced endocytosis of the epidermal growth factor receptor. J Biol Chem 277:26642–26651
- Luttrell LM, Ferguson SS, Daaka Y, Miller WE, Maudsley S, Della Rocca GJ, Lin F, Kawakatsu H, Owada K, Luttrell DK, Caron MG, Lefkowitz RJ 1999 β-Arrestin-dependent formation of β2 adrenergic receptor-Src protein kinase complexes. Science 283:655–661
- 29. Rappoport J, Simon S, Benmerah A 2004 Understanding living clathrin-coated pits. Traffic 5:327–337
- Smythe E 2002 Regulating the clathrin-coated vesicle cycle by AP2 subunit phosphorylation. Trends Cell Biol 12:352–354
- 31. Laporte SA, Servant G, Richard DE, Escher E, Guillemette G, Leduc R 1996 The tyrosine within the NPXnY motif of the human angiotensin II type 1 receptor is involved in mediating signal transduction but is not essential for internalization. Mol Pharmacol 49:89–95



Molecular Endocrinology is published monthly by The Endocrine Society (http://www.endo-society.org), the foremost professional society serving the endocrine community.